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PART |
Forward-Looking Statements

Portions of the narrative set forth in this docuirtbat are not statements of historical or curfaats are
forward-looking statements. Our actual future perfance may materially differ from that contemplabgdthe
forward-looking statements as a result of a varndtfactors. These factors include, in additiontitose mentioned
elsewhere herein:

« The global and domestic economies, including theetainties related to the impact of the currenbgl
economic crisis

« The condition of the markets in which we serve, thbedefined geographically or by segment, with the
major market segments being telecommunicationsantputer, data storage, aerospace and defense,
automotive electronics, industrial components, iappk and medica

« Changes in product mix and the financial conditibicustomers
» Actual sales, operating rates and margins for ga 2009

« Our success in developing and introducing new prtsdand new product ramp-up rates, especiallyan th
media market

« Our success in passing through the costs of rawmat to customers or otherwise mitigating flutitug
prices for those materials, including the impadiiwdtuating prices on inventory value

» Our success in integrating newly acquired busiregsaeluding the recent acquisition of the asséfBechni-
Met, Inc.;

« Our success in implementing our strategic plansthadimely and successful completion of any cépita
projects;

« The availability of adequate lines of credit ane #ssociated interest rat

 Other financial factors, including cost and availgbof raw materials (both base and precious rs@tdax
rates, exchange rates, interest rates, metal fingufees, pension costs and required cash conwitsiand
other employee benefit costs, energy costs, regylabmpliance costs, the cost and availabilitinetirance
and the impact of the Compé’'s stock price on the cost of incentive and defecdpensation plan

* The uncertainties related to the impact of war @nibrist activities

< Changes in government regulatory requirements lam@énactment of new legislation that impacts our
obligations and operation

« The conclusion of pending litigation matters in@cance with our expectation that there will benmaterial
adverse effects, ar

* The risk factors set forth elsewhere in Part IimliteA of thisForm 1(-K.

Item 1. BUSINESS

Brush Engineered Materials Inc., through its whollyned subsidiaries, is a manufacturer of highgrerénce
advanced enabling engineered materials servinglthl telecommunications and computer, data s&rag
aerospace and defense, automotive electronicsstimaicomponents, appliance and medical marketofA
December 31, 2008, we had 2,235 employees.

Our businesses are organized under four reporsaigiments: Advanced Material Technologies and Sesvic
(AMTS), Specialty Engineered Alloys (SEA), Beryltiuand Beryllium Composites and Engineered Material
Systems. AMTS consists of Williams Advanced Matsrlac. (WAM). SEA consists of Alloy Products, whic
includes bulk and strip form products, and beryilibydroxide produced by Brush Resources Inc. (BRig
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Beryllium and Beryllium Composites segment congigtBeryllium Products and Brush Ceramic Produots |
while the Engineered Material Systems segment stmef Technical Materials, Inc. (TMI).

Our parent company, Brush Engineered Materials bnma other corporate expenses, as well as thetimgr
results from BEM Services, Inc., Zentrix Technobsgyinc. (Zentrix) and Circuits Processing Technpldgc.
(CPT), all wholly owned subsidiaries, are not pdrany segment and remain in All Other. BEM Sersjdac.
charges a management fee for the services it preyjatimarily corporate, administrative and finahaversight, to
our other businesses on a cost-plus basis. Zenaiufactures electronic packages and other compof@rsale to
the telecommunications and computer and autometaetronics markets, and CPT manufactured circéory
defense and commercial applications. CPT was sd\diarch of 2007. Corporate employees not coverguhesof a
reportable segment, including employees of BEM 8esy Inc. and Zentrix, totaled 149 as of Decenigr2008.

Our website address is www.beminc.comformation contained on our website does nostitiute part of this
Form 10-K. We make available, free of charge thioagr website, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, tgrdy
reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Foif) 8 well as amendments to those reports, asaoon
reasonably practicable after we file such repoitl,ver furnish such reports to, the Securities Brdhange
Commission.

ADVANCED MATERIAL TECHNOLOGIES AND SERVICES

AMTS is comprised of WAM. Sales for this segmentev$466.4 million or 51% of total sales in 2008,
$519.9 million or 54% of total sales in 2007 and %3 million or 45% of total sales in 2006. As ofd@mber 31,
2008, AMTS had 743 employees.

AMTS manufactures and fabricates precious, nonipuscand specialty metal products for the dataager
medical and the wireless, photonics, semicondwtdrhybrid segments of the microelectronics mak®iTS also
has refining capabilities for the reclaim of pregand non-precious metals from internally or cugtiegenerated
scrap. In addition, AMTS provides chamber servioests customers to reclaim precious metals affatlésh
reusable components used in its customers’ vagmgition systems. AMTS’ major product lines includgor
deposition targets, clad and precious metals prefphigh temperature braze materials, ultra fime ygealing lids
for the semiconductor/hybrid markets and specialbyganic materials. In February 2008, AMTS puraththe
assets of Techni-Met, Inc. based in Windsor, Coticigts which supplies a wide range of high end aggpions for
advanced technology industries, including suppgrtiawnstream customers in developing more accdiatgostic
devices for diabetes management.

AMTS’ products are sold directly from its faciliién Buffalo, New York; Brewster, New York; Wheatii,
New York; Buellton, California; Milwaukee, WiscomsiWindsor, Connecticut; Santa Clara, Californrajdnd;
Singapore; Taiwan; Japan; Korea; the Philippindsn&and the Czech Republic, as well as througéctsales
offices and independent sales representativesghout the world. Principal competition includes qamies such
Sumitomo Metals, Heraeus Inc., Praxair, Inc., HovalInternational Inc., Solar Applied Materialschmology
Corp. and a number of smaller regional and natisappliers.

Advanced Material Technologies and Services — Salasd Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for AMTS as of Delger 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $31.0 million,
$23.8 million and $28.7 million, respectively. Bémi is generally represented by purchase ordetsnbg be
terminated under certain conditions. We expectshbastantially all of our backlog of orders forstlsiegment at
December 31, 2008 will be filled during 2009.

Sales are made to over 2,800 customers. Goverrsalad, principally subcontracts, accounted for leas 1%
of the sales volume in 2008, 2007 and 2006. Salesde the United States, principally to Europe Asi,
accounted for approximately 24% of sales in 20085 ®f sales in 2007 and 18% of sales in 2006. Gtbgment
reporting and geographic information is containetlote M of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statetsiewhich
can be found in Part I, Item 8 of this Form 104kdawvhich is incorporated herein by reference.
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Advanced Material Technologies and Service— Research and Developmer

Active research and development programs seek nesiupt compositions and designs as well as process
innovations. Expenditures for research and devetopirfor AMTS amounted to $2.4 million in 2008, $in@lion in
2007 and $0.4 million in 2006. A staff of 19 scist#, engineers and technicians was employed srefffiort as of
yearend 2008.

SPECIALTY ENGINEERED ALLOYS

SEA sells strip products, bulk products and basgilihydroxide (BRI). Sales for this segment were
$299.9 million or 33% of total sales in 2008, $2PMillion or 30% of total sales in 2007 and $27&illion, or 36%
of total sales in 2006. As of December 31, 20083 8&d 893 employees.

SEA manufactures beryllium-containing and othehipgrformance-based materials including copperahick
tin alloys that are metallurgically tailored to mepecific customer performance requirements. Thesaucts
exhibit high electrical and thermal conductivitibggh strength and hardness, good formability,itity; and
excellent resistance to corrosion, wear and fatighese alloys, sold in strip and bulk form, areaidchoices for
demanding applications in the telecommunicatiords@mputer, aerospace, industrial components (iveduoil
and gas, heavy equipment and plastic mold tookmgl) appliance markets. These products are sold stimaky
through SEA and independent distribution centedsiaternationally through Company-owned and indejeen
distribution centers and independent sales reptatbess.

SEA'’s primary direct competitor in strip form bdiym alloys is NGK Insulators, Ltd. of Nagoya, Japwith
subsidiaries in the United States and Europe. SE&\@mpetes with alloy systems manufactured byp&l8rass
and Copper, Inc., Wieland Electric, Inc., Stolbergetallwverke GmbH, Nippon Mining, PMX Industridec. and
also with other generally less expensive materiatduding phosphor bronze, stainless steel andratpecialty
copper and nickel alloys which are produced byr&étaof companies around the world. In the arebuk product
(bar, plate, tube and rod), in addition to NGK liasors, SEA competes with several smaller regipnatlucers such
as Freedom Alloys in the United States, LaBronziustriel in Europe and Young Il in Asia.

SEA, through BRI, manages our mine and milling afiens. The milling operations produce beryllium
hydroxide from mined bertrandite ore and purchdsagl ore. The beryllium hydroxide is used primagk a raw
material input by the other businesses within then@any. BRI also sells beryllium hydroxide exteinéd SEA’s
primary competitor in beryllium alloys, NGK Insutas, Ltd.

Specialty Engineered Alloys — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for SEA as of Ddmam31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $55.5 million,
$71.5 million and $62.1 million, respectively. Béami is generally represented by purchase ordetsnbg be
terminated under certain conditions. We expectshbastantially all the backlog of orders for theégsent as of
December 31, 2008 will be filled during 2009.

Sales are made to over 2,200 customers. SEA hgdvernment sales in 2008, and such sales, pritgipal
subcontracts, were less than 1% of segment saR30in and 2006. Sales outside the United Statessijpally to
Europe and Asia, accounted for approximately 57%atds in 2008 and 55% of sales in 2007 and 200&rO
segment reporting and geographic information igaiord in Note M of Notes to Consolidated FinanStdtement
which can be found in Part Il, Item 8 of this Fot@K and which is incorporated herein by reference.

Specialty Engineered Alloys — Research and Develomnt

Active research and development programs seek nesiupt compositions and designs as well as process
innovations. Expenditures for research and devedgpirmamounted to $2.3 million in 2008, $1.9 millior2007 and
$2.1 million in 2006. A staff of eight scientisengineers and technicians was employed in thisteffoof year-end
2008.
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BERYLLIUM AND BERYLLIUM COMPOSITES

Beryllium and Beryllium Composites includes Bemyiti Products and Brush Ceramic Products Inc. Sates f
this segment were $63.6 million or 7% of total sale2008, $60.5 million or 6% of total sales ir0ZGand
$57.6 million or 8% of total sales in 2006. As oéd@mber 31, 2008, Beryllium and Beryllium Compashad
272 employees.

Beryllium and Beryllium Composites manufacturesdurets that include beryllium and AlIBeM&t Beryllium
is a lightweight metal possessing unique mechawicdlthermal properties. Its specific stiffnessiisch greater the
other engineered structural materials such as alumj titanium and steel. Beryllium is extractedirboth
bertrandite ore, which is mined by the Company, iamgbrted beryl ore. In June 2008, we announcetiBhash
Wellman Inc. had entered into an agreement wittDiapartment of Defense to construct a $90.4 milpdamary
beryllium facility. This facility will produce prirary beryllium, the feedstock material used to poaderyllium
metal products. Construction of this facility isgated for completion in 2010. Beryllium producte ased in a
variety of high performance applications in theahsie, space, industrial, scientific equipment,tedes (including
acoustics), medical, automotive electronics anécapscanning markets. Beryllium-containing produate sold
throughout the world through a direct sales orgation and through Company-owned and independetrifdifon
centers. While Beryllium and Beryllium Compositeshie only domestic producer of metallic berylliutrgompete:
with other fabricators as well as with designsizitig other materials.

Beryllium and Beryllium Composites also manufacsuperyllia ceramics for electronic packaging areteb-
optical applications including lasers. Electroniecrponents utilizing beryllia are used in the telaomunications,
medical, industrial, automotive and defense markeisse products are distributed through direessahd
independent sales agents. Direct competitors iechAmderican Beryllia Inc. and CBL Ceramics Limited.

Beryllium and Beryllium Composites — Sales and Badkg

The backlog of unshipped orders for Beryllium arety#ium Composites as of December 31, 2008, 200 a
2006 was $28.7 million, $23.9 million and $18.4lioil, respectively. Backlog is generally represdrg purchase
orders that may be terminated under certain canditiWe expect that substantially all of our bagldéorders for
this segment at December 31, 2008 will be filledry2009.

Sales are made to over 300 customers. Governmlest paincipally subcontracts, accounted for lbsst1%
of Beryllium and Beryllium Composites’ sales in 30@nd 1% of segment sales in 2007 and 2006. Sats&le the
United States, principally to Europe and Asia, acted for approximately 23% of sales in 2008, 16%ades in
2007 and 29% of sales in 2006. Other segment liegaxhd geographic information is contained in Ndtef Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements, which cafobed in Part I, Item 8 of this Form 10-K and whiis
incorporated herein by reference.

Beryllium and Beryllium Composites — Research and Bvelopment

Active research and development programs seek nesiupt compositions and designs as well as process
innovations. Expenditures for research and devedspirmamounted to $1.3 million in 2008, $1.0 millior2007 and
$1.1 million in 2006. A staff of eight scientisengineers and technicians was employed in thisteffoof year-end
2008. Some research and development projects, ditpags for which are not material, were externajipnsored
and funded.

ENGINEERED MATERIAL SYSTEMS

Engineered Material Systems is comprised of TMleS#éor this segment were $65.9 million or 7% déato
sales in 2008, $70.9 million or 7% of total sale2007 and $68.7 million or 9% of total sales iIO&0As of
December 31, 2008, Engineered Material Systemd i8dmployees.

Engineered Material Systems manufactures engineeaterial systems, which include clad inlay andrlaye
metals, precious and base metal electroplatedragstdectron beam welded systems, contour praystems and
solder-coated metals systems. These products edeiuselecommunications and computer systems,slatage,
automotive electronics, semi-conductors, energigrd® and medical applications. Engineered Mat8gatems’
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products are sold directly and through its salpsa®entatives. Engineered Material Systems hatelihciompetition
in the United States and several European manuéstare competitors for the sale of inlay strip.

Engineered Material Systems — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Engineered N&t8ystems as of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2@
$7.6 million, $12.2 million and $16.1 million, resgtively. Backlog is generally represented by pasehorders that
may be terminated under certain conditions. We edgbat substantially all of our backlog of ordéosthis segmer
at December 31, 2008 will be filled during 2009.

Sales are made to approximately 200 customersnEamgd Material Systems did not have any saldseto t
government for 2008, 2007 or 2006. Sales outsideJthited States, principally to Europe and Asizoaated for
approximately 17% of Engineered Material Systeragsin 2008, 12% of sales in 2007 and 9% of $al2806.
Other segment reporting and geographic informataontained in Note M of Notes to Consolidatedalficial
Statements, which can be found in Part Il, Itenf $his Form 10-K and which is incorporated hereynréference.

Engineered Material Systems — Research and Develogmt

Active research and development programs seek nesiupt compositions and designs as well as process
innovations. Expenditures for research and devedopirfor Engineered Material Systems were nhomina0is,
2007 and 2006.

GENERAL
Availability of Raw Materials

The principal raw materials we use are berylliuntrgected from both imported beryl ore and bertrémndre
mined from our Utah properties), copper, gold,esihnickel, platinum, palladium, aluminum and rutiven. A new
bertrandite pit has been developed at our Utah siteeand we began extracting ore in early 2008.@®serve data
can be found in Part Il, Iltem 7 of this Form 109He availability of these raw materials, as welbdger materials
used by us, is adequate and generally not dependearty one supplier.

Patents and Licenses

We own patents, patent applications and licendesirg to certain of our products and processesla\ur
rights under the patents and licenses are of sopertance to our operations, our business is ntenady
dependent on any one patent or license or on allopatents and licenses as a group.

Regulatory Matters

We are subject to a variety of laws which regutheemanufacture, processing, use, handling, stoteayesport
treatment, emission, release and disposal of sutedaand wastes used or generated in manufact&onglecades
we have operated our facilities under applicatdedards of inplant and outplant emissions and sekedal he
inhalation of airborne beryllium particulate maggent a health hazard to certain individuals. Stededfor exposu
to beryllium are under review by the U.S. Occupmidafety and Health Administration (OSHA) andatblyer
governmental and private standard-setting orgapizat One result of these reviews will likely benastringent
worker safety standards. Some organizations, ssitheaCalifornia Occupational Health and Safety Adstration
and the American Conference of Governmental Indiidtlygienists, have adopted standards that are istoingent
than the current standards of OSHA. The developnpeaposal or adoption of more stringent standevdg affect
buying decisions by the users of beryllium-contagnproducts. If the standards are made more stritraged/or our
customers or other downstream users decide to egtied use of beryllium-containing products, cesults of
operations, liquidity and financial condition coudd materially adversely affected. The impact &f ffotential
adverse effect would depend on the nature and eatéhe changes to the standards, the cost atitydbimeet the
new standards, the extent of any reduction in costaise and other factors. The magnitude of thisrpial adverse
effect cannot be estimated.
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Executive Officers of the Registrani

Name Aﬁ Positions and Office

Richard J. Hipple 56  Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer. In May 2006
Mr. Hipple was named Chairman of the Board and {Ohiecutive Officer of
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. He had served esidnt since May 2005.
He was Chief Operating Officer from May 2005 uiMiay 2006. Mr. Hipple
served as President of Alloy Products from May 2006& May 2005. He
joined the Company in July 2001 as Vice Presidé&tiop Products an
served in that position until May of 2002. Priofjoining Brush, Mr. Hipple
was President of LTV Steel Company, a businessaiitite LTV Corporatio
(integrated steel producer and metal fabricatatprRo running LTV's steel
business, Mr. Hipple held numerous leadership jpostin engineering,
operations, strategic planning, sales and marketmyprocurement since
1975 at LTV. Mr. Hipple has served on the Boardatctors of Ferro
Corporation since June 20(

John D. Grampa 61  Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Grampa wa
named Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Einb®fficer in
December 2006. Prior to that, he had served asRfiesident Finance and
Chief Financial Officer since November 1999 and/a&® President Finance
since October 1998. Prior to that, he had servadi@sPresident, Finance f
the Worldwide Materials Business of Avery Denni€&uarporation since
March 1994 and held other various positions at pj\@ennison Corporation
(producer of pressure sensitive materials, officapcts, labels and other
converted products) from 19¢€

Daniel A. Skoch 59  Senior Vice President Administration. Mr. Skoch was named Senior Vice
President Administration in July 2000. Prior totttime, he had served as
Vice President Administration and Human ResouragsesMarch 1996. He
had served as Vice President Human Resources Bihc&991 and prior to
that time, he was Corporate Direc— Personnel

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition, results of ofieres and cash flows can be affected by a numb&abddrs,
including but not limited to those set forth beland elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10+, @ne of
which could cause our actual results to vary mallgrirom recent results or from our anticipatetufe results.
Therefore, an investment in us involves some risicdyding the risks described below. The risksdssed below
are not the only risks that we may experiencenyf af the following risks occur, our business, tesaf operations
or financial condition could be negatively impacted

Health issues, litigation and government regulatioelating to machining and manufacturing of beryllim-
containing products could significantly reduce demé for our products, limit our ability to operateral adversely
affect our profitability.

If exposed to respirable beryllium fumes, dustp@rder, some individuals may demonstrate an attergi
reaction to beryllium and may later develop a cledung disease known as chronic beryllium diseas&BD.
Some people who are diagnosed with CBD do not deveinical symptoms at all. In others, the diseze®lead to
scarring and damage of lung tissue, causing clisigaptoms that include shortness of breath, wimegeand
coughing. Severe cases of CBD can cause disabilitfgath.

Further, some scientists claim there is evidenanadssociation between beryllium exposure and ¢amger,
and certain standargktting organizations have classified beryllium badyllium compounds as human carcinog
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The health risks relating to exposure to beryllivave been, and will continue to be, a significastie
confronting the beryllium-containing products inttys The health risks associated with beryllium éagsulted in
product liability claims, employee and third-paldyvsuits and increased levels of scrutiny by fellstate, foreign
and international regulatory authorities. This sosuincludes regulatory decisions relating to #pproval or
prohibition of the use of beryllium-containing miaé for various uses. Concerns over CBD and opleential
adverse health effects relating to beryllium, a#i a&concerns regarding potential liability frohetuse of
beryllium, may discourage our customers’ use oftmryllium-containing products and significanthduee demand
for our products. In addition, continued or incehadverse media coverage relating to our beryitomtaining
products could damage our reputation or cause r@aee in demand for beryllium-containing produatsich could
adversely affect our profitability.

Our bertrandite ore mining and beryllium-related mafacturing operations and some of our customers’
businesses are subject to extensive health andtgaggulations that impose, and will continue to puse,
significant costs and liabilities, and future regation could increase those costs and liabilitieseffectively
prohibit production or use of berylliur-containing products.

Our customers and we are subject to laws regulatiorier exposure to beryllium. Standards for expesa
beryllium are under review by OSHA and by otherguownental and private standard-setting organizatiOme
result of these reviews will likely be more string@vorker safety standards. Some organization$y aac¢he
California Occupational Health and Safety Admirdtitn and the American Conference of Governmentuistrial
Hygienists, have adopted standards that are mangent than the current standards of OSHA. Thelbgment,
proposal or adoption of more stringent standardg aff@ct buying decisions by the users of berylkoomtaining
products. If the standards are made more strirgeafor our customers or other downstream usersleéaireduce
their use of beryllium-containing products, ourules of operations, liquidity and financial conditi could be
materially adversely affected. The impact of trogemtial adverse effect would depend on the natoceextent of
the changes to the standards, the cost and abilityeet the new standards, the extent of any regtuict customer
use and other factors. The magnitude of this patieadverse effect cannot be estimated.

Our bertrandite ore mining and manufacturing operiains are subject to extensive environmental regidas that
impose, and will continue to impose, significantste and liabilities on us, and future regulation atd increase
these costs and liabilities or prevent productiohberyllium-containing products.

We are subject to a variety of governmental regadatrelating to the environment, including thoskating to
our handling of hazardous materials and air andemagter emissions. Some environmental laws impokstantial
penalties for noncompliance. Others, such as ttheréd Comprehensive Environmental Response, Corafiens
and Liability Act, impose strict, retroactive aradrjt and several liability upon entities responsifdr releases of
hazardous substances. Bertrandite ore miningassailsject to extensive governmental regulation attens such as
permitting and licensing requirements, plant anidiifé protection, reclamation and restoration ahimg
properties, the discharge of materials into tharenment and the effects that mining has on growatdnquality
and availability. If we fail to comply with preseand future environmental laws and regulationscoudd be subjer
to liabilities or our operations could be interregbt In addition, future environmental laws and fetjons could
restrict our ability to expand our facilities orteact our bertrandite ore deposits. These environahéaws and
regulations could also require us to acquire casflyipment or to incur other significant expensesdnnection wit
our business, which would increase our costs afiysetion.

The availability of competitive substitute matersafor beryllium-containing products may reduce oaustomers’
demand for these products and reduce our sales.

In certain product applications, we compete wittaofacturers of non-berylliumentaining products, includir
organic composites, metal alloys or compositeghititm and aluminum. Our customers may choose to use
substitutes for berylliuncontaining products in their products for a varietyeasons, including, among other thir
the lower costs of those substitutes, the healthsafety concerns relating to these products amdishk of litigation
relating to beryllium-containing products. If owrstomers use substitutes for beryllium-




Table of Contents

containing products in their products, the demamdtir beryllium-containing products may decreaggch could
reduce our sales.

The markets for our beryllium-containing and non-bglium- containing products are experiencing rapid chang
in technology.

We operate in markets characterized by rapidly gimantechnology and evolving customer specificatiand
industry standards. New products may quickly rerheexisting product obsolete and unmarketableekample, a
one time we produced beryllium-copper alloys thatewsed in the production of some golf club hebdsthese
beryllium-copper alloy club heads are no longedpiced by any of our customers. Our growth and &itasults of
operations depend in part upon our ability to eebagxisting products and introduce newly develgmeducts on a
timely basis that conform to prevailing and evolvindustry standards, meet or exceed technologibainces in
the marketplace, meet changing customer spectitsitiachieve market acceptance and respond tompetitors’
products.

The process of developing new products can be tdabitally challenging and requires the accurate
anticipation of technological and market trends. M&y not be able to introduce new products sucakgsfr do so
on a timely basis. If we fail to develop new protiuihat are appealing to our customers or failewetbp products
on time and within budgeted amounts, we may be lertalrecover our significant research and devekgnaosts,
which could adversely affect our margins and padifiity.

We are dependent on the successful scheduled catiopl®f a new primary beryllium facility for our fture
supply of pure beryllium

We have partnered with the Department of Defenshaoe in the cost of a new beryllium pebble pfant
primary beryllium feedstocks. We may experienceagninent funding delays or cancellations, constonctielays
and quality and/or production issues in start uphsf new facility. Any prolonged delays of pureydéum
production from the new pebble plant could negdfiimpact the Beryllium and Beryllium Compositegseent.

We are exposed to lawsuits in the normal courséo$iness, which could harm our business.

We are currently involved in certain legal proceedi, including those involving product liabilitya@ins, and
employee and third-party lawsuits relating to expedo beryllium as well as claims against us @ringement of
intellectual property rights of third parties arttier claims arising out of the ordinary conducbuof business. Due
to the uncertainties of litigation, we can giveassurance that we will prevail on claims made agaia in the
lawsuits that we currently face or that additioclaims will not be made against us in the futurert@in of these
matters involve types of claims, that, if they leguan adverse ruling to us, could give riseubstantial liability
which could have a material adverse effect on agiress, operating results or financial condition.

We are presently uninsured for beryllium-relatesirak where the claimants’ first exposure to beumptli
occurred on or after January 1, 2008, and we havanmdertaken to estimate the impact of such clamhéch have
yet to be asserted. In addition, some jurisdictiprezlude insurance coverage for punitive damage ds
Accordingly, our profitability could be adverselffected if any current or future claimants obtaidgments for any
uninsured compensatory or punitive damages. Fyrdmeunfavorable outcome or settlement of a penldéargllium
case or additional adverse media coverage couloleage the commencement of additional similardiiign.

Our beryllium-containing and non-beryllium-containmig products are deployed in complex applicationglanay
have errors or defects that we find only after depinent.

Our products are highly complex, designed to béayepl in complicated applications and may contain
undetected defects, errors or failures. Althoughpraducts are generally tested during manufaagupnior to
deployment, they can only be fully tested when dg@dl in specific applications. For example, we kelyllium-
copper alloy strip products in a coil form to soowstomers, who then stamp the alloy for its spegifirpose. On
occasion, it is not until such customer stampsattoy that a defect in the alloy is detected. Idiidn, we have
experienced, on one occasion, a quality issue duhi@ manufacturing ramp up of a new product. Couesstly,
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our customers may discover errors after the praduate been deployed. The occurrence of any defactss, or
failures could result in installation delays, protteturns, termination of contracts with our cas#os, diversion of
our resources, increased service and warranty aoststher losses to our customers, end usersus:. tany of
these occurrences could also result in the loss délay in market acceptance of our products autbodamage ot
reputation, which could reduce our sales.

Many of our customers are subject to significantifituations as a result of the cyclical nature ofdin industries
and their sensitivity to general economic condit&mnwhich could adversely affect their demand forrquroducts
and reduce our sales and profitability.

A substantial number of our customers are in tleztenmunications and computer, data storage, astesgnd
defense, automotive electronics, industrial comptsand appliance industries. Each of these iniggss cyclical
in nature, influenced by a combination of factotsak could have a negative impact on our busirieshkjding,
among other things, periods of economic growthegession, strength or weakness of the U.S. ddflarstrength of
the consumer electronics, automotive electronickscamputer industries and the rate of construaifon
telecommunications infrastructure equipment ancegawent spending on defense.

Also, in times when growth rates in our marketsvsttown, there may be temporary inventory adjustsegt
our customers that may negatively affect our bissine

The current global economic crisis is having a ndy& impact on our financial performance.

The global economic crisis continues to adversfgcathe domestic and global economies. Some mest®
are experiencing difficulty in obtaining adequatehcing due to the current disruption in the drethrkets, which
has impacted our sales. Our exposure to bad ded#damay also increase if customers are unabkeytéop product
previously ordered. The severe recession has alssed higher unemployment rates globally whichaddalve an
adverse affect on demand for consumer electrowicigh comprised over 50% of our sales in 2008. owation or
further deterioration of these financial and macom®mic conditions may have a significant adveffsceon our
sales, profitability and results of operations.

We may not be able to complete our acquisition &gy or successfully integrate acquired businesses.

We have been active over the last several yegrarsuing niche acquisitions for one of our subsidi
Williams Advanced Materials Inc. We intend to coni to consider further growth opportunities thiotige
acquisition of assets or companies and routinelieve acquisition opportunities. We cannot preditiether we will
be successful in pursuing any acquisition oppotigsior what the consequences of any acquisitianidvioe. Futurt
acquisitions may involve the expenditure of sigrafit funds and management time. Depending uponahee, siz:
and timing of future acquisitions, we may be regdito raise additional financing, which may notlailable to us
on acceptable terms. Further, we may not be aldadoessfully integrate any acquired business ouithexisting
businesses or recognize any expected advantagesfrp completed acquisition.

In addition, there may be liabilities that we fait,are unable, to discover in the course of periog due
diligence investigations on the assets or compamébkave already acquired or may acquire in theréutWe cannc
assure that rights to indemnification by the ssllerthese assets or companies to us, even ifnrautawill be
enforceable, collectible or sufficient in amourpge or duration to fully offset the possible lidhds associated
with the business or property acquired. Any sughilities, individually or in the aggregate, collave a materially
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

The terms of our indebtedness may restrict our agtéans, including our ability to pursue our growtand
acquisition strategies.

The terms of our credit facilities contain a numbgrestrictive covenants, including restrictionsour ability
to, among other things, borrow and make investmamtisacquire other businesses. These covenants adwtrsel
affect us by limiting our ability to plan for oraet to market conditions or to meet our capitaldseas well as
adversely affect our ability to pursue our grovatbquisition strategies and other strategic initegti
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Ouir failure to comply with the covenants contain@dthe terms of our indebtedness could result in anent of
default which could materially and adversely affemtir operating results and our financial condition.

The terms of our credit facilities require us tangdy with various covenants, including financiaveoants. If
the current global economic crisis is prolongedopitld have a material adverse impact on our egsrémd cash
flow which could adversely affect our ability toraply with our financial covenants and could limitrdorrowing
capacity. Our ability to comply with these coversatiépends, in part, on factors over which we may im@ control
A breach of any of these covenants could reswnievent of default under one or more of the ages¢sngovernin
our indebtedness which, if not cured or waiveda@@ive the holders of the defaulted indebtednkssight to
terminate commitments to lend and cause all amaurttstanding with respect to the indebtedness tiueeand
payable immediately. Acceleration of any of ourdhtedness could result in cross defaults undeotar debt
instruments. Our assets and cash flow may be iogrit to fully repay borrowings under all of ountetanding debt
instruments if some or all of these instrumentsameelerated upon an event of default, in whicle egs may be
required to seek legal protection from our creditor

We conduct our sales and distribution operations anvorldwide basis and are subject to the risksaasated with
doing business outside the United States.

We sell to customers outside of the United Stata® four United States and international operatigws.have
been and are continuing to expand our geographithrizn Europe and Asia. Shipments to customersdeuts the
United States accounted for approximately 35% ofsales in 2008, 43% in 2007, and 35% in 2006. Wicipate
that international shipments will account for andfigant portion of our sales for the foreseeabiife. Revenue
from non-United States operations (principally Epg@nd Asia) amounted to approximately 24% of alessin
2008, 25% in 2007, and 23% in 2006. There are deumf risks associated with international busiresivities,
including:

 burdens to comply with multiple and potentially @ianting foreign laws and regulations, includingpext
requirements, tariffs and other barriers, environtakhealth and safety requirements and unexpettadge
in any of these factor:

« difficulty in obtaining export licenses from the ited States governmer

« political and economic instability and disruptioims;luding terrorist attack:

« potentially adverse tax consequences due to oy@rgpr differing tax structures; ai
« fluctuations in currency exchange rai

Additionally, foreign and international regulatiohave also impacted our sales, margins and prdfitain the
past. See also “— Health issues, litigation andegoment regulation relating to machining and mactuféng of
beryllium-containing products could significantlduce demand for our products, limit our abilityofmerate and
adversely affect our profitability”, found on pagef this Form 10-K and “— Our bertrandite ore miiand
beryllium-related manufacturing operations and sofmaur customers’ businesses are subject to extehgalth
and safety regulations that impose, and will cargito impose, significant costs and liabilitiesd &mture regulation
could increase those costs and liabilities or &ffety prohibit production or use of beryllium-ceairting products”,
found on page 7 on this Form 10-K. Further, antheke risks could continue in the future.

A major portion of our bank debt consists of vari-rate obligations, which subjects us to interestea
fluctuations.

Our credit facilities are secured by substantiallyof our assets (other than norining real property and cert:
other assets). Our working capital line-of-creditludes variable-rate obligations, which expostousterest rate
risks. If interest rates increase, our debt ser@ldegations on our variable-rate indebtedness dadrease even if
the amount borrowed remained the same, resultiagdiecrease in our net income. We have developedging
program to manage the risks associated with inteags fluctuations, but our program may not effegdy eliminate
all of the financial exposure associated with iestrate fluctuations. Additional information redijag our market
risks is contained in Part Il, Item 7A of this Fol®-K.
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The availability and prices of some raw material€ wse in our manufacturing operations fluctuate, e
increases in raw material costs can increase oueggting costs.

We manufacture engineered materials using varioemqus and non-precious metals, including goldesi
palladium, platinum, ruthenium, copper and nicRéle availability of and prices for these raw matksrare subject
to volatility and are influenced by worldwide ecanic conditions, speculative action, world supplyg aemand
balances, inventory levels, availability of suhgttmetals, the U.S. dollar exchange rate, produaosts of United
States and foreign competitors, anticipated orgieec! shortages and other factors. Decreased biig§land
fluctuating prices of precious and non-preciousatsethat we use in our manufacturing can increas@perating
costs. For example, prices for copper have begnuaatile in recent months due to global demand miarket
conditions. Further, we maintain some precious lmeta a consigned inventory basis. The owners@ptiecious
metals charge a fee that fluctuates based on thieetarice of those metals and other factors. Aificant increase
in the market price of precious metals or the apmsient fee could increase our financing costs, wbauld
increase our operating costs. We use rutheniurthéomanufacture of perpendicular magnetic recortBegnology
products for the data storage market. Rutheniumotisvidely used or traded on a public market amdefore there
is no established market for hedging price exposiithough our selling price is generally basedooin cost to
purchase ruthenium, the inventory carrying valug tmaexposed to market fluctuations. For exampée, w
experienced a 66% drop in the price of rutheniumnguthe fourth quarter 2008.

Because we experience seasonal fluctuations in sales, our quarterly results will fluctuate, and oannual
performance will be affected by the fluctuatior

Because many of our European and automotive efécracustomers slow or cease operations during the
summer months, we sometimes experience weaker deimaéine quarters ending in September compareleto t
quarters ending in March, June and December. Weatxhis seasonal pattern to continue, which caoges
quarterly results to fluctuate. If our revenue dgrany quarter were to fall below the expectatiofiisvestors or
securities analysts, our share price could dectieghaps significantly. Unfavorable economic cdnds, lower thal
normal levels of demand and other occurrencesyroéithe other quarters could also harm our resfltsperations.

Natural disasters, equipment failures, work stopsg bankruptcies and other unexpected events may lsur
customers to curtail production or shut down thesperations.

Our customers’ manufacturing operations are suligeconditions beyond their control, including ravaterial
shortages, natural disasters, interruptions intetat power or other energy services, equipmeitris,
bankruptcies, work stoppages due to strikes ordotk including those affecting the automotive stdyy one of ou
major markets, and other unexpected events. Fongheain 2005, Delphi Corporation, a customer oé¢hof our
business units and the largest United States supdlautomotive parts, filed for bankruptcy prdiec. To date,
Delphi has not emerged from bankruptcy reorgaromathny of those events could also affect othepsaps to our
customers. In either case, those events could caussustomers to curtail production or to shut da@aportion or
all of their operations, which could reduce theinthnd for our products and reduce our sales.

Unexpected events and natural disasters at our mioeld increase the cost of operating our business.

A portion of our production costs at our mine axed regardless of current operating levels. Owrafing
levels are subject to conditions beyond our cortrat may increase the cost of mining for varyieggths of time.

These conditions include, among other things, fiedural disasters, pit wall failures and ore pssagg
changes. Our mining operations also involve thalliag and production of potentially explosive méts. It is
possible that an explosion could result in deathiajuries to employees and others and materiglgnty damage t
third parties and us. Any explosion could expos®uedverse publicity or liability for damages andterially
adversely affect our operations. Any of these exentild increase our cost of operations.

11
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Equipment failures and other unexpected events at €acilities may lead to manufacturing curtailmestor
shutdowns

The manufacturing processes that take place imining operation, as well as in our manufacturiaglities,
depend on critical pieces of equipment. This eqeipinmay, on occasion, be out of service becauseaniticipated
failure, and some equipment is not readily avaflaiyl replaceable. In addition to equipment failuees facilities
are also subject to the risk of loss due to ungated events such as fires, explosions or otreastiers. Material
plant shutdowns or reductions in operations coalarhour ability to fulfill our customers’ demandaghich could
harm our sales and cause our customers to find stippliers. Further, remediation of any interraptin productiol
capability may require us to make large capitaleexjitures, which may have a negative effect orpoofitability
and cash flows. Our business interruption insuranag not cover all of the lost revenues associaié
interruptions in our manufacturing capabilities.

Many of our manufacturing facilities are dependepn single source energy suppliers, and interruptionenergy
services may cause manufacturing curtailments ougtiowns.

Many of our manufacturing facilities depend on eonerce for electric power and for natural gas.&a@mple,
Utah Power is the sole supplier of electric poweethie processing facility for our mining operationdJtah. A
significant interruption in service from our energyppliers due to equipment failures, terrorisramy other cause
may result in substantial losses that are not fudlyered by our business interruption insurance. gubstantial
unmitigated interruption of our operations duehtese conditions could harm our ability to meetaustomers’
demands and reduce our sales.

If the price of electrical power, fuel or other engy sources increases, our operating expenses cintdease
significantly.

We have numerous milling and manufacturing faeitand a mining operation, which depend on eledtric
power, fuel or other energy sources. See “ltem Preperties,” found on page 16 of this Form 10-kir Operating
expenses are sensitive to changes in electriditgprand fuel prices, including natural gas pri€eges for
electricity and natural gas have continued to iaseeand can fluctuate widely with availability ateimand levels
from other users. During periods of peak usagepleegpof energy may be curtailed, and we may natlide to
purchase energy at historical market rates. Whdéhawe some long-term contracts with energy suigphee are
exposed to fluctuations in energy costs that céetabur production costs. Although we enter irdowfard-fixed
price supply contracts for natural gas and eleatgrfor use in our operations, those contractsodilamited duration
and do not cover all of our fuel or electricity dsePrice increases in fuel and electricity costisoantinue to
increase our cost of operations.

We have a limited number of manufacturing facilitle and damage to those facilities could interruptro
operations, increase our costs of doing business @ampair our ability to deliver our products on antely basis.

Some of our facilities are interdependent. Forainsé, our manufacturing facility, in EImore, Ohalies on our
mining operation for its supply of beryllium hydiide used in production of most of its beryllium-taining
materials. Additionally, our Reading, Pennsylvakisemont, California and Tucson, Arizona manufaotr
facilities are dependent on materials producedusygbmore, Ohio manufacturing facility and our Wifesdd, New
York manufacturing facility is dependent on our i, New York manufacturing facility. See “ltem-2
Properties”, found on page 16 of this Form 10-Ke Bestruction or closure of any of our manufactyfacilities or
our mine for a significant period of time as a tesiifire, explosion, act of war or terrorism ather natural disaster
or unexpected event may interrupt our manufactucagpbilities, increase our capital expendituresair costs of
doing business and impair our ability to deliver ptoducts on a timely basis. In such an eventmag need to
resort to an alternative source of manufacturingpatelay production, which could increase our €adtdoing
business. Our property damage and business intemupsurance may not cover all of our potentislses and may
not continue to be available to us on acceptabheggeif at all.
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Our lengthy and variable sales and development eymlakes it difficult for us to predict if and whes new
product will be sold to customer

Our sales and development cycle, which is the gdriam the generation of a sales lead or new proidaea
through the development of the product and therd#eg of sales, may typically take up to two orethryears,
making it very difficult to forecast sales and sof operations. Our inability to accurately pgrtdhe timing and
magnitude of sales of our products, especially pémtroduced products, could affect our abilitymeet our
customers’ product delivery requirements or causaesults of operations to suffer if we incur expes in a
particular period that do not translate into salesng that period, or at all. In addition, theaéures would make it
difficult to plan future capital expenditure needwl could cause us to fail to meet our cash flayuirements.

Future terrorist attacks and other acts of violence war may directly harm our operations.

Future terrorist attacks or other acts of violeacevar may directly impact our physical facilitiésor example,
our Elmore, Ohio facility is located near and desyower from a nuclear power plant, which couladbarget for a
terrorist attack. In addition, future terroristeatks, related armed conflicts or prolonged or iasegl tensions in the
Middle East or other regions of the world coulds@eonsumer confidence and spending to decreageadag
demand for consumer goods that contain our prodEatsher, when the United States armed forcesmamved in
active hostilities or large-scale deployments, degespending tends to focus more on meeting theigaiyneeds of
the troops, and planned expenditures on weaponstaed systems incorporating our products may Haaed or
deferred. Any of these occurrences could also asgevolatility in the United States and worldwidefcial
markets, which could negatively impact our sales.

We may be unable to access the financial marketdarorable terms.

The inability to raise capital on favorable terpparticularly during times of uncertainty in thedimcial market:s
could impact our ability to sustain and grow ousibess and would increase our capital costs. lticpéar, the
substantial volatility in world capital markets digethe global economic crisis has had a signiticeagative impact
on the domestic and global financial markets.

We rely on access to financial markets as a siganifi source of liquidity for capital requirements ratisfied
by cash on hand or operating cash flow. Our adwet® financial markets could be adversely impabig various
factors, including:

« Changes in credit markets that reduce availablditope the ability to renew existing liquidity fdities on
acceptable term:

» A deterioration of our credi
* A deterioration in the financial condition of thariks in which we do busines

« Extreme volatility in our markets that increaseggiraor credit requirements; ai

The collateral pledge of substantially all of oesets in connection with our existing indebtednessch
limits our flexibility in raising additional capita

All of these factors have adversely impacted ogeas to the financial markets at various times twefast
five years. The recent global economic crisis magkenit difficult for us to access the credit mar&atl to obtain
financing or refinancing, as the case may be, écetkitent necessary, on satisfactory terms or.at all

Low investment performance by our domestic pengidan assets may require us to increase our pendiahility
and expense, which may require us to fund a portieihour pension obligations and divert funds fromiheer
potential uses

We provide defined benefit pension plans to elgyployees. Our pension expense and our required
contributions to our pension plans are directlgetiféd by the value of plan assets, the projectedofaeturn on pla
assets, the actual rate of return on plan assdttharactuarial assumptions we use to measureeduned benefit
pension plan obligations, including the rate atahtfuture obligations are discounted to a presahtey or
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the discount rate. As of December 31, 2008, fosfmenaccounting purposes, we assumed an 8.25%fredéurn or
pension assets.

Lower investment performance of our pension plaetssresulting from a decline in the stock marketd
significantly increase the deficit position of qulans. Should the pension asset return fall belomeapectations, it
is likely that future pension expenses would inseed he actual return on our plan assets for teé/enmonths
ending December 31, 2008 was a loss of 24%.

We establish the discount rate used to determm@nbsent value of the projected and accumulateefibe
obligation at the end of each year based uponuhiadle market rates for high quality, fixed inceivestments.
An increase in the discount rate would reduce tiheré pension expense and, conversely, a loweoudiidcate
would raise the future pension expense.

Based on current guidelines, assumptions and gstiniacluding stock market prices and interegts;ave
anticipate that we will be required to make a czmtitribution of approximately $18.3 million to opension plan in
20009. If our current assumptions and estimatesi@reorrect, a contribution in years beyond 2009 begreater
than the projected 2009 contribution required.

We cannot predict whether changing market or econoonditions, regulatory changes or other factails
further increase our pension expenses or fundifigaitons, diverting funds we would otherwise apfdyother use

Our expenditures for post-retirement health bensfitould be materially higher than we have prediciédur
underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect.

We also provide post-retirement health benefitligible employees. Our retiree health expenséréctly
affected by the assumptions we use to measurestitga health plan obligations, including the assdmate at
which health care costs will increase and the distoate used to calculate future obligations. fétiree health
accounting purposes, we decreased the assumedt ratéch health care costs will increase for thet year to 8%
at December 31, 2008 from 9% at December 31, 200%ddition, we have assumed that this health case
increase trend rate will decline to 5% by 2012. Mdee used the same discount rates for our reteakhhplans that
we use for our pension plan accounting.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifeffect on the amounts reported for the health plans.
A one percentage point increase in assumed hemihcost trend rates would have increased theqmpteyment
benefits included among the liabilities in our el sheet by $0.8 million at December 31, 2008.

We cannot predict whether changing market or ecanoonditions, regulatory changes or other factuits
further increase our retiree health care expenseblgations, diverting funds we would otherwigmply to other
uses.

We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchangees, which may negatively affect our financial
performance.

A significant portion of our sales is conductednternational markets and priced in currencies rotihan the
U.S. dollar. Revenues from customers outside ofahiéed States (principally Europe and Asia) amedrib 35% c
sales in 2008, 43% in 2007 and 35% in 2006. A fianit part of these international sales are prioeclirrencies
other than the U.S. dollar. Significant fluctuagan currency values relative to the U.S. dollaymagatively affect
our financial performance. In the past, fluctuasiom currency exchange rates, particularly forghs and the yen,
have impacted our sales, margins and profitabilitye fair value of our net liability relating to standing foreign
currency contracts was $1.2 million at December28D8, indicating that the average hedge rates wrfievorable
compared to the actual year-end market exchangs. Mthile we may hedge our currency transactiomsitigate
the impact of currency price volatility on our eags, any hedging activities may not be successful.

14




Table of Contents

Our holding company structure causes us to rely famds from our subsidiaries

We are a holding company and conduct substantdlilyur operations through our subsidiaries. Asking
company, we are dependent upon dividends or otierciompany transfers of funds from our subsidsaride
payment of dividends and other payments to us Ipysobsidiaries may be restricted by, among othieg#h
applicable corporate and other laws and regulatiameements of the subsidiaries and the termsrofwrent and
future indebtedness.

Our financial results are likely to be negativelynpacted by an impairment of goodwill pursuant toaBtment
No. 142 should our shareholder equity exceed ourrke capitalization for a number of quarter:

A goodwill impairment charge may be triggered yeduction in actual and projected cash flows, witichld
be negatively impacted by the market price of @mmmon shares. Our goodwill balance at Decembe2@18 was
$35.8 million. Any required non-cash impairment gacould significantly reduce this balance andehawnaterial
impact on our reported financial position and resaf operations.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES

We operate manufacturing plants, service and d#udities throughout the world. During 2008, we chea
effective use of our productive capacities at aingipal facilities. We believe that the qualitydaproduction
capacity of our facilities is sufficient to mairmadur competitive position for the foreseeable fatunformation as
of December 31, 2008, with respect to our signifidacilities that are owned or leased, and thpeesve segments
in which they are included, is set forth below.

Approximate

Number of
Location Owned or Leasel Square Fee
Manufacturing Facilities
Bloomfield, Connecticu(®) Leasec 23,40(
Brewster, New Yorl®) Leasec 75,00(
Buellton, Californig(®) Leasec 35,00(
Buffalo, New York®) Owned 97,00(
Delta, Utah(® Owned 86,00(
Elmore, Ohic@@®) Owned/Lease 556,000/300,0C
Fremont, Californi&3) Leasec 16,80(
Limerick, Ireland®) Leasec 18,00(
Lincoln, Rhode Islani(4 Owned/Lease 130,000/11,00
Lorain, Ohio(@ Owned 55,00(
Louny, Czech Republi® Leasec 19,80(
Milwaukee, Wisconsii) Owned/Lease 99,000/7,30
Newburyport, Massachuse(®) Owned 30,00(
Reading, Pennsylvan(@ Owned 123,00(
Santa Clara, Californi® Leasec 5,80(
Singapore®) Leasec 4,50(
Subic Bay, Philippine(®) Leasec 5,00(
Suzhou, Chin® Leasec 22,40(
Taipei, Taiwar(®) Leasec 11,50(
Tucson, Arizon3) Owned 53,00(
Wheatfield, New York®) Owned 35,00¢(
Windsor, Connectict(®) Leasec 34,70(
Corporate and Administrative Office
Mayfield Heights, Ohic23)(5) Leasec 53,80(
Service and Distribution Center
Elmhurst, Illinois(@ Leasec 28,50(
Fukaya, Japa(@)4) Owned 35,50(
Singapore@ ) Leasec 2,50(
Stuttgart, German(2(4) Leasec 24,80(
Theale, Englan®(@)#) Leasec 19,70(
Tokyo, JapaiW)(@B)(4) Leasec 6,90(
Warren, Michigar® Leasec 34,50(

(1) Advanced Material Technologies and Servi
(@ Specialty Engineered Alloy
®) Beryllium and Beryllium Composite
4) Engineered Material Syster
®) All Other
In addition to the above, there are 7,500 acrdsia County, Utah with respective mineral rightsrfrwhich

the beryllium-bearing ore, bertrandite, is minedloy open pit method. A portion of the mineral tigis held under
lease. Ore reserve data can be found in Pareth 1t of this Form 10-K.
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Our subsidiaries and our holding company are stifj@n time to time, to a variety of civil and advistrative
proceedings arising out of our normal operationsluiding, without limitation, product liability cias, health, safe
and environmental claims and employment-relateidast Among such proceedings are the cases deddydlew.

Beryllium Claims

As of December 31, 2008, our subsidiary, Brush Wafl Inc., was a defendant in nine proceedings iows
state and federal courts brought by plaintiffsgitig that they have contracted, or have been platadk of
contracting, chronic beryllium disease or otheglgonditions as a result of exposure to berylligtaintiffs in
beryllium cases seek recovery under negligencevaridus other legal theories and seek compensatahpunitive
damages, in many cases of an unspecified sum. &pofisome plaintiffs claim loss of consortium.

As of December 31, 2007 there were nine berylliases (involving 31 plaintiffs) and as of Decemhkyr 3
2008, there were nine beryllium cases (involvingogéntiffs). During 2008:

» one case (involving six plaintiffs) was file

« as previously reported, one case (involving onapif§ had been voluntarily dismissed by the ptéin
during the fourth quarter of 2007, but the Compamag not made aware of this until 20

In addition, in one purported class action (invotybne named plaintiff), the court granted sumnjadgment
of all defendants and dismissed the complaintthriplaintiff has filed an appeal. In a second pugd class action
(involving nine named plaintiffs), the court denitb& motion for class certification, but the pléfsthave filed an
appeal.

The nine pending beryllium cases as of Decembe@183 fall into two categories: Seven cases invgthird-
party individual plaintiffs, with 20 individuals Ga four spouses who have filed claims as part@&if $pouse’s case
and two children who have filed claims as parth&fit parent’s case) and two purported class actiamslving ten
named plaintiffs, as discussed more fully belovai@k brought by third-party plaintiffs (typicallyrloyees of our
customers or contractors) are generally coveredabying levels of insurance.

The first purported class action is Manuel Maringlev. Brush Wellman Inc., filed in Superior Coof
California, Los Angeles County, case number BC2890% July 15, 2003. The named plaintiffs are Maherin,
Lisa Marin, Garfield Perry and Susan Perry. Theddéants are Brush Wellman, Appanaitis Enterprises, and
Doe Defendants 1 through 100. A First Amended Cainplvas filed on September 15, 2004, naming five
additional plaintiffs. The five additional namedhjitiffs are Robert Thomas, Darnell White, Leonawéfrion, Jame
Jones and John Kesselring. The plaintiffs allege ttiey have been sensitized to beryllium while leygd at the
Boeing Company. The plaintiffs’ wives claim lossaminsortium. The plaintiffs purport to represent tlasses of
approximately 250 members each, one consistingookevs who worked at Boeing or its predecessorsaaad
beryllium sensitized and the other consisting efrtspouses. They have brought claims for negligesicict
liability — design defect, strict liability —failure to warn, fraudulent concealment, breachrgflied warranties, ar
unfair business practices. The plaintiffs seekninfive relief, medical monitoring, medical and hlealare provider
reimbursement, attorneys’ fees and costs, revatafibusiness license, and compensatory and pardtévnages.
Messrs. Marin, Perry, Thomas, White, Joffrion, Joand Kesselring represent current and past emgaayfeBoein
in California; and Ms. Marin and Ms. Perry are speal Defendant Appanaitis Enterprises, Inc. wasidsed on
May 5, 2005. Plaintiffs’ motion for class certiftt@n, which the Company opposed, was heard by diet on
February 8, 2008, and the motion was denied byolet on May 7, 2008. Plaintiffs filed a noticeagfpeal on
May 20, 2008.

The second purported class action is Gary Anthor§nvall Tube Manufacturing Corporation d/b/a Sritalbe
Products Corporation, Inc., et al., filed in theu@f Common Pleas of Philadelphia County, Pervasyh, case
number 000525, on September 7, 2006. The caseaemas/ed to the U.S. District Court for the Easterstiixt of
Pennsylvania, case number 06-CV-4419, on Octob20@6. The only named plaintiff is Gary Anthony.eTh
defendants are Small Tube Manufacturing Corporatiima Small Tube Products Corporation, Inc.; Agitni
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Metals Inc.; Tube Methods, Inc., and Cabot CorponafThe plaintiff purports to sue on behalf oflass of current
and former employees of the U.S. Gauge facilitgéhlersville, Pennsylvania who have ever been eeghts
beryllium for a period of at least one month whdlaployed at U.S. Gauge. The plaintiff has broudgdihts for
negligence. Plaintiff seeks the establishmentmieaical monitoring trust fund, cost of publicatiohapproved
guidelines and procedures for medical screeningnaowitoring of the class, attorneyses and expenses. Defenc
Tube Methods, Inc. filed a third-party complainaagst Brush Wellman Inc. in that action on Novembgr2006.
Tube Methods alleges that Brush supplied beryllzontaining products to U.S. Gauge, and that Tubthbtis
worked on those products, but that Brush is liabl€ube Methods for indemnification and contribati®rush
moved to dismiss the Tube Methods complaint on Beg 22, 2006. On January 12, 2007, Tube Methdets din
amended third-party complaint, which Brush movedisgmiss on January 26, 2007; however, the Couniedehe
motion on September 28, 2007. Brush filed its amdev¢he amended thirdarty complaint on October 19, 2007.
November 14, 2007, two of the defendants filediat jmotion for an order permitting discovery to regke
threshold determination of whether plaintiff is siized to beryllium. On February 29, 2008, Bruisdf a motion
for summary judgment based on plaintiff's lack af@ubstantially increased risk of CBD. Oral argatman this
motion took place on June 13, 2008. On Septemhe2(BIB, the court granted the motion for summadgiaent in
favor of all of the defendants and dismissed pifiimtclass action complaint. On October 29, 200Rjntiff filed a
notice of appeal.

Subsequent Events

From January 1, 2009 to February 20, 2009, in ase ¢involving five plaintiffs), there was a stigtibn of
voluntary dismissal of one plaintiff. In one case/lving six plaintiffs), the court granted theapitiffs’ motion to
add two additional plaintiffs. In one case (involgieight plaintiffs), in which the trial court hgdanted summary
judgment on all claims, the Court of Appeals affidrthe trial cou’s judgment on January 13, 2009; the plaintiffs
sought a rehearing by the Court of Appeals, whiels denied by the Court on February 10, 2009.

Other Claims

One of our subsidiaries, Williams Advanced Materialc. (WAM), is a party to patent litigation ineth
U.S. involving Target Technology Company, LLC ofitre, California (Target). The litigation involveatents
directed to technology used in the production ofd%s, which are high storage capacity DVDs, an@otptical
recording media. The patents at issue primarilyceam certain silver alloys used to make the sefiéctive layer ir
DVD-9s, a thin metal film that is applied to a DV@Dthrough a process known as sputtering. The ratgnmabused
in the sputtering process is called a target. Taatieges that WAM manufactures and sells infriggaputtering
targets to DVD manufacturers.

In the first action, filed in April 2003 by WAM agest Target in the U.S. District Court, Westerntiét of
New York (caseno. 03-CV-0276A (SR)) (the NY Action), WAM has askihe Court for a judgment declaring
certain Target patents invalid and/or unenforceahl awarding WAM damages. Target counterclaimiedjialg
infringement of those patents and seeking a judgfieernfringement, an injunction against furthafringement
and damages for past infringement. Following cenaoceedings in which WAM was denied an injunction
prevent Target from suing and threatening to sueWé/Acustomers, Target filed an amended counterckaicha
third-party complaint naming certain of WABItustomers and other entities as parties to e aad adding relat
other patents to the NY Action. The action tempbravas stayed pending resolution of the ownerssspe in the
CA Action (defined below), as discussed more folow.

Target in September 2004 filed in the U.S. Dist@ourt, Central District of California (case
no. SAC04-1083 DOC (MLGXx)) a separate action férimgement of one of the same patents named ilNthe
Action (the CA Action), naming as defendants WAMlarertain of WAM'’s customers who purchase certaiNV
sputtering targets. Target sought a judgment tlepatent is valid and infringed by the defendaafsermanent
injunction, a judgment on ownership of certain Engatents, damages adequate to compensate Tar¢jeet f
infringement, treble damages and attorneys’ fedscasts. In April 2007, Sony DADC U.S., Inc. amartger Sony
companies (Sony) had intervened in the CA Acti@ineing ownership of that patent and others of tiemnts that
Target is seeking to enforce in the NY Action. Serofaim was based on its prior employment of thteptee and
Targets founder, Han H. Nee (Nee), and had included aadénfor damages against both Target and Nee. WA
behalf
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of itself and its customers has a paid-up licensmfSony under any rights that Sony has in thosenga Although
trial of the CA Action had been scheduled for Ma2€i®9, in December 2008, a confidential settlenagneement
was reached between Target and Sony, as well adial gettlement agreement between Target and Wal&&asing
WAM and its customers from infringement of the ar@ned patent. As a result, the issues not sulgjetyt
settlement were (1) a remaining count in whichTheget parties had requested a judgment decldnatghiarget is
the owner of certain of the Target patents and\(2M'’s request for sanctions against Target.

Subsequent Events

Pursuant to various stipulations filed by the gerin the CA Action, the Court on January 6, 20@femred a
dismissal with prejudice of all of the respectim&rvention claims and counterclaims between thgéigarties an
the Sony companies, dismissal with prejudice o€lalims by Target against WAM and its defendantamers, and
dismissal without prejudice of the counterclaimsvBgM and its defendant customers, the exceptiondgtie
remaining declaratory judgment count on patent aslrip. Also following motions filed by the partighe Court in
the CA Action on January 26, 2009 ordered thactse and remaining issues be transferred to the ©ahe NY
Action. As a result, the stay in the NY Action Heeen lifted, and the parties have resumedipaéproceedings wit
a trial currently expected to be held in 2010.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of securitgérd during the fiscal fourth quarter of 2008.
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PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY , RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Dividends

(a) The Company’s common shares are listed on #ve Xork Stock Exchange under the symbol “BW”. As of
February 13, 2009 there were approximately 1,440ettolders of record. The table below is a sumroétle rang
of market prices with respect to common sharesndwach quarter of fiscal years 2008 and 2007 ditfenot pay
any dividends in 2008 or 2007. We have no curnmetenition to declare dividends on our common shiaréfse near
term. Our current policy is to retain all funds aatnings for the use in the operation and exparsiour business.

Stock price range

Fiscal Quarters High Low
2008
First $38.12  $23.7
Seconc 34.6: 24.6(
Third 31.2% 19.07
Fourth 19.41 6.9¢
2007
First $50.45  $30.5¢
Seconc 61.8:2 39.7(
Third 53.0( 34.1
Fourth 58.7¢ 33.57

On August 1, 2008, we announced that our Boardidibrs had approved a share repurchase program
authorizing the purchase of up to one million (D,000) of our common shares. The share repurcmaagg$e mac
from time to time through brokers on the New Yotk Exchange. The repurchase program may be stsgan
discontinued at any time.

During the three months ended December 31, 2008epuerchased 223,114 shares under this program at a
average price of $13.03. On December 31, 2008 |seeraacquired common shares in connection withieyepe
compensation plans, which were not part of theeshepurchase program. Additional information alibase
transactions is presented in the table below.

Total Number of

Maximum Number

Total Shares Purchased ¢  of Shares that May
Number of Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchasec
Shares Average Price  Announced Planso  Under the Plans ol
Purchasec Paid per Share Programs Programs
September 27 through
October 31, 200 40,00( $ 13.3¢ 40,00( 883,11
November 1 throug
November 28, 200 183,11« $ 12.9¢ 183,11« 700,00(

November 29 throug

December 31, 20C 26,1441) $ 12.72
28,28((2) $ 12.72
3,99:3) $ 13.4¢

(1) Represents common shares surrendered to us ty satisvithholding requirements on performance nietgd

shares granted to employees under our 2006 Stecektine Plan (2006 Plar

(2) Represents common shares surrendered to us byyseplbolding performance restricted shares gramiddr
the 2006 Plan to correct overpayment of incentmapensation for 200°

(3) Represents common shares purchased for directarelebted to defer their annual director fees arcald in
a rabbi trust established under our 2006 -employee Directo’ Equity Plan.
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Performance Graph

The following graph sets forth the cumulative shaider return on our common shares as compardeeto t
cumulative total return of the S&P SmallCap 600exadnd the Russell 2000 Index as Brush Engineeraehals
Inc. is a component company of these indices.

S0
—o— Brush Engineered Materials
330 —— S&P SmallCap 600
B30 —— Russell 20000
£250)
E
% 2200
2150
F100 & 1
50
50
2003 2004 2005 2 2007 2008
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Brush Engineered Materis $ 10C |[$ 121 [$ 104 |[$ 221 [$ 24z |[$ 83
S&P SmallCap 60 $ 10C |$ 122 |$ 13z |$ 15z |$ 152 |$ 104
Russell 200( $ 10C |$ 118 |$ 124 |$ 14€ |$ 144 | & 95

The above graph assumes that the value of our consimares and each index was $100 on December @3, 20
and that all dividends, if paid, were reinvested.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries

Subsequent to the earnings release of the Compangisdited Consolidated Statements of Income for th
Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 andgtb, 2009, adjustments were recorded to aceount
payable and other balance sheet accounts thateeésalan $0.8 million increase in cost of sales2@08. Gross
margin and operating profit were reduced by thimesamount from what was previously released. N=irire for
2008 was reduced from $18.9 million to $18.4 millind diluted earnings per share from $0.92 to%0Be data
presented in the following chart, as well as thea gmesented in ManagemenDiscussion and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations in Iltem 7 drelRinancial Statements and Supplementary Datarim 8 of thi:
Annual Report on Form 10-K include the impact afsh adjustments.

(Dollars in thousands

except for share and per share dat: 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
For the year
Net sales $ 909,71: $ 955,70¢ $ 763,05 $ 541,26 $ 496,27t
Cost of sale: 757,56° 759,03° 600,88: 431,02: 385,20:
Gross profit 152,14« 196,67 162,17. 110,24: 111,07-
Operating profil 28,07: 84,46¢ 43,84( 19,50¢ 25,03¢
Interest expens— net 1,99¢ 1,76( 4,13¢ 6,372 8,371
Income from continuing operations before income

taxes 26,07¢ 82,70t 39,70¢ 13,137 16,657
Income taxes (benefi 7,71¢ 29,42( (9,899 (4,68¢) 1,141
Net income 18,35 53,28¢ 49,60: 17,82¢ 15,51¢
Earnings per share of common stc

Basic net incom: 0.9C 2.62 2.52 0.9 0.87
Diluted net income 0.8¢ 2.5¢ 2.4t 0.92 0.8t

Depreciation and amortizatic 34,20« 24,29¢ 25,14 22,79( 23,82¢
Capital expenditure 35,51¢ 26,42¢ 15,52 13,77¢ 9,09
Mine development expenditur 421 7,121 — — 57
Year-end position
Working capital 189,89¢ 216,25: 158,06: 115,53: 108,79¢
Ratio of current assets to current liabilit 2.8t01 29to! 2410 2410 20to:
Property and equipmer

At cost 635,26¢ 583,96 557,86: 540,42( 540,93

Cost less depreciation and impairm 207,25 186,17 175,92¢ 177,06: 177,61¢
Total asset 581,89" 550,55 498,60t 402,70: 414,18:
Other lon¢-term liabilities 116,52« 69,14( 70,73 73,49: 60,527
Long-term debi 10,60¢ 10,00¢ 20,28: 32,91¢ 41,54¢
Shareholder’ equity 347,09° 353,71« 291,00( 211,47¢ 208,13t

Weighted-average number of shares of stock

outstanding

Basic 20,335,000 20,320,00 19,665,00 19,219,00 17,865,00
Diluted 20,543,000 20,612,00 20,234,00 19,371,00  18,164,00

Capital expenditures shown above include amourgstamder government contracts for which reimbuesgs
were received from the government in the amoun&8dd million and $3.5 million in 2008 and 2007spectively.

Changes in deferred tax valuation allowances dserkancome tax expense by $21.8 million, $8.1 ariliand
$9.3 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF F INANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We are an integrated producer of high performapeeialty engineered materials used in a variegiegtrical,
electronic, thermal and structural applicationsr Pducts are sold into numerous markets, inclgdin
telecommunications and computer, data storagespace and defense, automotive electronics, industri
components, appliance and medical.

After five straight years of growth, sales declif6.0 million from $955.7 million in 2007 to $9@9million in
2008. Sales from the majority of our businessew#ong for the first three quarters of the ydamand from
many of our key markets, including portions of takecommunications and computer, industrial comptme
medical and defense markets, was solid. Media gatieshe data storage market, however, declingqifstantly in
2008 due to a combination of factors. This fall-effupled with a slowdown across several of owgdanarkets in
the fourth quarter, largely due to the global eeniwocrisis and its impact on consumer spendingylted in sales
being 5% lower in 2008 than in 2007.

We acquired the operating assets of Techni-Met,iinthe first quarter 2008. Techni-Met's complerizen
technology expanded our presence in the medicdtehand provides opportunities for growth in othearkets.
Techni-Met provided an immediate benefit to margind profits in 2008.

The gross margin rate was 17% of sales in 2008ndiomm 21% in 2007. A large portion of this diffae was
due to a $15.2 million inventory write-down as aul of the significant decline in ruthenium markeices in 2008.
Increases in manufacturing overhead costs, thedtrgfanetal prices and other factors combined toentlban offse
the margin benefits from improved pricing in pontsoof our businesses.

Operating profit was $28.1 million in 2008, a deeliof $56.4 million from 2007. Profit in 2007 inded
several unusual items, including a net $12.7 mmlbenefit from ruthenium price and quality issued an
$8.7 million litigation settlement gain. In additito these items, profit declined in 2008 relatv007 due to the
lower sales volumes, the inventory write-down atfteofactors.

Cash flow from operations was a solid $76.8 millier2008, an improvement of $25.9 million over 200fe
strong cash flow allowed us to acquire Techni-Mat fund capital expenditures and stock repurchakéls only
increasing debt $6.3 million.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Millions, except for share data) 2008 2007 2006

Net sales $909.7 $955.7 $763.]
Operating profit 28.1 84.t 43.¢
Income before income tax 26.1 82.7 39.7
Net income 18.4 53.: 49.€
Diluted earnings per sha 0.8¢ 2.5¢ 2.4k

Salesof $909.7 million in 2008 were $46.0 million, or 5%wer than sales of $955.7 million in 2007 while
sales in 2007 were 25% higher than sales of $7#®8libn in 2006. International sales declined 23%2008 from
2007 after growing 57% in 2007 over 2006. Domesaies improved 9% in 2008 and 2007 over the reisjgegtior
years.

Sales of targets manufactured from ruthenium ahdranaterials for media applications in the dateaste
market declined $141.9 million, or 93%, in 2008nfrthe high levels seen in 2007. This decline wastdwguality
issues, a material specification change, lower hpeizes and softer market conditions, particuldakg in the year.
In addition, the sales value was reduced in 2008rasult of a growing trend away from manufactitisrgets with
Company-supplied material to manufacturing targetls customer-supplied material on a toll basisdMesales in
2007 were more than double the sales in 2006 arwliated for the majority of the growth in our togales in that

23




Table of Contents

year. This growth was fueled largely by our cust’ conversion to the perpendicular magnetic recaydin
technology used in the manufacture of hard diskedi

Growth in other portions of our business, the agitjon of Techni-Met and higher metal prices offagtortion
of the decline in media sales in 2008.

Sales to the telecommunications and computer mgrket 19% in both 2008 and 2007 over the respective
prior years. However, sales into this market slodedn in the fourth quarter 2008 as the global ecaio crisis
reduced consumer spending levels. Sales for defgeations, which were solid throughout 2007esgithened
again in 2008. Sales into the medical market gre0i08, in part due to the acquisition of TechnitNEemand
from the oil and gas market improved during 200d fam the first three quarters of 2008. During therth quarter
2008, demand softened due to a combination of ¢leéra in oil prices and Hurricane lke, which temgrdy
disrupted oil and gas operations in the southef Bales into the appliance market grew in ea¢heofast two
years. Automotive electronics sales declined ferdbcond year in a row, although improved salestire Europea
automotive market in the first half of 2008 helgedffset a portion of the weakness in the domestcket.

The development of new products and applicatiotsseristing and/oemerging markets has provided a ber
to sales across each of our four reportable segnetite last two years. One of these emerging etaik solar
energy. While our sales to this market were retdyigmall in 2008, solar energy applications offamerous growt
opportunities for our materials and technologiesnfreach of our main businesses.

Sales are affected by metal prices as change®aiopis metal and a portion of the changes in batelmrices
primarily copper, are passed on to our customespp€r prices declined significantly in the fourthagter 2008 but
on average for the year were higher than in 20€e® for gold and the other precious metals wewese volatile
in 2008 and on average were higher in 2008 tha . 2RAthenium prices fell significantly during 2088d on
average were well below 2007. In aggregate, theageemetal prices in 2007 were higher than theyeweR006.
We estimate that the net metal price impact in@@asles $50.7 million in 2008 and $36.8 millior2007 relative
to the respective prior year.

In the first quarter 2008, we reduced sales andwats receivable by $2.6 million in order to cotra error
from 2007. The error was discovered late in that fijuarter 2008 and resulted from inaccurate lg#lito one
customer during the second half of 2007. We deteethihat the error was not material in accordarite SAB 99
and APB No. 28 and therefore the 2007 financidkbstents were not adjusted. Correction of the exisw reduced
the gross margin by $2.6 million in the first quar2008.

Gross marginwas $152.1 million, or 17% of sales, in 2008, $¥98illion, or 21% of sales, in 2007 and
$162.2 million, or 21% of sales, in 2006. Margin®2D08 and 2007 were affected by the followingéssassociated
with the production and sale of ruthenium and eslgiroducts:

* In 2008, the market price of ruthenium declinedsigantly, from $415 per troy ounce at the begimgnof
the year to $100 per troy ounce at the end of dze gnd fell below the carrying cost of our invento
Accounting regulations require inventory to be ieatat the lower of its cost or market value. Agsult, we
recorded lower of cost or market charges to writerrlthe carrying value of our inventory $15.2 roitij
reducing margins and profits in 20(

 After a rapid increase in the market price of raiben late in 2006 and early 2007, we sold prodattsrices
significantly higher than their original materialst generating an additional $22.9 million of margi
primarily in the first half of 2007. We subsequgnthanged our pricing practices so that our pureipaice
for ruthenium forms the basis for the price chargedur customers. The price of ruthenium thenidedl
during 2007 and dropped below our purchase pridetlaa carrying value of the inventory. This resiliie
lower of cost or market charges totaling $4.5 willduring 2007. Margins were also reduced $5.7anilin
2007 as a result of quality returns from a key @ongr and related rework and scrap cc

Margins, therefore, declined by a net $27.9 milficom 2007 to 2008 as a result of the above factors

The lower sales volume in 2008 reduced marginshbgséimated $21.0 million as compared to 2007.
Manufacturing overhead costs were higher in 20@8 th 2007 due to increases in utilities, freighd ather items.
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The margin generated by Techni-Met, improved pgdmportions of the business and a favorable fpreurrency
translation effect offset a portion of the impatthe decline in volume, changes in product mix higher overhea
costs.

Gross margin improved $34.5 million in 2007 ove®&0The increased sales volume in 2007 generated an
estimated $23.7 million of additional margin; tineremental margin earned on the sales growth veasten the
prior-year margin rate as the majority of the salesease was in ruthenium products that had a gty metal
content and cost. We made improvements to thengriiwir our copper-based alloy products in the togdarter of
2006 that allowed for an increase in the percentdgepper-based sales subject to the copper asstirough.
The full year benefit of that improved pricing i6@7, however, was more than offset by an unfaverabange in
product mix, manufacturing inefficiencies and otfamtors. Gross margin in 2007 also benefited fthenitems
associated with the production and sale of rutharpuoducts described above.

Selling, general and administrative expeng@&G&A) were $104.8 million in 2008 (12% of sales),
$110.1 million in 2007 (12% of sales) and $111.0iom in 2006 (15% of sales). Expenses declinedis2008
from 2007 after declining 1% in 2007 from 2006.

The decreased expenses in 2008 as compared ta&fied from lower incentive compensation expense
offset in part by the addition of Techni-Met, highetirement costs and other factors. The sliglstide in expenses
in 2007 resulted primarily from lower incentive cpemsation expense, retirement plan costs and aigpor
administrative expenses offset in part by high&ingeand marketing costs, primarily overseas.

The incentive compensation expense on plans dasigneay in cash declined $8.2 million in 2008 fr@a607
and $3.3 million in 2007 from the 2006 level. Thwnges in the annual expense were caused by tlegrpance of
the individual businesses relative to their plastgectives. Stock-based compensation expense dingdhe
expense for performance shares, stock optionsk simgreciation rights and restricted stock, wa$ $illion in
2008, $3.9 million in 2007 and $1.7 million in 20081e decline in 2008 from 2007 was due to a losvgrense for
the performance shares as a result of our actulgpanjected performance.

Expenses for the U.S. defined benefit pension afahcertain other domestic retirement plans weré gllion
higher in 2008 than in 2007 and $1.3 million loweR007 than in 2006. The major causes for thestbffice in
expense between years included the plan valuasisunaptions for each year, the actual performantieegplans
and other factors. The majority of these retirenuasts were charged to SG&A expense, although tiopasf the
cost was included in cost of sales and a much smgadirtion in research and development expenses.

International SG&A expenses, excluding incentivenpensation, increased $0.6 million in 2008 over7200
largely due to the translation effect of the weakatar, and grew $2.9 million in 2007 over 2006da the
expansion of our overseas operations and increseded and marketing support efforts.

Domestic selling, marketing and distribution caat2008 were flat with 2007. These expenses inegckas
2007 and 2006 in order to support the sales grawtihose years. The increase in 2007 was offspaihby savings
from the closure of the New Jersey service ceaterih 2006. One-time closure costs totaled $1ltlomin 2006.

Corporate administrative expenses were up $3.0omilh 2008 compared to 2007. The increase waglarg
due to higher legal, compliance and informatiortextogy costs. Total administrative expenses aisceased in
2008 due to the acquisition of Techni-Met. Corperadministrative expenses declined $0.7 millio2007 from
2006.

Thelitigation settlement gairof $1.1 million in 2008 represents the favorablglement of a lawsuit, net of
legal fees, in which we sought recovery of our tsgimder a previously signed indemnity agreement.

The litigation gain of $8.7 million in 2007 resudtéom the settlement of a lawsuit against our ferinsurers
in the fourth quarter of that year. We originaliled the lawsuit in order to resolve a dispute dvaw insurance
coverage should be applied to incurred indemnigds and defense costs. The court previously baddsa
summary judgment in our favor in the third qua@66 and awarded us damages of $7.8 million. Tfendants
did not pay the award at that time and, due taitieertainty of the appeal process, we did not tetwe benefits of
that award in our Consolidated Financial Stateméssler the terms of the settlement, the insurgrseal to pay us
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$17.5 million and to provide enhanced insuranceecaye. This enhanced insurance includes occuriessed
coverage for years up to the date of the settlenmeeitding years when we did not have any bergilitelated
product liability insurance. We agreed to dismigstmad faith claim against the insurers, which setseduled to go
to trial in the first quarter 2008, as well as g®r damage award of $7.8 million.

We applied $1.1 million of the settlement agaimabants recorded on our Consolidated Balance Siseet a
recoverable amounts for previously incurred inddynand defense costs. The remaining $16.4 millias wredited
to income on the Consolidated Statement of IncaMincurred $7.7 million of legal fees pursuing tesuit and
negotiating the settlement agreement in 2007, iigld net pre-tax benefit to income of $8.7 million

One of the insurers paid $6.2 million, which reprged their share of the settlement, directly toattorneys
prior to December 31, 2007 in partial settlementwffees, reducing our receivable from the insueerd the
payable to our attorneys by the same amount. Trhaireng $11.3 million due to us was recorded ireoth
receivables on the Consolidated Balance Sheet@sa#mber 31, 2007 and was subsequently paidlimftie first
quarter 2008.

Research and development expen§e&D) were $6.5 million in 2008, $5.0 million in B@ and $4.2 million i
2006. R&D expenses were below 1% of sales in ehttedast three years, although we did increaseR&D
spending and activity levels in each of the lagt ywars. In the fourth quarter 2006, we consoldiaie R&D
laboratory that was in the Cleveland, Ohio faciiitjo the existing laboratory in EImore, Ohio irder to improve
efficiencies, response times and provide additisnaport to manufacturing operations. R&D efforts #cused on
developing new products and applications as wetlbasinuing improvements in our existing products.

Other-net expenséor each of the last three years is summarizeterfallowing table:

Income/ (Expense’

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Foreign exchange gains (loss $ (3.7 $0.6 $14
Amortization of intangible asse 35 (@2 (1.0
Metal consignment fee 45 20 (2.2
Directors deferred compensatic 1.2 0.3 (1.3
Derivative ineffectivenes (0.2 (0.3 0.2
Loss on sale of busine — (0.3 —
Other items 3. (1.3 (049
Total $(13.¢) $(5.8) $3.2

Foreign currency exchange gains and losses resuoithovements in value of the U.S. dollar againstduro,
yen and sterling and the maturity of hedge cordgrddie amortization of intangible assets increas@908 ovel
2007 due to the intangible assets purchased asfuhe TechniMet acquisition in the first quarter 2008. See NE
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Metalrfiaing fees are a function of the quantity and etgpkice of
precious metals held on consignment and the com&gnhfee rate.

The income or expense on the directors’ deferredpemsation plan is a function of the outstandireyesiin
the plan and movements in the market price of tagks In 2008, the share price decreased, whichae our
liability and created income. In 2007 and 2006,¢hare price increased, which increased our ltgtidi the plan ar
resulted in a higher expense. Derivative ineffegiass represents changes in the fair value ofieatiee financial
instrument that does not qualify for the favoraidelge accounting treatment. This derivative inseninmatured in
the fourth quarter 2008.

In the first quarter of 2007, we sold substantiallyof the operating assets and liabilities ofoGits Processing
Technology, Inc. (CPT), a wholly owned subsididrgttmanufactures thick film circuits, for $2.2 nah. CPT,
which was acquired in 1996, was a small operatiith Iimited growth opportunities. The loss on tladeswas
approximately $0.3 million.

Other-net expense also includes bad debt expeasie discounts, gains and losses on the sale af &igsets
and other non-operating items.

26




Table of Contents

Operating profitof $28.1 million was $56.4 million less than theoed-high operating profit of $84.5 million
generated in 2007. The lower of cost or marketgdam 2008 compared to the ruthenium pricing bémefi of the
lower of cost or market charge in 2007 and theedififices in litigation settlement gain between yaacsunted for
$35.5 million of the decline in profit. The remaigi$20.9 million decline in profit was due to thangin impact
from the lower sales volumes in 2008, increasedufzaturing overhead costs, higher amortization agpeforeign
currency exchange losses and other factors.

The operating profit in 2007 was $40.7 million hégtthan the operating profit of $43.8 million inG® The
aforementioned 2007 net ruthenium benefit anditigation settlement gain accounted for $21.4 wiilldf the
profit improvement in 2007 over 2006, while all etHactors improved operating profit a combined.$Xillion, ot
47%, over 2006.

Operating profit was 3% of sales in 2008, 9% oésah 2007 and 6% of sales in 2006.

Interest expensevas $2.0 million in 2008, $1.8 million in 2007 a&d.1 million in 2006. The average debt
level was higher throughout 2008 than in 2007, prily due to the Techni-Met acquisition, but thermge
borrowing rate was lower. The reduced expense @7 2@ compared to 2006 resulted primarily from lowe
outstanding debt levels in 2007.

Income before income taxesas $26.1 million in 2008 compared to $82.7 millinr2007. Income before
income taxes in 2007 was more than twice the incoefere income taxes of $39.7 million generate?da6.

The income tax expense (benefit) for 2008, 20072046, including the movement in the deferred tax
valuation allowance, is summarized as follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006

Tax expense prior to valuation allowar $75 $28f $11¢
Deferred tax valuation allowance (bene 0.2 0.6 (21.§)
Total tax expense (benef $7.7 $29.4 $ (9.9

In calculating the tax expense prior to movememthé valuation allowance, the effects of percemtag
depletion, executive compensation and foreign soimcome and deductions were major causes of ffexatices
between the effective and statutory rates fornaéié years. The production deduction was also amsapse for the
difference between the effective and statutorysrate?008 and 2007. In 2008, the effective rate lvagred as a
result of a reduction in the tax reserves in acancé with Financial Interpretation No. 48. See N®ote the
Consolidated Financial Statements for a reconmliabf the statutory and effective tax rates.

In 2006, we reversed $21.8 million to income, whiepresented substantially all of the domestictaed
majority of the foreign deferred tax valuation alemce remaining on the balance sheet that washatigirecorded
in 2002 in accordance with Statement No. 109, “Ardimg for Income Taxes”. The valuation allowancasw
initially recorded because we determined that #ferded tax assets were impaired due to cumulapegating
losses at that time. The valuation allowance wasséetd up and down in subsequent years dependimy up
utilization of the assets and other factors. Inftheth quarter 2006, as a result of improved daud projected
earnings, we demonstrated that it was more likedy thot that we could utilize our deferred tax tsaad the
valuation allowance was reversed accordingly. Amaterial valuation allowance associated with otnsgliary in
the United Kingdom was not reversed and remainetthemalance sheet.

In 2008 and 2007, we recorded deferred tax assstximted with certain state tax carryforwards eedaction
to the tax expense. However, the benefit in eaal was offset by the recording of valuation allosesmdue to the
uncertainty of realizing these assets.

The valuation allowance did not affect any tax pawis or refunds in the three years presented.

Net incomewas $18.4 million, or $0.89 per share diluted, @&, $53.3 million, or $2.59 per share diluted, in
2007 and $49.6 million, or $2.45 per share dilute®006.

Net income and earnings per share did not growgtimmately with income before income taxes in 2687
compared to 2006 due to the favorable reversdi®®$21.8 million valuation allowance in 2006.
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Segment Disclosure:

The Company has four reportable segments. WilliAthsanced Materials Inc. (WAM) and its subsidiarés
reported as Advanced Material Technologies andiSssvAlloy Products, including Brush Resources, lisc
reported as Specialty Engineered Alloys. BerylliBmducts is known as Beryllium and Beryllium Comifess
while Technical Materials, Inc. (TMI) is reported Bngineered Material Systems. Results by segmergt@wn in
Note M to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

The All Other column in Note M includes our parenmpany expenses, other corporate charges and the
operating results of BEM Services, Inc., a whollyned subsidiary that provides administrative andricial
oversight services to our other businesses ontgphas basis, and Zentrix Technologies Inc., a Wwholned
subsidiary that manufactures electronic packagdwo#rer products. The All Other column shows arrafieg loss
of $2.4 million in 2008 compared to an operatingfiprof $5.0 million in 2007. The change betweemngeis due to
combination of the difference in litigation settlent gains between periods, increased corporate,doster charge
out to the business units and other factors offspart by reduced incentive compensation and ifferdnce in the
directors’ deferred compensation expense.

Advanced Material Technologies and Services

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net sales $466.. $519.¢ $343.c
Operating profit 10.2 59.4 30.5

Advanced Material Technologies and Serviaesnufactures precious, non-precious and speciatalm
products, including vapor deposition targets, frdithi@ssemblies, clad and precious metal prefohigs
temperature braze materials, ultra-fine wire, sgcinorganic materials, optics and performancatiogs. Major
markets for these products include data storagdicaleand the wireless, semiconductor, photonictayiuid
sectors of the microelectronics market. An in-hogmery and metal cleaning operations allow far teclaim of
precious metals from internally generated or cust@scrap. Due to the high cost of precious matadiucts, we
emphasize quality, delivery performance and cust@@evice in order to attract and maintain appidse.
Development of new products and new technologi&sysfor long-term growth. This segment has domgesti
facilities in New York, Connecticut, Wisconsin a@dlifornia and international facilities in Asia akdrope.

Sales from Advanced Material Technologies and $eswvere $466.4 million in 2008, a decline of 106
2007, while sales of $519.9 million in 2007 wer& &5 million, or 51%, higher than sales of $343illiom in
2006.

We adjust our selling prices daily to reflect thierent cost of the precious and various non-precioatals
sold. The cost of the metal is generally a passdifin to the customer and we generate a margin ofabrication
efforts irrespective of the type or cost of the ahesed in a given application. Therefore, the enst mix of metals
sold will affect sales but not necessarily the nmadpllars generated by those sales. The net isergametal prices
increased sales by an estimated $45.8 million 082tbmpared to 2007. The higher metal price passigh offset
portion of the decline in sales due to lower unded volumes. In 2007, metal prices on average \magker than in
2006, accounting for an estimated $29.7 milliothef sales increase in that year compared to 2006.

The majority of the decline in sales in 2008 ad aglthe growth in sales in 2007 was due to rutimarproduct
manufactured by the Brewster, New York facility foedia applications within the data storage marRet. product
development efforts in recent years allowed usafmiure a share of this growing market, particuladycustomers
were converting over to the perpendicular magrretiording technology in late 2006 and the firsf b&2007.
However, after a quality issue and a change in nagtgpecifications, sales declined in the secaalfldf 2007 from
the first half of that year. The ramifications bése and other material supply issues continuedadmiolg with
weaker market demand in the second half of 200&altidg prices, caused sales to decline in 2008.

Sales for media applications in 2008 were $14118anilower than in 2007. The total volume shippedferms
of troy ounces, decreased 70% in 2008 from 2004 yeas less than the decrease in the sales valaddition to th
lower volumes shipped, the sales value of shipmeatsalso reduced in 2008 as a result of a shtftermaterial
supply arrangements. In 2007, the majority of oedia sales were manufactured from material we
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purchased. In 2008, due to our customers’ highenitim inventory positions, the majority of theskesan 2008
were manufactured from customer-supplied metal tl dasis, which reduced the quantity of metabiiced to
customers. We estimate that this trend toward usirsgpmer-supplied material accounted for $26.4anibof the
reduction in media sales in 2008.

While media market sales declined in 2008, sales fother portions of this segment’s business welid.s
Sales of vapor deposition targets, wire and othedyrcts into the wireless and photonic sectorfief t
microelectronics market improved significantly i8B and 2007 over the respective prior years; hewelemand
softened in the fourth quarter 2008 as key custempashed orders out until 2009 in response toltdvedewn in
consumer spending.

Sales of lids from Thin Film Technology, Inc. (TEBwholly owned subsidiary, grew significantlytioth
2008 and 2007; sales in 2008 were double the fales2006. This growth was fueled by strong demfaach the
defense and medical markets. Sales of inorganiciciads and other materials from CERAC, incorporated
(CERAC), a wholly owned subsidiary, had double-digowth rates in each of the last two years. Tieaterials
are used in optics, solar energy and other apmitsit

The acquisition of Techni-Met added to the segnsesdles in 2008. Techni-Met manufactures precision
precious metal coated flexible polymer films useidnarily for medical applications. Prior to the agsjtion,
Techni-Met was a customer of ours, as they soutteednajority of their precious metal requirememtsf our
Buffalo, New York operations. The acquisition alkvus to capture the value added generated byapeiation. h
addition, their technology provides potential lalegm growth opportunities in various markets.

Advanced Material Technologies and Services geeérgitoss margins of $58.0 million (12% of sales}008,
$100.7 million (19% of sales) in 2007 and $65.8lioml (19% of sales) in 2006.

The $42.7 million decline in gross margin in 208&1 2007 was caused largely by the lower saleswetu
from the Brewster facility to the data storage neadnd the $15.2 million of lower of cost or markbarges on
ruthenium inventories. Margins were also lower @& as a result of the previously discussed nef/&hilion
benefit (the $22.9 million benefit from the saletloé low cost ruthenium inventory at higher marétes, the
$4.5 million lower of cost or market charge and $8e7 million quality charge) that flowed throudtist segment’s
margins in 2007. Manufacturing overhead costs aeed $12.7 million in 2008 over 2007 as a resuthef
expansion of several facilities, the addition othiei-Met and other factors. Offsetting a portion of #nesfavorabl
movements was a growth in margins from variousipestof the business, including CERAC, TFT andBhfalo
operations. The acquisition of Techni-Met providechargin benefit in 2008 as well.

Gross margin grew $34.9 million in 2007 over 20@6addition to the net $12.7 million ruthenium béise
margins improved $22.2 million in 2007 over 200& da the benefits of the higher sales volumes asidjhat
favorable change in the product mix partially offisg a $2.9 million increase in manufacturing oest.

SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses from Advanced Maltd&echnologies and Services were $47.7 million
(10% of sales) in 2008, $41.3 million (8% of sales2007 and $35.3 million (10% of sales) in 2006.

SG&A and R&D expenses incurred by Techni-Met tale#2.1 million in 2008. International expenses grew
$0.5 million in 2008 and $1.7 million in 2007 owlEe respective prior years as a result of increasédity and the
creation of new overseas entities. Incentive coragtion expense declined $1.5 million in 2008 dutaéolower
profitability while the incentive expense was $tBlion higher in 2007 than in 2006. R&D costs ieased in each
of the last two years in order to support the aurtaisiness and future growth. Domestic adminiseatosts have
increased in each of the last two years in ordsufiport the larger organization while corporatarghs were high:
in each year as well.

Amortization of intangible assets increased $2.Mianiin 2008 over 2007 primarily as a result oé tRechni-
Met acquisition. Amortization was $0.1 million higihin 2007 than in 2006. Metal financing fees iasex
$2.5 million in 2008 due to the inclusion of Teclét and changes in the market value of the mbtatal
financing fees in 2007 were unchanged from 2006.

Operating profit from Advanced Material Technolagand Services was $10.3 million, a decline of
$49.1 million from the profit of $59.4 million in®7. The lower profit resulted primarily from thalfoff in
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media market sales and the related ruthenium iovgiigsues. Operating profit in 2007 was $28.9iomlhigher
than the profit of $30.5 million in 2006. Operatipmfit was 2% of sales in 2008, 11% in 2007 andi@Z006.

Specialty Engineered Alloys

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net sales $299.¢ $290.C $275.¢
Operating profit 5.8 7.€ 7.8

Specialty Engineered Alloysyanufactures and sells three main product families:

Srip products, the larger of the product families, include thauge precision strip and thin diameter rod and
wire. These copper and nickel beryllium alloys pdeva combination of high conductivity, high reliétly and
formability for use as connectors, contacts, svés;hielays and shielding. Major markets for stripdpicts include
telecommunications and computer, automotive elaittsyp appliance and medical;

Bulk products are copper and nickel-based alloys manufacturgdbte, rod, bar, tube and other customized
forms that, depending upon the application, mayigesuperior strength, corrosion or wear resigattermal
conductivity or lubricity. While the majority of likuproducts contain beryllium, a growing portiontaflk products’
sales is from non-beryllium-containing alloys agsult of product diversification efforts. Appligans for bulk
products include plastic mold tooling, oil and gladling components, bearings, bushings, weldindst@and
undersea telecommunications housing equipment; and,

Beryllium hydroxide is produced by Brush Resources Inc., a wholly owsdabidiary, at its milling operations
in Utah from its bertrandite mine and purchasedlt@e. The hydroxide is used primarily as a rawemal input
for strip and bulk products and, to a lesser extanthe Beryllium and Beryllium Composites segmé&nternal
sales of hydroxide from the Utah operations wess than 3% of Specialty Engineered Alloys’ totdésan each of
the three most recent years.

Strip and bulk products are manufactured at féaeslin Ohio and Pennsylvania and are distributed
internationally through a network of company-owsetlvice centers and outside distributors and agents

Sales from Specialty Engineered Alloys of $299.9iom were $9.9 million, or 3%, higher than salds o
$290.0 million in 2007 as a result of improved pricand mix, the translation effect on foreign emcy
denominated sales and the pass through of highed prices. Sales in 2007 grew $14.4 million, or,5*er sales «
$275.6 million in 2006. The increase in sales iA2Was largely due to an increase in the portiosatés subject to
a metal price pass through and higher metal prisakes of bulk products increased in 2008 and 2€tilé strip
product sales declined in both 2008 and 2007 dwerdspective prior years.

Sales of bulk products to the industrial componemsket have increased in each of the last twosy&dris
growth was due in part to higher shipments fomaaill gas applications which were partially drivernigher energy
prices. Demand from the oil and gas market slowedndin the fourth quarter 2008 as previously nofdte
continued development of applications utilizing Amaryllium-containing alloys in the heavy equipmeattor have
contributed to the growth in shipments in 2008 26d7 as well. Sales of materials for underseatet@cunication:
applications increased in 2008 as did sales farspace and defense applications.

Demand from the telecommunications and computekebdor strip products, particularly for hand set
applications, softened in 2007 and remained safuighout 2008. Demand from the automotive marketkeaed
approximately 10% in 2008 as compared to 2007 aftarg relatively flat in 2007 as compared to 20B&les into
the appliance market, which is a smaller markesfop products, grew 6% in 2008 after growing 52007 over
2006.

Although total sales were higher in each of thétlas years, volumes (i.e., pounds shipped) dedlindboth
2008 and 2007 from the respective prior year. $trq@uct shipment volumes declined 13% in 2008 fthen2007
level after declining 11% in 2007 from 2006. Shiprtseof both the higher beryllium-containing and éow
beryllium-containing strip products were down irtlea@f the last two years while volumes of thin déer rod and
wire products increased modestly in each of thietles years. Bulk product shipment volumes improéslin 200t
over 2007 after growing 3% in 2007 over 2006.
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Sales of new products contributed to the growt8pecialty Engineered Alloy sales in each of thetlas
years, including products for undersea telecomnatitins and homeland securi

The gross margin on sales by Specialty Engineetiey#totaled $59.6 million in 2008, an improvemeit
$1.4 million over the gross margin of $58.2 millimn2007. The gross margin was 20% of sales in peérs. In
2006, the gross margin was $65.9 million and 24%eadds.

The margin growth in 2008 was due to the benefitt@improved pricing and mix offset in part byetmargin
loss on the lower sales volume, higher costs tifie§, freight and certain chemicals and lowerdarction volumes.
The reduced gross margin in 2007 was caused patiiathe lower sales volumes, an unfavorable chénghe
product mix and yield and performance and otherufearturing issues at the Elmore facility. Thesddessmore
than offset the benefits from the increased metaépass-through as compared to 2006.

We increased the percentage of sales subject jpettsethrough of changes in copper prices in tbergkhalf
of 2006. The cost is passed on to customers bgsmuthe cost at the time of receipt of the ordeeiQime, our
selling price and purchase price are in balancetitming differences between the receipt and aduléliment of
the order can impact margins in a given periodeeigfly when there is a significant movement in tharket price
of copper.

Total SG&A, R&D and net-other expenses grew $3.tlionifrom $50.7 million in 2007 to $53.8 milliomi
2008. Expenses were 18% of sales in 2008 and 1 &adle$ in 2007. In 2006, expenses totaled $57 Ibmibr
21% of sales. The growth in expenses in 2008 wiasapily due to higher foreign currency exchangeséss
increased incentive compensation accruals andhehlzpd debt expense. R&D efforts and expensesared
slightly as well. These higher costs were partiaffget by lower corporate charges in 2008.

The $7.2 million decline in expenses in 2007 was fdua combination of lower incentive compensatiod
corporate charges and foreign currency losses.t@reeeosts associated with the closure of the Nensey service
center added $1.1 million to SG&A expenses in 2006.

Operating profit from Specialty Engineered Alloyectined $1.8 million from $7.6 million in 2007 to
$5.8 million in 2008 as the increase in expenseerniwn offset the growth in gross margins. Opegaprofit was
$7.9 million in 20086.

Beryllium and Beryllium Composites

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net sales $63.6  $60.5 $57.€
Operating profit 8.4 7.8 7.4

Beryllium and Beryllium Compositemanufactures berylliurhased metals and metal matrix composites in
sheet, foil and a variety of customized forms atEimore, Ohio and Fremont, California faciliti#fiese materials
are used in applications that require high stifénasd/or low density and they tend to be premprioed due to the
unique combination of properties. This segment alaoufactures beryllia ceramics through Brush Caram
Products Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary in Tucsbrizona. Defense and government-related applinatio
including aerospace, is the largest market for Barg and Beryllium Composites, while other marks¢sved
include medical, telecommunications and computectenics (including acoustics), optical scannigeneral
industrial markets and automotive.

Sales from Beryllium and Beryllium Composites dgrik007 and 2006 included shipments under two distin
non-repeating programs — the James Webb Spacecopke$¢JWST) for NASA and the Joint European Torus
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(JET), a nuclear fusion experimental reactor. A many of the segment sales for these two projedis;ivwere
complete as of year-end 2007, and all other custoieas follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
JWST $ — $08& $2¢
JET — 2.3 5.¢
All other 63.€ 57.2 48.¢€

Total net sale $63.¢ $60.t $57.¢

While total Beryllium and Beryllium Composites saiacreased 5% in both 2008 and 2007, sales to all
customers excluding the JWST and JET grew 11% @82Md 17% in 2007 over the respective prior yens
growth was largely due to increased demand frond#iense market. Sales for defense platforms, snagrospace
and missile systems, improved in the last threetgrsof 2008 after a sluggish first quarter. Defepales were
strong throughout 2007 and the second half of 2006 a weak first half of 2006. Sales for medaadl industrial x-
ray applications were down slightly in 2008 aftecrieasing in 2007 over 2006. Sales for acoustitiGgipns grew
slightly in 2008 and this market represents a lgergs growth opportunity for beryllium products. 8galof new
products, including applications using near nepsthtachnologies, also contributed to the sales traw2008 and
2007. Sales of ceramics improved 3% in 2008 ov8i7 2ter declining 12% in 2007 from 2006.

Beryllium and Beryllium Composites generated a gmosirgin of $19.6 million (31% of sales) in 2008,
$20.1 million (33% of sales) in 2007 and $18.7 imill(32% of sales) in 2006. The decline in margm2008 as
compared to 2007 resulted from an unfavorable prochix shift, due to the completion of the JWST did
projects and increased sales for applicationstyfpadally carry lower margins, higher metal feeastcosts and an
increase in manufacturing overhead costs partidfget by the margin benefit of the higher salesir®. The
margin growth in 2007 over 2006 was due to thedm@ntal margin generated by the higher sales vayradially
offset by an unfavorable change in the product mix.

SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses were $11.2 mil{8% of sales) in 2008, $12.2 million (20% of sl
2007 and $11.3 million (20% of sales) in 2006. Teeline in expenses in 2008 was due to lower inoe/xpense
and corporate charges. Selling and other admitiigraosts were unchanged while R&D increased 8ligts a
result of higher activity levels. The growth in S&&xpenses in 2007 was partially due to additi@aaks to
support the sales growth. Expenses also increas2eli7 and 2006 due to implementing a programveshin
people and processes that is designed to imprevinting, coordination and efficiency of the entineler
fulfillment process, from application design to erghlacement to shipment and billing.

Operating profit from Beryllium and Beryllium Comsgites of $8.4 million in 2008 was a 7% improvemever
the $7.8 million operating profit generated in 2@&7the reduction in incentive compensation andraikpenses
more than offset the lower gross margin. The pimf2007 was $0.4 million higher than the 2006 afiag profit.
Operating profit was 13% of sales in each yearquesl.

Engineered Material Systems

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net sales $65.¢ $70.¢  $68.7
Operating profit 5.6 4.7 2.7

Engineered Material Systemaclude clad inlay and overlay metals, precious laase metal electroplated
systems, electron beam welded systems, contoutgutalystems and solder-coated metal systems. Hpesgalty
strip metal products provide a variety of therne#dctrical or mechanical properties from a surfaea or particular
section of the material. Our cladding and platiagabilities allow for a precious metal or brazitigyato be appliec
to a base metal only where it is needed, redutiagrtaterial cost to the customer as well as progidiesign
flexibility. Major applications for these produdtelude connectors, contacts and semiconductoes largest
markets for Engineered Material Systems are autemetectronics, telecommunications and computer
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electronics and data storage. The energy and defersmedical electronic markets are smaller et @irther
growth opportunities. Engineered Material Systemesmaanufactured at our Lincoln, Rhode Island fgcili

Engineered Material Systems’ sales of $65.9 millin2008 declined 7% from sales of $70.9 millior2D07.
Sales in 2007 improved 3% over sales in 2006. dhel sales in 2008 were primarily due to weak dedfaom the
automotive electronics market. Improved demand ftloenEuropean automotive market in the first hA2@08 had
helped to offset a portion of the weakness in tt®. tharket, but the European market weakened irgbend half
of the year. The automotive electronics market waaker in 2007 than in 2006 as well.

Sales of materials for disk drive applications, ethivere strong during the first three quartersGff&, softened
in the fourth quarter 2008 and were essentiallyhanged for the full year 2008 compared to 2007esSaf this new
product in 2007 were more than double the sal29@% and were the main contributor to the sales/tjrdor this
segment in 2007. Sales of other new products, diregufuses and switches, and sales for new apyitain the
energy and medical markets also grew in each dfdtawo years over the respective prior periods.

Engineered Material Systems generated a gross mangsales of $13.5 million in 2008 compared to
$13.0 million in 2007 and $11.3 million in 2006. Agercent of sales, gross margin improved to 2f.%&les in
2008 from 18% in 2007 and 17% in 2006. The margawgn 2008 despite the lower sales due to reduced
manufacturing and commodity costs. In additionldgeand other manufacturing efficiencies improvedihning in
the fourth quarter 2007 and continued during 2@0Bortion of these manufacturing improvements resufrom
recent capital investments. The higher sales dadaable change in the product mix in 2007 cownitell to the
margin growth in that year as well.

SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses from Engineeretelia Systems declined $0.7 million in 2008 from
2007 after declining $0.3 million in 2007 from 200@e decline in expenses in 2008 was due to loweentive
compensation expense and corporate charges. Liegjalcaministrative costs were lower in 2007 thaB(d66. In
2006, these costs were higher due to efforts teldpwa joint venture in China; we decided not tespe this effort
any further early in the first quarter 2007. Inéemtcompensation costs were higher in 2007 tha® 200 this
increase was largely offset by lower corporate gésr

Operating profit generated by Engineered Matenat&mns improved to $5.9 million (9% of sales) i®&0rom
$4.7 million (7% of sales) in 2007. Operating prafi2007 was a $2.0 million improvement over thefip of
$2.7 million (4% of sales) earned in 2006.

International Sales and Operations

We operate in worldwide markets and our internai@ustomer base continues to expand due to the
development of various foreign nations’ economias the relocation of U.S. businesses overseasinfarnational
operations are designed to provide a cost-effectigthod of capturing the growing overseas demanduo
products.

The Advanced Material Technologies and Servicemseg has operations in Singapore, Taiwan, the
Philippines and Ireland and recently constructedifies in China and the Czech Republic. Thesdifess provide ¢
combination of light manufacturing, finishing opgoas and distribution services.

Brush International has service centers in GermBngland, Japan and Singapore that primarily facuthe
distribution of materials from Specialty Engineefdtbys while also providing additional local suppto portions
of our other businesses.

We also have branch sales offices and other opegain various countries, including the Republi€bina,
Korea and Taiwan, and we utilize an established/oidt of independent distributors and agents througlthe
world.
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Total international sales, including sales froneinational operations as well as direct exportftoe U.S.,
were as follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006

From international operatiol $217.1 $241.. $178.C
Exports from U.S. operatiot 102.1 171.€ 85.1
Total international sale $319.2 $413.C $263.
Percent of total net sal 35% 43% 35%

The international sales presented in the above &gl included in individual segment sales figymreviously
discussed. The majority of international salestarthe Pacific Rim, Europe and Canada.

After growing 73% in 2007 over 2006, Asian saleslided 34% in 2008 from 2007. Both the decline @®2
and the growth in 2007 were primarily due to ruibemproduct sales to the media market. Internatisakes
outside of Asia grew slightly in 2008 and 2007 otrex respective prior periods.

Telecommunications and computer, data storage @todnative electronics are the largest internationatkets
for our products. The appliance market for Spegighgineered Alloys is a more significant marketyarily in
Europe, than it is domestically while governmerd defense applications are not as prevalent oveeethey are
the U.S. Our market share is smaller in the oversgarkets than it is domestically and, given thenma&conomic
growth potential for the international economiesjuding the continued transfer of U.S. businessverseas
locations, the international markets may presesafgr long-term growth opportunities. We believat tinlarge
portion of the long-term international growth witbme from Asia.

Sales from the European and certain Asian opeation denominated in the local currency. Expodasfthe
U.S. and the balance of the sales from the Asiamatipns are typically denominated in U.S. doll&xscal
competition generally limits our ability to adjustlling prices upwards to compensate for short-temfavorable
exchange rate movements. In 2008, the dollar’'sevliictuated significantly against the currenciesvhich we sell,
but on average, it was weaker than in 2007; thiadalas also weaker on average in 2007 than itiwa806. The
favorable effect on the translation of foreign emey sales was $8.0 million in 2008 as compar&0@y and
$4.1 million in 2007 as compared to 2006.

We have a hedge program with the objective of miziimg the impact of fluctuating currency valuesaur
consolidated operating profit. See Critical AccangtPolicies.

Legal Proceedings

One of our subsidiaries, Brush Wellman Inc., ifeddant in proceedings in various state and fédetats
brought by plaintiffs alleging that they have cated chronic beryllium disease or other lung ctiowl as a result
of exposure to beryllium. Plaintiffs in berylliunases seek recovery under negligence and varioes letial
theories and seek compensatory and punitive damagesny cases of an unspecified sum. Spousasyifclaim
loss of consortium.

The following table summarizes the associated #gtivith beryllium cases.

December 31

2008 2007 2006
Total cases pending 9 9 13
Total plaintiffs (including spouse 36 31 54
Number of claims (plaintiffs) filed during period@ed 1(6) 0(0) 2(3)
Number of claims (plaintiffs) settled during perieddec 0(0) 1(1) 1(2)
Aggregate cost of settlements during period endelas in thousand: $— $ 10C $ 20
Number of claims (plaintiffs) otherwise dismiss 1(1) 3(22) 1(1)

Settlement payment and dismissal for a single gesenot occur in the same period.
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Additional beryllium claims may arise. Managemeelidves that we have substantial defenses in tteeses
and intends to contest the suits vigorously. Emgédogases, in which plaintiffs have a high burdeprobf, have
historically involved relatively small losses ta O$ird-party plaintiffs (typically employees of stomers or
contractors) face a lower burden of proof than mipleyees or former employees, but these casesaeraly
covered by varying levels of insurance.

Although it is not possible to predict the outcoofi¢he litigation pending against our subsidiaaes us, we
provide for costs related to these matters whessik probable and the amount is reasonably dstmatigation
is subject to many uncertainties, and it is possibat some of these actions could be decided ardhly in
amounts exceeding our reserves. An unfavorableomeor settlement of a pending beryllium case ditexhal
adverse media coverage could encourage the commentef additional similar litigation. We are unaibb
estimate our potential exposure to unasserted slaim

Based upon currently known facts and assuming ctdiéity of insurance, we do not believe that resion of
the current and future beryllium proceedings wél/ a material adverse effect on our financial @¢ador cash
flow. However, our results of operations could batenially affected by unfavorable results in onemare of these
cases. As of December 31, 2008, two purported eleissns were pending.

The balances recorded on the Consolidated BalameetSassociated with beryllium litigation werda®ows:

December 31,

(Millions) 2008 2007

Asset (liability)

Reserve for litigatiol $2.0) $(1.3
Insurance recoverab 1.7 1.0

The reserve and the recoverable changed by equmalramin 2008 due to changes in the outstandingscas
There were no settlement payments made by ourdrsor us during 2008 for beryllium litigation.

Regulatory Matters. Standards for exposure to beryllium are undeiereby OSHA and by other
governmental and private standard-setting organizet One result of these reviews will likely bemagtringent
worker safety standards. Some organizations, ssitheaCalifornia Occupational Health and Safety Adstration
and the American Conference of Governmental Inddtlygienists, have adopted standards that are istoingent
than the current standards of OSHA. The developnpeaposal or adoption of more stringent standerdg affect
buying decisions by the users of beryllium-contagnproducts. If the standards are made more strtraged/or our
customers or other downstream users decide to egtied use of beryllium-containing products, cesults of
operations, liquidity and financial condition coudd materially adversely affected. The impact &f gotential
adverse effect would depend on the nature and eatéhe changes to the standards, the cost afityabimeet the
new standards, the extent of any reduction in costaise and other factors. The magnitude of thisrpial adverse
effect cannot be estimated.

FINANCIAL POSITION
Working Capital

Net cash from operationsas $76.8 million in 2008, an improvement of $2%idlion over the cash flow from
operations of $50.9 million in 2007. Cash flow fraperations was $38.8 million in 2006. In eachhef last three
years, cash flow from operations was strongerénstrcond half of the year than it was in the fiedf. Cash flown
from operations in the second half of 2008 was B1illion, or 92% of the total for the year. Casbwf from
operations in 2008 improved over 2007 despite gk in net income as a result of changes in ingrkapital
levels and the benefits of depreciation and amatrtn.

As previously noted, changes in the cost of prexcamd base metals are essentially passed on tonoerst
Therefore, while sudden movements in the price efiats can cause a temporary imbalance in our ezglipts and
payments in either direction, once prices stabitizecash flow tends to stabilize as well.
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Cash balances totaled $18.5 million at year-en@2@0npared to $31.7 million at year-end 2007. Aiparof
the cash on hand, increased borrowings and thefloasifrom operations were used to fund the acdoisiof
Techni-Met, capital expenditures and the repurclodsbares during 2008. Cash increased $16.1 mili2007 as
the cash flow from operations coupled with the pexts from the exercise of stock options were nfae €nough
to fund capital expenditures and reduce debt inytear.

Accounts receivablef $89.8 million at December 31, 2008 was $7.6iomll or 8%, below the receivable
balance of $97.4 million at year-end 2007. The e@sed balance in 2008 was mainly due to the loales ¥olume
in the fourth quarter. However, receivables diddaetline proportionately with the change in salethe days sales
outstanding (DSO), a measure of the average timed collect receivables, slowed down approxehafive
days as of the end of the 2008 from the end of 208& increased DSO in 2008 was still within thenmal
historical range of our collection period.

Accounts written off to bad debt expense increase&08 over the prior year but writdfs remained relative
minor. The increase was largely due to the bankyufiling of one customer who purchased scrap foma of our
operations. We closely monitor our accounts red#é/aging and revise the credit terms offered toomstomers as
conditions warrant in order to minimize our exp@&sur

Accounts receivable grew $10.9 million, or 13%2007 as a result of higher sales volumes as the DSO
improved approximately one day in 2007 over yeat-2006.

Inventoriestotaled $156.7 million as of year-end 2008, a deseeof $8.5 million, or 5%, from the balance of
$165.2 million as of year-end 2007. Inventory tymsneasure of how efficiently inventory is utilizeslowed down
approximately 10% at year-end 2008 from year-er@/2We reduced inventories approximately 11% inftlueth
quarter 2008 from the levels at the end of thalthirarter 2008 as a result of the slowdown in mssin

Inventories at the Brewster facility within the Aahced Material Technologies and Services segmetindd
in response to the lower sales volumes and au# céghe $15.2 million lower of cost or markefastment. This
decline was partially offset by an increase in imtegies within the Specialty Engineered Alloys segin Those
inventories grew approximately 13% in 2008 duentvéased mining activity at the Utah operations @sd result
of additional purchases of copper late in the foguarter to allow for portions of the productiatiagity at the
Elmore facility to be campaigned for scheduling affitiency purposes in the fourth quarter 2008 fursd quarter
20009.

The inventory balance at year-end 2007 was 9% hitjlae inventories at the prior year-end. Desyite t
growth in the inventory balance, inventory turngioved in 2007. The majority of the increase ineimories in
2007 was in Advanced Material Technologies and iBesv This segment maintains the majority of iescpyus
metals on off-balance sheet arrangements. Howevagnificant portion of its sales growth in 200&san products
that use other metals that are owned and not lretosignment, including ruthenium.

The decline in the cost of copper, nickel and ussiprecious metals reduced the value of inventorg o
first-out (FIFO) basis in 2008 while the higher cost olfdgncreased the value of inventory on a FIFOsdsi 2007
the inventory value of these metals increased Bl@® basis due to higher metal prices. The impéthiechanging
metal prices was partially offset by the use ofl&st-in, first-out (LIFO) valuation method for gemetals, limiting
the impact on the fluctuation in inventory carryivejue on the balance sheet as the LIFO proces$seasillt in the
current prices being charged to the income stateree Critical Accounting Policies.

Prepaid expensesincluding insurance, income taxes, property targas, manufacturing supplies and other
items, totaled $23.7 million as of year-end 2008irerease of $6.0 million over the balance of $Iillion as of
yea-end 2007. The increase was primarily due to inctares. Prepaid income taxes, which represent oyergiat:
of taxes to be refunded or applied to the 2009litgbtotaled $4.5 million at December 31, 200Bete was no
prepaid income tax balance at December 31, 200&asere in a tax liability position and did not leaan
overpayment. Prepaid expenses also grew in 2008dtieanges in the fair value of euro and stertiagvative
contracts. Prepaid expenses increased $3.7 mitli@d07 over the balance at the prior year end.

Other assetsvere $34.4 million at yeaend 2008, an increase of $22.6 million over thamed of $11.8 milliol
at year-end 2007. This increase was primarily dube intangible assets acquired with Techni-
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Met as well as an increase to the insurance reableaccount offset in part by the amortizatiothef existing and
acquired intangible assets. Other assets declib&driillion in 2007 primarily as a result of the antization of
intangible assets. The insurance recoverable atemsalso reduced as a result of the legal sedthéim the fourth
quarter and other changes to the individual outstencases during the year.

Accounts payablef $28.0 million as of December 31, 2008 was $0illan higher than the prior year-end
balance of $27.1 million while the 2007 balance %&$ million lower than 2006 year-end. The chaimgealances
between years was primarily due to the timing ofrpants.

Accrued salaries and wageteclined $11.6 million in 2008 from 2007 after giog$2.1 million in 2007 over
the 2006 year-end level. The changes in the balanoeth years were due to changes in the incectivepensation
accruals, manpower levels and other related factors

Unearned revenue which is a liability representing billings to ¢amers in advance of the shipment of
product, was $0.1 million as of December 31, 2008 $2.6 million as of December 31, 2007.

Other long-term liabilitieswere $19.4 million as of year-end 2008 compare$lith 6 million at year-end 2007.
Long-term unearned income increased $8.0 milliodd@8 and $3.5 million in 2007 for reimbursememntder a
government funded capital expenditure program.@#&al Accounting Policies. Other increases i®&0including
an increase to the legal reserve and rent accrualg, offset by a reduction to the long-term partid the incentive
compensation accrual.

Total other long-term liabilities were unchange®@07 from the year-end 2006 balance. The incriease
unearned income in 2007 was offset by reductionberlong-term incentive compensation accrual, tdueportion
of the accrual becoming a current liability, and tagal reserve. The legal reserve declined in 2304 result of
cases being dismissed and the payment of $0.Jlomiiiir settlements.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation, amortization and depletion was $38il8on in 2008, $23.9 million in 2007 and $24.6lloin in
2006. The increase in expense in 2008 was dueririgadditional mine activity at our Utah operascand the
acquisition of intangible assets as part of thenfietlet purchase.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures for property, plant and eq@pthand mine development totaled $35.9 million00&,
$33.6 million in 2007 and $15.5 million in 2006.@&l spending has exceeded the level of depreciati each of
the last two years as we increased the level dfatdpvestment in order to expand our operatidmgrove
efficiencies, implement new technologies and upgmdreplace older equipment.

Capital spending by Advanced Material Technologied Services totaled $7.8 million in 2008 and
$10.3 million in 2007. We expanded the Brewsteilifgdo accommodate the potential growth in theduction of
targets during this time period. We also constrdiet@ew facility in China during 2008 and 2007 titie
Wheatfield, New York facility was expanded in ordemccommodate the addition of shield kit clearéggipment
in 2007. Spending in both years also included itiq@ementation of a new software system.

Specialty Engineered Alloys capital spending wad4 $8illion in 2008 and $12.5 million in 2007. Indied in
these totals are mine development costs of $0#pbmih 2008 and $7.1 million in 2007 as we cometeand
opened a new pit for mining bertrandite ore in Udahing 2008. Various discrete pieces of equipna¢tihe Ohio
and Pennsylvania facilities were upgraded or requlanc each of the last two years.

Spending within Engineered Material Systems tot&d million in 2008 and $3.0 million in 2007. The
installation of a new efficient high technology \waenter at the Lincoln facility, which began in0ZQ was
completed in 2008.

Capital spending in 2008 included $11.8 million floe design and development of the new facilitytfer
production of primary beryllium under a Title llbotract with the U.S. Department of Defense (DODhe total
cost of the project is estimated to be approxinge$80.4 million; we will contribute land, buildingsesearch and

37




Table of Contents

development, technology and ongoing operationsedait approximately $23.3 million to the projedteTDOD will
reimburse us for the balance of the project cobtofthe funds required to complete the projeet iarthe
President’s approved defense budget, but aresabject to final House and Senate appropriatiopscsals.
Reimbursements from the DOD are recorded as ungémneme and included in other long-term liabiktien the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. We began construatitre facility early in the third quarter 2008 and anticipate
it will be completed in the fourth quarter 201001& 2000, all of our metallic beryllium requiremehtaive been
supplied from materials purchased from the Natidefense Stockpile and international vendors. Ssafoé
completion of this project will allow for the créat of the only domestic facility capable of prothgprimary
beryllium.

Approximately 56% of the capital spending in 200&svfor expansion purposes. Included in this figsitbe
spending on the new primary beryllium facility timbeing reimbursed by the DOD. Spending on nehrtelogy
projects accounted for an estimated 18% while reagmce capital totaled an estimated 26% of thé 4pending.

In addition to the above capital expenditure totais acquired the operating assets of Techni-Met fo
$87.5 million in the first quarter 2008. We recelv&l.4 million from escrow in the first quarter 208s the final
purchase adjustment under the terms of the agreether$1.4 million was recorded in other receiestbn the
December 31, 2008 Consolidated Balance Sheet. §udseto the acquisition, we sold the precious hptgtion of
Techni-Met's inventory for its fair value of $22n8illion to a financial institution and consignedi#ck under our
existing consignment lines. Goodwill assigned tiansaction totaled $13.9 million.

We acquired the stock of CERAC in the first qua@d6 for $25.7 million, net of cash received. Goild
assigned to the CERAC acquisition totaled $8.7iomill

Retirement and Post-employment Benefits

The liability for retirement and postmployment benefits increased from $57.5 millioDatember 31, 2007
$97.2 million at December 31, 2008 largely due thange in the valuation of the domestic definetkfiepension
plan.

The projected benefit obligation for this plan, elhicovers the majority of our domestic employeess w
$137.5 million as of year-end 2008 compared to $ &illion at yearend 2007. The market value of the plan a:
was $78.8 million as of year-end 2008, a declin®28.3 million from yeaend 2007 due to actual investment lo:
of $26.6 million and benefit and expense paymesttding $6.0 million offset in part by Company cobttions of
$4.3 million.

The liability for the domestic defined benefit pemsrecognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheats w
$58.7 million as of December 31, 2008 and $17.0Ganilas of December 31, 2007. In the fourth qua2tH8, we
increased the pension liability and recorded a%4dillion pre-tax charge to other comprehensiveme (OCl), a
component of shareholders’ equity, primarily agsuit of the plan performance in 2008 as well elsamge in the
discount rate.

Brush International’s subsidiary in Germany hasiafunded retirement plan for its employees whie it
subsidiary in England has a funded retirement @& Note | to the Consolidated Financial Statesemt
additional details.

A portion of our retirees and current employeesediggble to participate in a retiree medical béngtan. The
liability for this plan, which is unfunded, was $82nillion at December 31, 2008 and $34.2 millio®dacember 3:
2007. The plan expense was $2.4 million in 2008%&h& million in 2007.

Debt

Total outstanding debt of $41.8 million as of yead 2008 was $6.3 million higher than the outstagdiebt a
of year-end 2007. Short-term debt of $30.6 millimhjch consisted of a gold-denominated loan aneidor
currency denominated loans, increased $5.7 mitliiing 2008. Long-term debt increased $0.6 millioming 2008
and stood at $11.2 million as of year-end 2008. déaory long-term debt repayments in 2009 total
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$0.6 million. Debt increased in the first quart®N8 primarily due to the acquisition of Techni-Metd then
decreased each quarter over the balance of theagearesult of the cash flow from operations.

We negotiated a new $240.0 million revolving credjteement in the fourth quarter 2007. This conaditt
facility matures in the fourth quarter 2012 andasnprised of sub-facilities for revolving loans,iswline loans,
letters of credit and foreign currency denomindiedtowings. We were in compliance with all of o@bt covenant
as of December 31, 2008.

Outstanding debt totaled $35.5 million as of Decen81, 2007, a decrease of $13.5 million from the
$49.0 million balance at the prior year-end. Shentn debt of $24.9 million declined $3.2 millionrdhg 2007 while
long-term debt of $10.6 million declined $10.3 ioifl during 2007 as a result of the pay down of twwings under
the revolving credit agreement and the pay-ofhef$0.8 million Utah variable rate promissory note.

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity totaled $347.1 million as eayend 2008, a decrease of $6.6 million from #larice of
$353.7 million at year end 2007. Equity increas&8.% million during 2007. Comprehensive incomeg)osvhich
includes net income, changes in derivative faiugaland the pension liability that are chargedctiréo equity and
other factors, was a main cause for the changguityein both years. Comprehensive income (loss wa
$(4.9) million in 2008 and $52.0 million in 2007e&Note L to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We received $0.2 million of cash for the exerciSamproximately 12,000 options in 2008. We received
$5.0 million for the exercise of approximately 28®) stock options in 2007. The decline in the nunab@ptions
exercised in 2008 as compared to 2007 was primdwidyto the lower share price on average through@@s.

In the third quarter 2008, our Board of Directod®pted a share buyback program authorizing thercbpse o
up to one million shares of stock. The primary msgof the program is to offset the dilution causgdtock-based
compensation plans. As of year-end 2008, we haatcepsed 300,000 shares at a cost of $5.0 milioieuthis
plan.

We adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “AccountiongUncertainties in Income Taxes, an interpretatd
FASB Statement No. 109” (FIN 48) as of JanuarydD72 FIN 48 provides guidance on the financialestent
recognition, measurement, treatment and disclosiuagtax position taken or expected to be takea tax return as
well as the associated interest and penalties. r&sudt of adopting FIN 48, we increased our aatineome tax
payable by $1.4 million with the offset recordedaasharge against retained earnings as of Janu280X. Prior-
year results were not restated for the adoptidrlldf48.

Equity was also affected by stock-based compensatipense, the tax benefits on the exercise oboptind
other factors in both 2008 and 2007.

Off-balance Sheet Obligations

We maintain the majority of our precious metal integies on a consignment basis in order to reduce o
exposure to metal price movements and to reducevorking capital investment. See Quantitative andi@ative
Disclosures About Market Risk. The notional valdi¢he off-balance sheet inventory was $104.2 millid
December 31, 2008 compared to $71.2 million at bdxeg 31, 2007. This increase in value was due fo@pase
in the quantity on hand, largely as a result ofteehni-Met acquisition, and higher gold pricesseffin part by
lower prices for platinum, palladium and silver.elimused and available capacity under the consignines
totaled approximately $70.3 million as of year-&0®8.
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Contractual Obligations

A summary of payments to be made under long-terot @igreements and operating leases, pension plan
contributions and material purchase commitmentgday is as follows:

There-
(Millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 after Total
Long-term debt $0€ $— $— 22 $— $83 %11z
Non-cancelable lease payme! 7.1 6.€ 6.C 3.2 2.C 26.5 52.2
Pension plan contributior 18.c — — — — — 18.c
Purchase commitmen 14 - — — — — 1.4
Total $27.4 $6.€ $6.C $5.5 $2.¢ $34.¢& $83.z

Consistent with our prior practice, we anticipdtattwe will renegotiate a new debt agreement poidhe
maturation of the current revolving credit agreetrier2012. Outstanding borrowings under the revajviredit
agreement totaled $2.3 million as of December 8082See Note F to the Consolidated Financial Siiés for
additional debt information. The lease paymentsaggnt payments under non-cancelable leases ititl laase
terms in excess of one year as of December 31,. Z¥8Note G to the Consolidated Financial Statémfen
further leasing details.

The pension plan contribution of $18.3 million retabove table refers to the domestic defined ktgriah.
Contributions to the plan are designed to compn \ERISA guidelines and are based upon the plamddd ratio,
which is affected by actuarial assumptions, investnperformance, benefit payouts, plan expensesndments
and other factors. Therefore, it is not practica¢s$timate contributions to the plan beyond one.ydse amount
shown in the table represents our best estimateed?009 contribution as of early in 2009.

The purchase commitments of $1.4 million are fquitesh equipment to be acquired in 2009.

Other

We believe that cash flow from operations plusatailable borrowing capacity and the current cadhrxe
are adequate to support operating requirementgatagpenditures, projected pension plan contring,
environmental remediation projects and strategigigitions.

Cash flow from operations has grown in each ofldisethree years over the respective prior yeayeagting
$166.5 million and more than doubling the totalitapexpenditures and mine development costs inghme
period.

A summary of the outstanding debt, cash balancesaailable borrowing capacity as of the end oheafcthe
last three years is as follows:

December 31,

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Total outstanding del $41€& $ 355 $49.
Cash 18.5 31.7 15.¢
Debt net of cas $23: $ 38 $33«4
Available borrowing capacit 218.2 217.C 84.¢

Debt net of cash is a non-GAAP measure. We aregirgythis information because we believe it is enor
indicative of our financial position.

As the chart indicates, debt net of cash declirl@Zmillion from the end of 2006 to the end of 80The
reduction in debt net of cash resulted from thdrdemm operations and, to a lesser extent, caskived from the
exercise of stock options. During this time perioé,acquired Techni-Met for a net outlay of $63illiom (the
purchase price less the cash received for theo§éiheir gold against the consignment line).

The available borrowing capacity in the chart repres the amounts that could be borrowed undeetitving
credit agreement and other secured lines existraf ®ecember 31 of each year depicted. The afyica
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debt covenants have been taken into account whemaiaing the available borrowing capacity. Therbaing
capacity was higher in 2008 and 2007 than in 280gely because of the improved terms provided byctkdit
agreement signed in the fourth quarter 2007.

The current revolving credit agreement providesarftaxible covenants and terms than the prior agesg.
The most restrictive covenant is a fixed chargescage ratio. The agreement also limits the borrgs/iio a multipl
of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciati@haamortization and other adjustments.

The debt-to-total-debt-plus-equity ratio, a measifrealance sheet leverage, increased to 11% as of
December 31, 2008 from 9% as of December 31, 2ZD0& ratio had improved in each of the previous years.
This level of leverage is still below the long-teaverage for the Company.

The working capital ratio, which compares curresgeds excluding cash to current liabilities exahgdilebt,
improved each of the last two years, growing frattd 1.0 as of year-end 2006 to 3.4 to 1.0 asafynd 2007 to
3.8 10 1.0 as of year-end 2008.

Portions of the cash balances may be investedyimdniality, highly liquid investments with matues of three
months or less.

ENVIRONMENTAL

We have an active program of environmental compgahVe estimate the probable cost of identified
environmental remediation projects and establiskmes accordingly. The environmental remediatiserve
balance was $6.3 million at December 31, 2008 &n@ fillion at December 31, 2007. The main causé¢hfe
increase in the accrual in 2008 was for clean-gtscfor the Company’s former headquarter buildiag previously
was also used to house light manufacturing oparsttmd R&D laboratories. There were no new sigaific
remediation projects identified during 2007. Payteemgainst the reserve totaled $0.3 million in 2868
$0.1 million in 2007. See Note J to the Consolidd&mancial Statements.

ORE RESERVES

Brush Resources’ reserves of beryllium-bearingraedite ore are located in Juab County, Utah. Agoary
drilling program has generally added to provenmese Proven reserves are the measured quantitizs o
commercially recoverable through the open-pit méttiRrobable reserves are the estimated quantitias d&known
to exist, principally at greater depths, but pratpéor commercial recovery are indeterminable. @hgtion that
occurs during mining is approximately seven perc&pproximately 87% of beryllium in ore is recovdria the
extraction process. We augment our proven resefeertrandite ore through the purchase of impobiey! ore.
This ore, which is approximately 4% beryllium, Is@aprocessed at Brush Resources’ Utah extracioifity.

We use computer models to estimate ore reserveshwte subject to economic and physical evaluation
Development drilling can also affect the total ceserves to some degree. The requirement thavesspass an
economic test causes open-pit mineable ore touoedfm both proven and probable geologic settiRgsven
reserves have decreased slightly in each of thiédasyears while probable reserves have remaimetianged ove
the same time period. We own approximately 95%efiiroven reserves, with the remaining reservestba
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Based upon average production levels in recensyganven reserves would last approximately onelfaedyears.
Ore reserves classified as possible are excluded tine following table.

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Proven bertrandite ore reserves at -end (thousands of dry tor  6,45¢ 6,531 6,55( 6,601 6,64(

Grade % berylliun 0.266% 0.26€% 0.26% 0.26¢% 0.26t%
Probable bertrandite ore reserves at-end (thousands of dry tor 3,51¢  3,51¢ 3,51¢ 3,51¢ 3,51¢
Grade % berylliun 0.23% 0.232% 0.232% 0.232% 0.232%
Bertrandite ore processed (thousands of dry tahged) 64 52 48 38 39
Grade % beryllium, dilute 0.321% 0.321% 0.352% 0.31€% 0.24&%

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements requiresrtherent use of estimates and management’s jutdigme
establishing those estimates. The following arentbst significant accounting policies we use tlefit upon
management’s judgment.

Accrued Liabilities. We have various accruals on our balance sheeatbdased in part upon management’s
judgment, including accruals for litigation, enviroental remediation and work’ compensation costs. We
establish accrual balances at the best estimatendieed by a review of the available facts anddseloy
management and independent advisors and specadisispropriate. Absent a best estimate, the ddsrua
established at the low end of the estimated redd®mange in accordance with Statement No. 5, “Aotiog for
Contingencies”. Litigation and environmental acésuae only established for identified and/or agskclaims;
future claims, therefore, could give rise to insesmto the accruals. The accruals are adjustexttsand
circumstances change. The accruals may also bstadjtor changes in our strategies or regulataquirements.
Since these accruals are estimates, the ultimatduteon may be greater or less than the estaldiakerual balance
for a variety of reasons, including court decisiaditional discovery, inflation levels, cost aatefforts and
resolution of similar cases. Changes to the acemvalild then result in an additional charge or itiiedincome. See
Note J to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

Certain legal claims are subject to partial or clatginsurance recovery. The accrued liabilityeisarded at th
gross amount of the estimated cost and the insen@woverable, if any, is recorded as an asseisamat netted
against the liability. The accrued legal liabilincludes the estimated indemnity cost only, if aoyesolve the
claim through a settlement or court verdict. Thgaledefense costs are not included in the accndhbse expensed
in the period incurred, with the level of expensaigiven year affected by the number and typetairhs we are
actively defending.

The enhanced insurance coverage included in fhatiin settlement with our insurers in the fouwgytrarter
2007 provides for coverage of non-employee claiondéryllium disease made prior to year-end 2028revfany
portion of the alleged exposure period is prioyg¢ar-end 2007. This occurrenbased coverage insures claims fi
various prior years where we previously had littesometimes no coverage. The insurance coverssiefmsts and
indemnity payments and is subject to a $1.0 milhkonual deductible. In 2008, defense costs excetbaed
$1.0 million deductible by an immaterial amount.

Pensions. We have a defined benefit pension plan that coadarge portion of our current and former
domestic employees. We account for this plan imatance with Statement No. 158. Under this staténties
carrying values of the associated assets anditiabiare determined on an actuarial basis usimgenaus actuarial
and financial assumptions. Differences betweeraisamptions and current period actual results reajeferred
into the net pension asset or liability value antbgized against future income under establishédejjnes. The
deferral process generally reduces the volatilitthe recognized net pension asset or liability eamdaent period
income or expense. Unrealized gains or lossesamrded in OCI. The actuaries adjust certain assangto
reflect changes in demographics and other fadioekjding mortality rates and employee turnoverywasranted.
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Management annually reviews other key assumptionkiding the expected return on plan assets, igmdnt rate
and the average wage rate increase, against aesudis, trends and industry standards and makestagknts
accordingly. These adjustments may then lead igleehor lower expense in a future period.

We establish the discount rate used to determm@nbsent value of the projected and accumulateefibe
obligation at the end of each year based uponuhiadle market rates for high quality, fixed incemvestments.
An increase to the discount rate would reduce thegnt value of the projected benefit obligatiod arture pensiol
expense and, conversely, a lower discount ratedu@ige the benefit obligation and future pensiqmease. We
elected to use a discount rate of 6.15% as of Dbeefil, 2008 compared to a rate of 6.50% as of Dbee 31,
2007.

Our pension plan investment strategies are govempedpolicy adopted by the Retirement Plan Review
Committee of the Board of Directors. The futuraireton pension assets is dependent upon the @as&t
allocation, which changes from time to time, ang plerformance of the underlying investments. Assailt of our
review of various factors, we maintained the expécate of return on plan asset assumption at 8 258
December 31, 2008, unchanged from December 31,. 208ile the pension plan investments generatedsito
2008, the expected rate of return assumption etatéhe long term and we believe that an 8.25rmatver the
long term is reasonable. Should the assets eammeaage return less than 8.25% over time, inlalithood the
future pension expense would increase. Investnanirgs in excess of 8.25% would tend to reducduhee
expense.

The investment loss on the defined benefit pla20@8 was caused by the global economic crisis laad t
resulting severe decline in the stock market. koetance with accounting guidelines, this loss deferred and wi
be amortized to expense over a number of yearsf Aarly in the first quarter 2009, we estimate tha
amortization of this deferred loss along with othet valuation gains and losses, the change idifteunt rate, the
lower asset value and other factors should resw@t$0.5 million increase in the expense for thés in 2009 over
2008.

If the expected rate of return assumption was obaiy 25 basis points (0.25%) and all other pension
assumptions remained constant, the 2009 projeeesign expense would change by approximately $@l®m If
the December 31, 2008 discount rate were reducéb ipasis points and all other pension assumptemsined
constant, then the 2009 projected pension expeas&hincrease by approximately $0.5 million.

Cash contributions and funding requirements aregwd by ERISA and IRS guidelines and not by Stateém
No. 158. These guidelines are subject to change fime to time. As previously indicated, based ufiwse
guidelines, current assumptions and estimates angemsion plan objectives, we estimate a cashibatibn of
approximately $18.3 million will be made in 2009.

The pension liability under Statement No. 158 Wwdlrecalculated at the measurement date (Decerbmr 3
each year) and any adjustments to this accounbtme comprehensive income within shareholdersitequill be
recorded at that time accordingly. See Note | éGonsolidated Financial Statements for additiciesils on our
pension and other retirement plans.

LIFO Inventory. The prices of certain major raw materials thatuse, including copper, nickel, gold, silver
and other precious metals, fluctuate during a gixear. As noted, gold prices increased in eachefast three
years while prices for copper, nickel and the mgjaf the other precious metals we use decline20@8 aftel
increasing in each of the prior two years. Whergsjide, such changes in costs are generally refldntselling
price adjustments. The prices of labor and othetofa of production, including supplies and ug#j generally
increase with inflation. From time to time, we wilvise our billing practices to include an enesgycharge in
attempts to recover a portion of our higher enexagts from our customers. However, market factdternative
materials and competitive pricing may limit ourlébito offset cost increases with higher prices.

We use the LIFO method for costing the majoritypof domestic inventories. Under the LIFO method,
inflationary cost increases are charged againstuhent cost of goods sold in order to more clpsehtch the cost
with the associated revenue. The carrying valub@fnventory is based upon older costs and asudty¢he LIFO
cost of the inventory on the balance sheet is allyicbut not always, lower than it would be undewst alternative
costing methods. The LIFO cost may also be lowan tine current replacement cost of the inventomg DIFO
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inventory value tends to be less volatile duringrgeof fluctuating costs than the value would bagisther costing
methods.

The LIFO impact on the income statement in a giyesr is dependent upon the inflation rate effectamm
material purchases and manufacturing conversiots ctiee level of purchases in a given year and gésin the
inventory mix and quantities. Assuming no changtéquantity or mix of inventory from the DecemBér, 2008
level, a 100 basis point change in the annualtinflarate would cause a $0.5 million change inltH€O inventory
value.

Deferred Tax Assets.We record deferred tax assets and liabilitiesceordance with Statement No. 109,
“Accounting For Income Taxes”. The deferrals areedained based upon the temporary difference betwee
financial reporting and tax bases of assets abditias. We review the expiration dates of theatedls against
projected income levels to determine if the defexifi or can be realized. If it is determined thiis more likely
than not that a deferral will not be realized, lugtion allowance would be established for thanit€ertain
deferrals, including the alternative minimum tagdit, do not have an expiration date. See NotetReto
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionéed tax details.

We will also evaluate deferred tax assets for impant due to cumulative operating losses and regord
valuation allowance as warranted. A valuation allose was recorded in 2002 as a result of the cuivella
operating losses at that time. The valuation alluveavas adjusted in subsequent years before hdiggdversed i
the fourth quarter 2006, except for an immatenabant associated with one international operatisnye
determined it was more likely than not that we waoutilize substantially all of our deferred tax etssbased upon
current and projected earnings.

The reversal of the valuation allowance in 2006iltes in a tax benefit rather than a tax expengeghecorde:
against income before income taxes in that yeat.€ekpense was recorded in 2007 and 2008 at thetietfetax rate
without a net adjustment for any material moveniet valuation allowance.

Unearned revenue. Billings under long-term sales contracts in aaeaaf the shipment of the goods are
recorded as unearned revenue, which is a lialmtitthe balance sheet. Revenue and the relatedfcesties and
gross margin are only recognized for these traimactvhen the goods are shipped, title passestoustomer and
all other revenue recognition criteria are met. ihearned revenue liability is reversed when themae is
recognized. The related inventory also remainswrbalance sheet until these criteria are metingsl in advance
of the shipments allow us to collect cash earhantbilling at the time of the shipment and, theref the collected
cash can be used to help finance the underlyingnitory.

Long-term unearned income.Expenditures for capital equipment to be reimedrmsnder government
contracts are recorded in construction in prodeegnbursements for those expenditures are recandetkarned
income, a liability on the balance sheet. The totst of the assets to be constructed may inclodts ceimbursed
by the government as well as costs borne by usiieassets are placed in service and capitalizisckotal cost
will be depreciated over the useful life of theedssThe unearned income liability will be redueed credited to
income ratably with the annual depreciation expembés benefit in effect reduces the net expenseged to the
income statement to an amount equal to the depi@tien the portion of the cost of the assets bagnas.

Capital expenditures subject to reimbursement fiteengovernment under the current Title IIl projentl the
related unearned income balance totaled $11.5omills of December 31, 2008. This total could asketween
$60.0 and $70.0 million over the next two to thyears depending upon the actual cost of the fatdibe
constructed, government approval of the projectlifug, the timing of the construction of the fagilénd the portion
of the cost to be retained by us.

Derivatives. We may use derivative financial instruments tddesour foreign currency, commodity price and
interest rate exposures. We apply hedge accouwtireg an effective hedge relationship can be doctsdesnd
maintained. If a hedge is deemed effective, chaingis fair value are recorded in OCI until thedenlying hedged
item matures. If a hedge does not qualify as affecthanges in its fair value are recorded agamsime in the
current period. We secure derivatives with therititen of hedging existing or forecasted transadtionly and do
not engage in speculative trading or holding deries for investment purposes. Our annual budgstrtgrly
forecasts and other analyses serve as the baslstEnmining forecasted transactions. The use jate/es is
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governed by policies established by the Board o¢@ors. The level of derivatives outstanding mayitmited by
the availability of credit from financial institutns.

Our practice has been to secure hedge contracterileaited in the same manner as the underlying exepil
example, a yen exposure will only be hedged wigeracontract and not with a surrogate currency.a¥¥e secure
contracts through financial institutions that aready part of our bank group.

During 2006, changes in the pricing of our coppasdu products resulted in a reduction of the presiyo
estimated copper price exposure, reducing the ttekddge the exposure with derivative contracterdlore, we
terminated contracts in 2006 that were initiallpeduled to mature in future periods. The deferi@d @ OCIl on
these contracts and other contracts that maturdeisecond half of 2006 totaled $5.7 million aPetember 31,
2006. Gains totaling $0.2 million in 2008 and $itlion in 2007 were amortized to cost of saleaatordance wit
the original maturity schedules in the contracts.

See Note H to the Consolidated Financial Statemmmshe Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosurbsut
Market Risk section below for more information aridlatives.

OUTLOOK

The reduced consumer spending levels as a resthieafiobal economic crisis and weaker economy hadea
significant impact on the level of demand from anfber of our markets. Overall, as of year-end 2008 backlog
was down approximately 8% from one year ago. Theastal from portions of the telecommunications and
computer, automotive electronics, data storageotimer key markets was weak as we entered 2009dd&imand
from the defense and medical markets, however sivagag in early 2009 as these markets do not nadlssiove
in tandem with general consumer spending levelsaweéhopeful that salésto these markets will remain strong
the majority of 2009, although defense sales caaffeeted by changes in government budgeted spgradid
appropriation levels. Development work in variouarkets, including solar energy, offer growth oppuoities for us
even in a down economy.

Various large customers and demand generator® iketh markets that we serve have indicated thgt¢aeno
project their level of business in 2009 due togbhenomic uncertainties. With the weak economic ttamts, as of
early 2009, we believe that we may generate opgratisses early in the year, but that as the ecgnmproves ant
various new programs and products gain additiooeéptance, our sales and profitability should improver the
balance of the year. However, we anticipate thiaissand profitability in 2009 will be lower than 2008.

We began making adjustments to our cost structutles fourth quarter 2008 and we anticipate we eattinue
to make adjustments in 2009 in order to balancecosts with the current level of business. Headtwas reduced
in the fourth quarter 2008 and additional redudtiarere made and others planned to be made inrgheiarter
2009. Other cost control measures have been obwilnplemented, including cancellation and del#ygarious
programs and services.

Working capital efficiencies, as measured by DS@ iamentory turns, slowed down in 2008. Part o$ thi
slowdown was due to the sudden softening of thébss in the fourth quarter 2008. During 2009, an is to
adjust inventories to the level of business. Wé @ghtinue to aggressively collect receivables aruhitor and
revise our credit terms in order to minimize owrdit exposures. We will also continue to monita gobal
economic conditions and to evaluate the impactpatential impact on our borrowing capacity or othspects of
our business.

Capital spending will also be reduced in 2009 fittwa 2008 level due to the softer business condition
Construction of the new primary beryllium faciliyill continue as planned but other spending wilfrbduced to
roughly the maintenance capital level plus higloqity and/or high return projects.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

While the global economic crisis and downturn ateoour sales and margins in the fourth quarteB260well
as the business levels in the first quarter 20@Bpatentially beyond, it has not had a significampact on our
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credit lines, our ability to conduct financial teattions or the valuation of financial instrumesdsof early in the
first quarter 2009. However, this can potentialyacge quickly as there have been sudden and drachatinges in
the financial standing of a number of firms durthg crisis. We have a program in place to closebnitor the
credit worthiness and financial condition of ouy koviders of financial services, including ounkayroup and
insurance carriers, as well as the credit wortlsir#sustomers and vendors and have been developiritngency
plans accordingly.

Our credit lines are with banks that thus far hareained solvent throughout the crisis. Severg@hefsmaller
banks we use for different purposes have been ieatjar were in the process of being acquired bgrdtlanks as of
early in the first quarter 2009, but we do not @iptite these acquisitions will have a material ioten us. Our total
borrowing capacity under secured lines that cabederminated prior to maturity as long as we cargito meet ol
debt covenants was in excess of current needsBsagfimber 31, 2008. The availability of credit floreign
currency hedging purposes thus far has been umedféy the crisis while the available precious hetasignment
lines may be reduced slightly going forward duerte institution’s tentative plans to withdraw frane market. We
do not have any financial instruments subject tovalue considerations on our December 31, 200&nce sheet
other than the foreign currency derivative finahgiatruments that hedge our currency exposureémbrmal
course of business and the investments held byiceotors deferred compensation plan trust.

The financial statement impact from the risk of onenore of the banks in our bank group becomisglirent
cannot be estimated at the present time.

We are exposed to precious metal and commodite piricerest rate and foreign exchange rate diffexen
While the degree of exposure varies from year &, yeur methods and policies designed to manage txgposures
have remained fairly consistent. We attempt to miné the effects of these exposures through thetsatural
hedges, which include pricing strategies, borrowidgnominated in the same terms as the exposed @sdmlanc
sheet arrangements and other methods. Where wetaasea natural hedge, we may use derivative dinhn
instruments to minimize the effects of these expeswhen practical and efficient.

We use gold and other precious metals in manufactwarious products. To reduce the exposure t&ketar
price changes, precious metals are maintainedoommsigned inventory basis. We purchase the metaifou
consignment from our suppliers when it is readghip to a customer as a finished product. Our @aselprice
forms the basis for the price charged to the custdor the precious metal content and, therefdrwe current cost is
matched to the selling price and the price exposun@nimized. The use of precious metal consigrimen
arrangements is governed by a policy approved &Bthard of Directors.

We are charged a consignment fee by the finantsitutions that actually own the precious metalss fee is
partially a function of the market price of the mleBecause of market forces and competition, éeectin only be
charged to customers on a case-by-case basisrtherflimit price and financing rate exposures,aenmgbme
circumstances we will require customers to furnistir own metal for processing. This practice isdimore
frequently when the rates are high and/or moret¥®la&Customers may also elect to provide their onaterial for
us to process as opposed to purchasing our matghiauld the market price of precious metals treuge increase
by 20% from the prices on December 31, 2008, thiitiadal pre-tax cost to us on an annual basis dbel
approximately $0.6 million. This calculation asssnm@ changes in the quantity of inventory or théeaulying fee
and that none of the additional fees are chargedstomers.

The available capacity of our existing credit litesonsign precious metals is a function of thargity and
price of the metals on hand. As prices increaggven quantity of metal will use a larger propontiof the credit
line. A significant prolonged increase in metakps could result in our credit lines being fulljlinéd, and, absent
securing additional credit line capacity from aaficial institution, could require us to purchasecmus metals
rather than consign them, require customers tolgupgir own metal and/or force us to turn downitiddal
business opportunities. If we were in a significargcious metal ownership position, we might eteaise
derivative financial instruments to hedge the ptigdprice exposure. The financial statement immdiche risk fron
rising metal prices impacting our credit availapitannot be estimated at the present time.

We also use base metals, including copper, in mdyztion processes. When possible, fluctuatiorieén
purchase price of copper are passed on to custom#rs form of price adders or reductions. In pperiods, we
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entered into derivative contracts to hedge portifithis price exposure and gains on the maturedracts helped 1
mitigate the negative margin impact of the highwmwper prices. There were no copper price derivatbreracts
outstanding as of December 31, 2008.

We use ruthenium in the manufacture of one of amilfy of products. Ruthenium is not a widely usedradec
metal and, therefore, there is no establishedieffienarket for derivative financial instrumentatticould be used to
effectively hedge the ruthenium price exposure.dgalty, our pricing practice with respect to ruthen products is
to establish the selling price on our cost to pasehthe material, limiting our price exposure. Hogvethe inventor
carrying value may be exposed to market fluctuatidme inventory value is maintained at the lowferast or
market and if the market value were to drop belogvdarrying value, the inventory would have to dguced
accordingly and a charge taken against cost of s@itds risk is mainly associated with sludges serdp materials,
which generally have longer processing times teefieed into a usable form for further manufactgrand are
typically not covered by specific sales orders fraustomers. The market price for ruthenium andratietals
fluctuated throughout 2008 and 2007 and, as atreselrecorded lower of cost or market chargeditmfa
$15.2 million in 2008 and $4.5 million in 2007 oarfions of our inventory. Assuming no changes ®itiventory
guantities, costs or make-up and no subsequers sathe inventory, should the market price of eutium decline
20% from the December 31, 2008 price, we would lavecord a charge of $0.9 million to write dowe £xpose:
portion of the inventory.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates ompsitf our debt and cash balances. This inteatstaxposul
is managed by maintaining a combination of shartitend long-term debt and variable and fixed ragtruments.
We may also use interest rate swaps to fix theesteate on variable rate obligations, as we dagpnopriate.
Excess cash is typically invested in high qualitstiuments that mature in ninety days or less.dtments are made
in compliance with policies approved by the Boaf®wectors. We did not have any derivatives incgléao hedge
the interest rate exposure as of December 31, 2808\ interest rate swap contract that maturéueifiourth
guarter was not replaced. Assuming no change iruatrar make-up of the outstanding debt as of Deezr@h,
2008, a 200 basis point movement upwards in tlegest rates would increase our interest expen&® Bymillion.

Portions of our international operations sell prtdipriced in foreign currencies, mainly the eyen and
sterling, while the majority of these products’ tsoare incurred in U.S. dollars. We are exposezlitoency
movements in that if the U.S. dollar strengthehs,ttanslated value of the foreign currency satetha resulting
margin on that sale will be reduced. We typicaliyeot increase the price of our products for sterts exchange
rate movements because of local competition. Tomike this exposure, we may purchase foreign cayréarwarc
contracts, options and collars in compliance wihraved policies. Should the dollar strengthen dieine in the
translated value of the margins should be offsed ggin on the hedge contract. A decrease in the \od the dollar
would result in larger margins but potentially adan the contract, depending upon the methodtodeedge the
exposure.

The notional value of the outstanding currency @it was $47.4 million as of December 31, 200thdf
dollar weakened 10% against the currencies we haglged from the December 31, 2008 exchange rates, t
reduced gain and/or increased loss on the outstgrdintracts as of December 31, 2008 would redsdgx
profits by approximately $4.5 million in 2009. Thdalculation does not take into account the in@eéasnargins as
a result of translating foreign currency saleiatrhore favorable exchange rates, any changesrigimdrom
potential volume fluctuations caused by currencyemeents or the translation effects on any othegidor currency
denominated income statement or balance sheet item.

The fair values of derivatives, which are deterrdinader the guidelines of Statement No. 157, “Naiue
Measurements”, are recorded on the balance shestats or liabilities. The fair value of the oamsting foreign
currency contracts was a net liability of $1.2 moillat December 31, 2008, indicating that the ayefeedge rates
were unfavorable compared to the actual year-enfdghaxchange rates.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

The management of Brush Engineered Materials imtt.sabsidiaries is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal controls over finah@porting, as such term is defined in Exchange A
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Brush Engineerede¥als Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control systwas
designed to provide reasonable assurance to the@&ugis management and Board of Directors regarttiag
preparation and fair presentation of publishedrfaial statements. All internal control systemsnmatter how well
designed, have inherent limitations. Thereforenahese systems determined to be effective carigeanly
reasonable assurance with respect to financiamgit preparation and presentation.

Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and subsidiariemhagement assessed the effectiveness of the Coiapany
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2008. In making this assessment, it tieettamework
set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizetiof the Treadway Commission (the COSO criténidyterna
Control-Integrated Framework. Based on our assassmwe believe that, as of December 31, 2008, thmgany’s
internal control over financial reporting is effeet

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2008 has beditealiby
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered puaticounting firm, as stated in their report herein.

/s/ RcHARD J. HPPLE

Richard J. Hipple
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/sl bHN D. GRAMPA

John D. Grampa
Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financfater
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Brusgifigered Materials Inc.

We have audited Brush Engineered Material Incterimal control over financial reporting as of De&®mn31,
2008, based on criteria established in Internalt@br— Integrated Framework issued by the Commitiee
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisgtwe COSO criteria). Brush Engineered Material'tnc
management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting, and ftr assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over fingh reporting included in the accompanying Managetis Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Oesgonsibility is to express an opinion on the camyfsinternal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8oa
(United States). Those standards require that e ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financiaporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control digancial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and tipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabgessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exakepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipieee A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Ipjpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as nactsgarmit preparation of financial statementsdcordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréipts and expenditures of the company are breadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauithex acquisition, use or disposition of the compsaiassets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegsts.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Brush Engineered Materials Inc. mt@ined, in all material respects, effective ingontrol
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20@&¢dd on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance sheats@scember 31, 2008 and 2007, and the relatesotioiated
statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and ftaw's for each of the three years in the periodes
December 31, 2008 of Brush Engineered Materialsdnd subsidiaries and our report dated Februarg2 @
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST& YOUNGLLP
Cleveland, Ohio

February 25, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Brusgifigered Materials Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007thencklated consolidated statements of incomeebbiders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three yguatse period ended December 31, 2008. Our aulditsiacluded
the financial statement schedule listed in the xratdtem 15(a). These financial statements anddidie are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupeasibility is to express an opinion on these fiiah
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighagio
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuréigifinancial statements. An audit also includegssing the
accounting principles used and significant estismatade by management, as well as evaluating thralbfieancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@albove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated
financial position of Brush Engineered Materials.land subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and 20fi/the
consolidated results of their operations and tba&sh flows for each of the three years in the peginded
December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. gengraltcepted accounting principles. Also, in our apinthe
related financial statement schedule, when consitlier relation to the basic financial statemerignaas a whole,
presents fairly in all material respects the infation set forth therein.

As discussed in Note | to the financial statemegffective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, Es8ployers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensand
Other Postretirement Plans. Also, as discussedtas\A and P to the financial statements, the Coympdopted
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretabian 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxesan
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, effectiemuary 1, 2007.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), Brush Engineered Materials Inaternal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2008,
based on criteria established in Internal Controlntegrated Framework issued by the Committee ahSpring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and goontedated February 25, 2009 expressed an unaadhlifi
opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST& Y OUNG, LLP
Cleveland, Ohio

February 25, 2009
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Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and Subsidiarie:
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Income

(Dollars in thousands except share and per share aunts) 2008 2007 2006
Net sales $ 909,71: $ 955,70¢ $ 763,05
Cost of sale: 757,56 759,03 600,88:
Gross profit 152,14« 196,67: 162,17.
Selling, general and administrative expe 104,79. 110,12° 111,00:
Research and development expe 6,522 4,992 4,16¢€
Litigation settlement gai (1,059 (8,699 —
Other— net 13,81¢ 5,78i 3,164
Operating profit 28,07: 84,46 43,84(
Interest expens— net 1,99¢ 1,76( 4,13¢
Income before income taxe 26,07¢ 82,70¢ 39,70¢
Income taxes (benefit
Currently payabl 1,56: 14,12( 2,761
Deferred 6,15¢ 15,30( (12,659
7,71¢ 29,42( (9,899¢)
Net income $ 1835 $ 5328 $ 49,60:
Net income per share of common st— basic $ 09C % 26z $ 2.52
Weighted-average number of shares of common stotdtamding —
basic 20,335,000 20,320,000 19,665,00
Net income per share of common st— diluted $ 0.8¢ % 25¢ % 2.4E
Weighted-average number of shares of common stotstamding —
diluted 20,543,000 20,612,000 20,234,00

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and Subsidiarie:
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income $ 18,357 $53,28¢ $ 49,60
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal from operating
activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 33,82¢ 23,88( 24,60:
Amortization of deferred financing costs in intérespens¢ 37¢ 41€ 53¢
Stoclk-based compensation expel 2,552 3,932 1,717
Deferred tax (benefit) expen 6,15¢ 15,30C (12,659
Derivative financial instruments ineffectivene 171 121 (2149)
Proceeds from early termination of 2007 derivatigatracts — — 2,291
Changes in assets and liabilities net of acquisseta and liabilities
Decrease (increase) in accounts receiv 14,54¢ (8,477 (10,859
Decrease (increase) in other receiva 9,852 (11,269
Decrease (increase) in inventt 12,897 (13,269 (41,639
Decrease (increase) in prepaid and other a 4,71 (3,919 (5,236
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and acexpetse (12,890 (4,926 20,71¢
Increase (decrease) in unearned reve (2,456 2,25¢ 60
Increase (decrease) in interest and taxes pa (14,079 (2,306 4,49z
Increase (decrease) in Ic-term liabilities 1,96( (77%) 2,307
Other— net (17€) (3,329) 3,05¢€
Net cash provided from operating activities 76,81: 50,94 38,79¢
Cash flows from investing activitie
Payments for purchase of property, plant and eqgeiip (35,51 (26,429 (15,529
Payments for mine developme (421) (7,127 —
Reimbursement for capital spending under governmmentraci 8,017 3,472 9
Payments for purchase of business less cash rek (86,057) — (25,699
Proceeds from sale of inventory to consignment 22,91t — —
Proceeds from sale of busine 2,15( —
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipt — 32¢ 56
Other investment— net 66 47 46
Net cash (used in) investing activitie (90,990 (27,55¢) (41,109
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance (repayment) of -term deb: 4,87( (3,607 3,92¢
Proceeds from issuance of l-term debt 46,20( 16,08: 26,00(
Repayment of lor-term debt (45,600 (26,397 (38,639
Deferred financing cos (352 (825) —
Repurchase of common sta (4,999 —
Issuance of common stock under stock option 243 4,961 13,61
Tax benefit from the exercise of stock optic 45E 2,751 2,62(
Net cash provided from (used in) financing activigs 817 (7,030 7,522
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and gaslatents 177 (270 (2117)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (13,189  16,08¢ 5,00z
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yei 31,73( 15,64« 10,64
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ye: $18,54¢ $31,73( $ 15,64«

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and Subsidiarie:
December 31, 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable (less allowance of $1,051 @& and $1,120 for 200
Other receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenst¢
Deferred income taxe
Total current assets
Other assets
Relatec-party notes receivable
Long-term deferred income taxes
Property, plant and equipment
Less allowances for depreciation, amortization andepletion
Property, plant, and equipment — net
Goodwill

Total Assets

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity
Current liabilities
Shor-term debt
Current portion of lon-term debt
Accounts payabl
Salaries and wagt
Taxes other than income tax
Other liabilities and accrued iter
Unearned revent
Income taxe:

Total current liabilities

Other long-term liabilities
Retirement and pos-employment benefits
Long-term income taxes
Deferred income taxes
Long-term debt
Shareholders equity

Serial preferred stock, no par value; 5,000,008@nized shares, none isstL

Common stock, no par value 60,000,000 authorizadeshissued shares of 26,728,000

in 2008 and 26,708,000 in 20
Retained earning
Common stock in treasury, 6,477,000 shares in 20@86,237,000 shares in 2C
Other comprehensive income (lo
Other equity transactior

Total shareholders equity
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2008 2007
$ 18,54¢ $ 31,73(
89,84 97,42
1,411 11,26:
156,71¢ 165,18
23,66( 17,72z
4,19¢ 6,107
204,37¢ 329,43
34,441 11,80«
98 98
9,94¢ 1,13¢
635,26( 583,96
(428,01) (397,780
207,25  186,17!
35,77¢  21,89¢
$581,89° $ 550,55
$ 30,62: $ 24,90:
60C 60C
28,01  27,06¢
2256¢  34,17(
1,137 2,20¢
21,431 19,557
117 2,56¢
— 2,10¢
104,48( 113,18
19,35¢ 11,62¢
97,16¢ 57,517
3,02¢ 4,327
162 182
10,60¢ 10,00¢
170590 167,34
334,32¢  315,97:
(110,86) (105,579
(47,80)  (24,576)
837 54¢
347,09 353,71
$581,89° $550,55:
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Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and Subsidiarie:
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Common Other Other
Common  Retained Stock In Comprehensive Equity
Stock Earnings Treasury  Income (Loss) Transactions Total

(Dollars in thousands)
Balances at January 1, 20 $137,66! $214,49 $(105,79)$ (35,03) % 14€ $211,47¢
Net income — 49,60 — — — 49,60
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — 60% — 60%
Derivative and hedging activity, net of taxes o023 — — — 623 — 625
Pension and post-employment benefit adjustmenipnet

taxes of $4,01: — — — 7,84( — 7,84(
Comprehensive incorr 58,67:
Impact from adoption of Statement No. 158, netaf t

benefit of $2,90¢ — — — 2,64¢ — 2,64¢
Proceeds from exercise of 841,000 shares undevropti

plans 13,61 — — — — 13,61:
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock opti 2,62( — — — — 2,62(
Stock-based compensation expel 1,717 — — — — 1,717
Other equity transactior (62) — 30 — 28E 252
Balances at December 31, 2( 155,55. 264,10( (105,76% (23,320 433 291,00(
Net income — 53,28t — — — 53,28t
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — 1,624 — 1,62¢
Derivative and hedging activity, net of tax benefit$2,18: — — — (4,049 — (4,049
Pension and post-employment benefit adjustmenipnet

taxes of $1,79 — — — 1,16¢ — 1,16¢
Comprehensive incorr 52,02¢
Impact from adoption of FIN 4 — (1,41) — — —  (1,41)
Proceeds from exercise of 296,000 shares undeyropti

plans 4,961 — — — — 4,961
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock opti 2,751 — — — — 2,751
Stocl-based compensation expel 3,932 — — — — 3,93
Other equity transactior 151 — 187 — 11€ 454
Balances at December 31, 2( 167,34° 315,97. (105,57%) (24,57¢) 54¢ 353,71
Net income — 18,357 — — — 18,357
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — 2,30t — 2,30¢
Derivative and hedging activity, net of taxes of.: — — — 97 — 97
Pension and postmployment benefit adjustment, net of

benefit of $13,12( — — — (25,62)) — _(25,62)
Comprehensive income (los (4,86%)
Proceeds from exercise of 12,000 shares underroplams 24¢ — — — — 24¢
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock opti 45k — — — — 45k
Repurchase of 300,000 sha — — (4,999 — — (4,999
Stocl-based compensation expel 2,552 — — — — 2,552
Other equity transactior — — (28¢) — 28¢€ —
Balances at December 31, 20( $170,59° $334,32¢ $(110,86)$  (47,80) $ 837 $347,09°

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note A—Significant Accounting Policies

Organization: The Company is a holding company with subsidsatfiet have operations in the United States,
Europe and Asia. These operations manufacture eagid materials used in a variety of markets, dinty
telecommunications and computer electronics, datage, aerospace and defense, automotive elexdrandustria
components, medical and appliance. The Companfobhaseportable segments:

Advanced Material Technologies and Services manufactures precious and nprecious vapor deposition targs
frame lid assemblies, performance coatings, othegipus and non-precious metal products and spgai@rganic
materials;

Soecialty Engineered Alloys manufactures high precision strip and bulk prodércis copper and nickel based
alloys;

Beryllium and Beryllium Composites produces beryllium metal, beryllium composites badyllia ceramics in a
variety of forms; and,

Engineered Material Systems manufactures clad inlay and overlay metals, precand base metal electroplated
systems and other related products.

The Company is vertically integrated and distrilsute products through a combination of Company-eavn
facilities and independent distributors and agents.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in camfor with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires managememake estimates and assumptions that affect toei@ts
reported in the financial statements and accompagnydtes. Actual results may differ from thosereates.

Consolidation: The Consolidated Financial Statements includeatiteunts of Brush Engineered Materials
Inc. and its subsidiaries. All of the Company’s sidiaries are wholly owned as of December 31, 20G8r-
company accounts and transactions are eliminatedrisolidation.

Cash Equivalents: All highly liquid investments with a maturity ¢firee months or less when purchased are
considered to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable:An allowance for doubtful accounts is maintaifiedthe estimated losses resulting fr
the inability of customers to pay the amounts diee allowance is based upon identified delinquenbants,
customer payment patterns and other analysestofioi data and trends. The Company extends cedit
customers based upon their financial conditiongenkrally collateral is not required.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost orketa The cost of the majority of domestic
inventories is determined using the last-in, foat-(LIFO) method. The remaining inventories asgesi principally
at average cost.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment is stated on tlséstud cost. Depreciation is
computed principally by the straight-line methoxlcept certain facilities for which depreciatiorcmmputed by
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the sum-of-the-years digits or units-of-productinathod. Depreciable lives that are used in computie annual
provision for depreciation by class of asset arfobews:

Years
Land improvement 5to 25
Buildings 10 to 40
Leasehold improvemen Life of lease
Machinery and equipme 3to 15
Furniture and fixture 4to 15
Automobiles and truck 2to 8
Research equipme 61to 12
Computer hardwar 3to 10
Computer softwar 3to 10

Leasehold improvements will be depreciated ovelite®f the improvement if it is shorter than tiife of the
lease. Repair and maintenance costs are expengezlagd.

Mineral Resources and Mine DevelopmentProperty acquisition costs are capitalized asmairresources on
the balance sheet and are depleted using the affiisduction method based upon recoverable proeserves.
Overburden, or waste rock, is removed prior toekéeaction of the ore from a particular open ptieTremoval cost
is capitalized and amortized as the ore is extdagsing the units-of-production method based uperproven
reserves in that particular pit. Exploration angelepment expenses, including development drillarg, charged to
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Intangible Assets: Goodwill is not amortized, but instead reviewedaally as of December 31, or more
frequently under certain circumstances, for impaintn Goodwill is assigned to the reporting unitjehhs the
operating segment level or one level below the atpeg segment. Intangible assets with finite liges amortized
using the straight-line method or effective intéregthod, as applicable, over the periods estimaide benefited,
which is generally twenty years or less. Finiteetivintangible assets are also reviewed for impaitriiéacts and
circumstances warrant.

Asset Impairment: In the event that facts and circumstances indittat the carrying value of long-lived and
finite-lived intangible assets may be impairedeaaluation of recoverability is performed. If are®ation is
required, the estimated future undiscounted cast fissociated with the asset or asset group waumpared to
the carrying amount to determine if a write-dowmeiquired.

Derivatives: The Company recognizes all derivatives on thari sheet at their fair values. If the derivative
is designated and effective as a hedge, depenging thhe nature of the hedge, changes in the fhiewat the
derivative are either offset against the chandaiimvalue of the hedged asset, liability or firanemitment through
earnings or recognized in other comprehensive ircfass) until the hedged item is recognized imiegs. The
ineffective portion of a derivative’change in fair value, if any, is recognized imaays immediately. If a derivati
is not a hedge, changes in its fair value are &etjuthrough income.

Asset Retirement Obligation: The Company records a liability to recognizeldgal obligation to remove an
asset at the time the asset is acquired or whelegla¢liability arises. The liability is recordéar the present value
of the ultimate obligation by discounting the esttad future cash flows using a credit-adjustediisk interest
rate. The liability is accreted over time, with #hecretion charged to expense. An asset equagtfathvalue of the
liability is recorded concurrent with the liabilignd depreciated over the life of the underlyingeas

Revenue Recognition: The Company generally recognizes revenue whegdbds are shipped and title pas
to the customer. The Company requires persuasidem®se that a revenue arrangement exists, delofdiye
product has occurred, the selling price is fixed®erminable and collectibility is reasonably asdwbefore revent
is realized and earned. Billings under long-tertesaontracts in advance of the shipment of thelg@we recorded
as unearned revenue, which is a liability on tHar@ze sheet. Revenue is recognized for these tmiss when the
goods are shipped and all other revenue recogrttiteria are met.
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Shipping and Handling Costs The Company records shipping and handling castprbducts sold to
customers in cost of sales on the Consolidate@@taits of Income.

Advertising Costs: The Company expenses all advertising costs asrit. Advertising costs were
$1.0 million in 2008, $1.0 million in 2007 and $Ir8llion in 2006.

Income Taxes: The Company uses the liability method in meagutire provision for income taxes and
recognizing deferred tax assets and liabilitieshenbalance sheet. The Company records a valualtmmance to
reduce the deferred tax assets to the amountstiaiie likely than not to be realized, as warranted

The Company adopted Financial Accounting StandBo@sd (FASB) Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48),
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — anelmpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" as of Jaynda
2007. FIN 48 clarifies the financial statement iggaition threshold and measurement attribute okgtsition takel
or expected to be taken in a tax return in accarelavith Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Incomex@&s”. This
interpretation also provides guidance on derecamnitlassification, interest and penalties, actiognn interim
periods, disclosures and transition. Under FINtK8,Company applies a more-likely-than-not recagnithreshold
for all tax uncertainties. FIN 48 only allows thecognition of those tax benefits that have a grahte 50%
likelihood of being sustained upon examination liny taxing authorities. As a result of adopting B\ the
Company recognized a $1.4 million increase toaterve for uncertain tax positions, which is ineldiéh long-term
income taxes on the Consolidated Balance Sheetinthease was accounted for as an adjustmentdimeet
earnings as of January 1, 2007. The prior yeassilte were not restated for the adoption of FINSk&e Note P to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net Income Per Share: Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed bglidiyincome available to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of comshares outstanding for the period. Diluted E&@cts the
assumed conversion of all dilutive common stockivejents as appropriate under the treasury stodkade

Reclassification: Certain amounts in prior years have been red¢iaddb conform to the 2008 consolidated
financial statement presentation.

New Pronouncements: The FASB issued Statement No. 157, “Fair Valuesleements” in September 2006.
The statement defines fair value, establishesmagveork for measuring fair values and expands distcks about
fair value measurements. The statement emphasiatatr value is a market-based measurement,men#ty-
specific measurement and it should include an agsamabout risk, the impact of any restrictionste use of the
asset and other factors. It revises disclosurésctos on the inputs used to measure fair valuetlameffects of the
measurement on earnings for the period. The panwsdf this statement apply to derivative finangiatruments
among other assets and liabilities. The statensesfféctive for fiscal years beginning on or afteivember 15,
2007. The Company adopted this statement as rebagref January 1, 2008 and its adoption did ne¢ lsamateria
impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The FASB issued Statement No. 159, “The Fair V&péon for Financial Assets and Financial Liab#gi—
including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 1h3he first quarter 2007. The statement allowstiestto
value financial instruments and certain other itatfair value. The statement provides guidance theselection o
the fair value option, including the timing of thkection and specific items eligible for fair valaecounting
treatment. Changes in fair values would be recaghia earnings. The statement is effective fordligears
beginning after November 15, 2007. The Companyndicadopt the optional provisions of this statemer008.

The FASB issued Statement No. 160, “Non-controllimgrests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an
amendment of ARB No. 51” in December 2007. Theestaint establishes accounting and reporting staadard
non-controlling interest in a subsidiary and fae tteconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifiestthanon-controlling
interest should be classified as a separate compohequity. Among other items, it also changew lnacome
attributable to the parent and the non-controliimgrest are presented on the consolidated statesh@rcome. The
statement is effective for fiscal years beginningoo after December 15, 2008. The Company will adois
statement as required in 2009 and determinedttial not have any impact on its Consolidated Ficial
Statements.
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The FASB issued Statement No. 141 (Revised 20@8Usihess Combinations” in December 2007. The
statement requires that purchase accounting befasatl business combinations and that an acqbiesdentified
for every combination. It requires the acquirerdoognize acquired assets, liabilities and nonrodlimg interests at
their fair values. It also requires that costs ined to affect the transaction as well as any etguedut not
obligated, restructuring costs be expensed andeumunted for as a component of goodwill or pathefbusiness
combination. The statement revises the accountingdntingent assets and liabilities, deferredsaresearch and
development costs and other items associated w#iméss combinations. The statement is effectivéidoal years
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Compath adopt this statement as required in 2009 and
determined that it will impact future business camakions.

The FASB issued Statement No. 161, “Disclosuresiaberivative Instruments and Hedging Activitiesan
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133" in March 200t statement expands the disclosures of
Statement No. 133 in order to enhance the usedgrstanding of how and why an entity uses derieatihow
derivative instruments and the related hedged itm@msiccounted for and how derivative instrumentsralated
hedged items affect the entity’s financial positifinancial performance and cash flows. The statemegjuires
qualitative disclosures about hedging objectives strategies, quantitative disclosures of thevfalue of and the
gains and losses from derivatives and disclosureatacredit-risk related features in derivativelke Btatement is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Novembsr 2008. The Company will adopt this statemenegsired in
2009 and determined that the adoption will not intphe Consolidated Financial Statements other thamequired
additional disclosures.

Note B —Acquisitions

In February 2008, one of the Company’s subsidia@giired the operating assets of Techni-Met,dhc.
Windsor, Connecticut for $86.5 million in cash, liding acquisition fees. Techni-Met produces piieciprecious
metal coated flexible polymeric films used in aiggr of high end applications, including diabeté&sgydostic test
strips. Techni-Met sources the majority of its poes metal requirements from the Company’s Advaridaterial
Technologies and Services segment. The $86.5 miflicchase price was net of $1.4 million receivadkifrom
escrow in February 2009 based upon the final aguped balances under the terms of the purchasemgré. The
$1.4 million was recorded in other receivableslDecember 31, 2008 Consolidated Balance Sheets.

A condensed balance sheet depicting the final ams@ssigned to the acquired assets and liabiisesf the
acquisition date is as follows:

Asset
(Dollars in thousands) (Liability)
Precious metal inventol $22,91¢
Other current asse 8,73¢
Finite-lived intangible asse’ 26,20(
Property, plant and equipme 15,00(
Goodwill 13,87¢
Current liabilities (222)
Total purchas: $86,51:

The Company financed the acquisition with a comtimmeof cash on hand and borrowings under the
$240.0 million revolving credit agreement. Subsexte the purchase, the Company sold Techni-Megsipus
metal inventory to a financial institution for itsarket value of approximately $22.9 million and signed it back
under the existing consignment lines.
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Assuming the acquisition of TechiMet occurred on January 1, 2007, the pro formacefia selected line iter
from the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Irearuld be as follows:

Pro Forma Results

(Dollars in thousands, except (Unaudited)

for per share amounts) 2008 2007
Sales $913,51¢ $970,17"
Income before income tax 27,53¢ 86,51(
Net income 19,26: 55,65:
Diluted earnings per sha $ 094 §$ 27C

In January 2006, one of the Company’s subsidiageslired the stock of CERAC, incorporated for
$26.2 million in cash, including advisor fees. CERprovides physical vapor deposition and speciattyganic
materials for the precision optics, semiconductat ather industries at its facility in Milwaukee is®onsin.
Goodwill assigned to the transaction totaled $8ilian.

The results of the above acquired businesses welieded in the Company’s financial statements sthee
respective acquisition dates. The acquisitionsradleded in the Advanced Material Technologies Sedvices
segment. See Note E to the Consolidated Finantasti@ents for additional information on the intdolgiassets
associated with these acquisitions.

Note C—Inventories
Inventories on the Consolidated Balance Sheetswarenarized as follows:

December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007
Principally average cos
Raw materials and suppli $ 41,46¢ $ 30,33¢
Work in proces: 139,55: 156,78
Finished good 50,57¢ 54,53(
Gross inventorie 231,59¢ 241,65
Excess of average cost over LIFO inventory vi 74,88 76,46¢
Net inventories $156,71¢  $165,18¢

Average cost approximates current cost. Gross tovies accounted for using the LIFO method totaled
$154.8 million at December 31, 2008 and $145.3ionilat December 31, 2007. The liquidation of LIF®@entory
layers reduced cost of sales by $0.4 million in@80d $0.4 million in 2007.

Lower of cost or market charges reduced net invergdy $15.2 million in 2008 and $4.5 million i6Q7.

60




Table of Contents

Note D —Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment on the Consolidatdrize Sheets is summarized as follows:

December 31

2008 2007

(Dollars in thousands)
Land $ 872¢ $ 7,95¢
Buildings 111,23¢ 107,97(
Machinery and equipme 452,70: 416,66
Software 24,57( 21,82¢
Construction in progres 25,45t 17,39:¢
Allowances for depreciatio (420,790 (395,73
201,90! 176,07!
Mineral resource 5,02¢ 5,02¢
Mine developmen 7,54z 7,121
Allowances for amortization and depleti (7,222) (2,050
5,34¢ 10,10(
Property, plant and equipme— net $207,25: $186,17!

Depreciation expense was $30.3 million in 2008,.%24illion in 2007, and $23.6 million in 2006.

Note E—Intangible Assets
Assets Acquired
The Company acquired the following intangible as&e?008:

Weighted-average

Amount Amortization Period

(Dollars in thousands)
Customer relationshi $18,30( 10.0 Year
Technology 7,40C 10.0 Year
Non-compete contrac 50C 2.0 Year
Deferred financing cos 352 4.8 Year
Total assets subject to amortizat $26,55: 9.8 Year
Goodwill $13,87¢ Not Applicable

The customer relationship, technology and non-cdenpentract intangible assets and the goodwill were
acquired as part of the first quarter 2008 purcludigke operating assets of Techni-Met, Inc.
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Assets Subject to Amortization

The cost, accumulated amortization and net boakevaf intangible assets subject to amortizatioafas
December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the amortizatioaresepfor each year then ended is as follows:

2008 2007

(Dollars in thousands)
Deferred financing cos

Cost $ 4,311 $ 3,95¢

Accumulated amortizatio (2,740 (2,367)

Net book value 1,571 1,597
Customer relationshiy

Cost 24,65( 6,35(

Accumulated amortizatio (4,017) (1,65¢)

Net book value 20,63" 4,692
Technology

Cost 9,42( 2,02(

Accumulated amortizatio (1,059 (254)

Net book value 8,36¢ 1,76¢€
Patent:

Cost 69C 69C

Accumulated amortizatio (690) (690

Net book value — —
Customer contrac

Cost 282 282

Accumulated amortizatio (283) (189)

Net book value — 94
License

Cost 22C 22C

Accumulated amortizatio (11¢) (74)

Net book value 102 14¢
Non-compete contraci

Cost 50C —

Accumulated amortizatio (229) —

Net book value 271 —
Total

Cost $40,07:  $13,52:

Accumulated amortizatio (9,127%) (5,227)

Net book value $30,947 § 8,29t
Aggregate amortization exper $390C $ 1,597

The aggregate amortization expense is estimatbd $.1 million in 2009, $3.8 million in 2010, $318llion in
2011, $3.6 million in 2012 and $3.2 million in 2013

Intangible assets other than goodwill are incluitesther assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Assets Not Subject to Amortizatior

The Company’s only intangible asset not subjeentortization is goodwill. A reconciliation of thegdwill
activity for 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007
Balance at the beginning of the yi $21,89¢  $21,84:
Current year acquisitior 13,87¢
Adjustments to goodwill from prior year acquisiti — 11€
Other — (60)
Balance at the end of the ye $35,77¢  $21,89¢

Costs associated with a potential joint venturelitag $0.1 million were capitalized into goodwitl 2006. The
Company decided not to pursue the joint ventu20id7 and this amount was charged to expense angbydi

All of the goodwill has been assigned to the AdwahMaterial Technologies and Services segment.

The goodwill acquired in 2008 was deductible for parposes while the goodwill acquired in 2007 wast

Note F— Debt

A summary of long-term debt follows:
December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007
Revolving credit agreeme $ 2,30C $ 1,10C
Variable rate demand bonds payable in installmeegsnning in 200! 60C 1,20C
Variable rate industrial development revenue bgrajgable in 201! 8,30¢ 8,30¢
11,20¢ 10,60¢
Current portion of lon-term debt (600) (600)
Total $10,60¢  $10,00¢

Maturities on long-term debt instruments as of Delser 31, 2008 are as follows:

2009 $ 60C
2010 —
2011 —
2012 2,30(
2013 —
Thereaftel 8,30~
Total $11,20¢

In November 2007, the Company entered into a seioured credit agreement with six financial insitins to
replace its $125.0 million asset-based lendindifaciThe agreement provides for a $240.0 millienalving credit
facility comprised of sub-facilities for short almhg term loans, letters of credit and foreign baings and expires
in November 2012. The credit agreement also previdean uncommitted incremental facility wherebgder
certain circumstances, the Company may be ablerntol additional term loans in an aggregate amaohto
exceed $50.0 million. At December 31, 2008, theimarn availability under this facility was $211.5lhkan. The
credit agreement is secured by substantially ahefassets of the Company and its direct sub&diawith the
exception of non-mining real property and certatmeo assets. The credit agreement allows the Coynpaporrow
money at a premium over LIBOR or prime rate andaaying maturities. The premium resets quarterlyoading to
the terms and conditions available under the ageae&nit December 31, 2008, there was $2.3 milliotstanding
against the foreign borrowing sub-facility at ar@age rate of 3.90% and $26.2 million outstandig@jrest the
letters of credit sub-facility.
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The Company pays a variable commitment fee thatsepuarterly (0.125% as of December 31, 2008)ef t
available and unborrowed amounts under the revgleredit line.

The credit agreement is subject to restrictive aams including incurring additional indebtednessjuisition
limits, dividend declarations and stock repurchabeaddition, the agreement requires the Companmyaintain a
maximum leverage ratio and a minimum fixed chameecage ratio.

The following table summarizes the Company’s shema lines of credit. Amounts shown as outstandirey
included in short-term debt on the ConsolidatechBe¢ Sheets.

December 31, 200: December 31, 200
(Dollars in thousands) Total Outstanding Available Total Outstanding Available
Domestic $211,46¢ $ — $211,46¢ $211,58: $ —  $211,58:
Foreign 16,79 10,05 6,742 10,47( 5,07¢ 5,39¢
Precious mete 20,57( 20,57( — 19,82; 19,82; —
Total $248,83( $ 30,62: $218,20¢ $241,88: $ 24,900 $216,97¢

The domestic line is committed and includes allfadilities (which can be borrowed on a short-temong-
term basis) in the $240.0 million maximum borrowungder the revolving credit agreement. The Compeasy
various foreign lines of credit, one of which fob3nillion euros is committed and secured. The iaing foreign
lines are uncommitted, unsecured and renewed dgniliAe precious metal facility is secured and reed
annually. The average interest rate on short-texht @as 2.75% and 2.96% as of December 31, 2002G0d
respectively.

In November 1996, the Company entered into an aggaewith the Lorain Port Authority, Ohio to issue
$8.3 million in variable rate industrial revenuenids, maturing in 2016. The variable rate rangenhfto00% to
8.11% in 2008 and from 3.44% to 4.29% in 2007.

The final $0.6 million installment on the $3.0 rwh variable rate demand bonds is scheduled talkip
2009. The variable rate on these bonds ranged 6496 to 10.00% in 2008 and from 3.21% to 4.13%ndu2007

Note G—Leasing Arrangements

The Company leases warehouse and manufacturing,smaat manufacturing and computer equipment under
operating leases with terms ranging up to 25 ydest expense amounted to $7.6 million, $7.9 rmi|land
$7.4 million, during 2008, 2007, and 2006, respetyi. The future estimated minimum lease paymenteunon-
cancelable operating leases with initial lease semexcess of one year at December 31, 2008 sdialaws:
2009 — $7.1 million; 2010 — $6.6 million; 2011 —.$@million; 2012 — $3.2 million; 2013 — $2.9 millivand
thereafter — $26.5 million.

The Company has an operating lease for one ofaismproduction facilities. This facility is ownéay a third
party and cost approximately $20.3 million to buiztcupancy of the facility began in 1997. Leasgnpents for th
facility continue through 2011 with options for eemal. The estimated minimum payments are includete
preceding paragraph. The facility lease is sulifgcertain restrictive covenants including leverdged charges
and annual capital expenditures.
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Note H —Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value Information

The Company adopted Statement No. 157, “Fair Vilaasurements” as of January 1, 2008 and no
adjustments to the fair values of any assets biliti@s were recorded as a result of the statemmemtoption. In
accordance with this statement, the Company messune: records its outstanding derivative contractsthe
investments held in a trust under the director&ited compensation plan at fair value. The Compsdegted to
defer the application of the statement to its rioaricial assets and liabilities as allowed undd? ES7-2. The
statement establishes a hierarchy for those instintsrmeasured at fair value that distinguishes dmtvassumptior
based upon market data (observable inputs) an@dhgany’s assumptions (unobservable inputs). Teeattchy
consists of three levels:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets and liabilities;
Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 inputs thateither directly or indirectly observable; and,

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs developed using estimates ssuhgptions developed by the Company,
which reflect those that a market participant wauge.

The following table summarizes the financial instants measured at fair value in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2008:

Fair Value at Reporting Date Using:
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
(Dollars in thousands) Dec. 31 Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2008 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial Assets
Foreign currency contrac
Forward contract $1,02: $ — $ 1022 % —
Options 212 — 212 —
Directors deferred compensation investme 831 831 — —
Total $2,068 $ 831 $ 123¢ § —
Financial Liabilities
Foreign currency contrac
Forward contract $2,39C $ — $ 239C % —
Directors deferred compensation liabili 1,481 1,481 — —
Total $3,871 $ 1,481 $ 239C $ =

The Company uses a market approach to value tie¢samsd liabilities for the derivative contractghie above
table. These contracts are valued using an apptbatincorporates quoted market prices at thenisalaheet date.

The Company is exposed to interest rate, commauiitg and foreign currency exchange rate differsracel
attempts to minimize the effects of these expostimegigh a combination of natural hedges and tleeofislerivative
financial instruments. The Company has policieseygd by the Board of Directors that establishgheameters fc
the allowable types of derivative instruments taibed, the maximum allowable contract periods, eggpe dollar
limitations and other hedging guidelines. The Conypaill only secure a derivative if there is anntiéable
underlying exposure that is not otherwise coverned bhatural hedge. In general, derivatives wilhieéd until
maturity. A derivative may be terminated earlyhiéte is a change in the underlying exposure. Thefmg
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table summarizes the notional amount and the fdirev(which is the carrying amount on the Constdéiddalance
Sheets) of the Company’s outstanding derivativeisdabt as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Notional Carrying Notional Carrying
(Dollars in thousands) Amount Amount Amount Amount
Asset/(liability)
Foreign currency contracts
Forward contract
Yen $18,99° $ (2,390 $15,04« $ (151)
Euro 22,518 537 23,18t (1,164
Sterling 3,19¢ 48~ 4,38 97
Total $44,70:  $ (1,368 $42,61. $ (1,21f)
Options
Euro $268 $ 21z $721C $ (302
Interest rate swap contract
Floating to fixec $ — 3 —  $23,20: $ (449
Short and long-term debt —  $(41,82) —  $(35,509

The derivative fair values were included in the Salidated Balance Sheets as follows:

December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007

Asset/(liability)

Prepaid expenst $123¢ $ 97

Other asset — 12

Other liabilities and accrued iter (2,359 (2,079

Other lon¢-term liabilities (36) —
Total $(1,156)  $(1,969)

The balance sheet classification of the fair valeetependent upon the Compasyights and obligations und
each derivative and the remaining term to matu@tyanges in fair values of derivatives are recoidedcome or
other comprehensive income (loss) (hereafter “O@$ appropriate. A reconciliation of the changeinvalues
and other derivative activity recorded in OCI opra-tax basis for 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007

Balance in other comprehensive income (loss) atalgml $(1,309) $4,92¢
Changes in fair values and other current periowisct (2,919 (2,14
Matured derivative— (credited) charged to exper 3,06( (4,08%)
Balance in other comprehensive income (loss) acber 31 $(1,15¢)  $(1,309)

All of the outstanding derivative contracts wersidaated as cash flow hedges at inception andfiachfor
hedge accounting treatment as of December 31, 2008terest rate swap contract that was outstandof
December 31, 2007 matured during the fourth qu@@6B. This contract was initially designated @sash flow
hedge but it did not qualify for hedge accountireatment once the underlying hedged item, the blriate portio
of an operating lease, was terminated in Decemb@8.2Changes in the swap’s fair value subsequehttdime
were charged to income or expense in the curraiige

Hedge ineffectiveness, primarily changes in thevalue of the aforementioned interest rate swas an
expense of $0.2 million in 2008, an expense of §fillion in 2007 and income of $0.2 million in 2006
Ineffectiveness is recorded in other-net expenstherConsolidated Statements of Income.
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Assuming no change from the applicable Decembe2@08 exchange rates, $1.1 million will be charffech
OClI to expense during 2009.

Foreign Exchange Hedge Contracts

The Company uses forward and option contracts dgéanticipated foreign currency transactions, ariiy
foreign sales. The purpose of the program is ttept@gainst the reduction in value of the foreigrrency
transactions from adverse exchange rate moventembsild the dollar strengthen significantly, therdese in the
translated value of the foreign currency transastishould be partially offset by gains on the hedyeracts.
Depending upon the method used, the contract maythe benefits from a weakening of the dollareTh
Company'’s policy limits contracts to maturitiesteb years or less from the date of issuance. Thstanding
contracts as of year-end 2008 had maturities rgnginto 18 months; the outstanding contracts geaif-end 2007
had maturities ranging up to 15 months. Realizedsgand losses on foreign exchange contracts aoeded in
other-net on the Consolidated Statements of Incdie.total exchange gain (loss), which includetzed and
unrealized gains and losses, was $(3.7) millio2d@8, $(0.6) million in 2007 and $1.4 million inG@&

Interest Rate Hedge Contracts

The Company attempts to minimize its exposure ter@st rate variations by using combinations ofdirand
variable rate instruments with varying lengths @tanities. Depending upon the interest rate yielde, credit
spreads, projected borrowing requirements and,reés$ flow considerations and other factors, theany may
elect to secure interest rate swaps, caps, cotlpt®ns or other related derivative instrumenteédge portions of
its interest rate exposure. Both fixed-to-varisdohel variable-to-fixed interest rate instruments maywsed.

The Company did not secure a new interest rate swegplace the matured swap in the fourth qua®e8 dut
to the available market rates, cost to hedge, xpisire and other factors.

Copper Price Contracts

The Company purchases and manufactures produdiimiog copper. Purchases are exposed to price
fluctuations in the copper market. However, forgmsicant portion of its copper-based productg @ompany will
adjust its selling prices to customers to reflaet¢hange in its copper purchase price. This progsadesigned to t
profit neutral; i.e., any changes in copper prieéther up or down, will be directly passed onfe tustomer.

Historically, the Company used copper price corgréice. swaps and options) to hedge the coppahpse
price for those volumes where price fluctuationsnza be passed on to the customer. The Companysnaeke
receives payments based on a difference betwegaddrice (as specified in each individual conrand the
market price of copper. These payments will offesetchange in prices of the underlying purchasds#fiectively
fix the price of copper at the contracted ratetlfi@r contracted volume. The Company’s policy lincisnmodity
hedge contracts, including copper price contrdotmaturities of 27 months or less from the origofete of
issuance. Realized gains and losses on copper kedgracts are deferred into OCI and then amortiaembst of
sales on the Consolidated Statements of Incomethgenventory turnover period.

During the second half of 2006, the Company ina@ddke percentage of its sales of cogmesed products th
are subject to the copper price pass-through, blyereducing the underlying copper price exposuktha need for
hedging with derivative contracts. The outstandiogtracts that were initially scheduled to matmr@007 were
terminated early at a gain in 2006 and the gaindedsrred into OCI. The deferred gain on theserectd and other
contracts that matured in the second half of 20€ged $5.7 million as of December 31, 2006, $5ilian of which
was amortized to cost of sales in 2007. The remgifiD.2 million balance in OCI as of December I 2was
amortized to cost of sales in 2008. There wereapper swap hedge contracts outstanding as of Dezredih 2008
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Note | —Pensions and Other Post-retirement Benefits

The obligation and funded status of the Compangissppn and other post-retirement benefit planshosvn
below. The Pension Benefits column aggregates egfirenefit pension plans in the U.S., Germany amglaad ani
the U.S. supplemental retirement plan. The OthereBts column includes the U.S. retiree medical lfied
insurance plan.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007 2008 2007
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $134,74. $134,12¢ $ 34,23¢ $ 31,437
Service cos 5,297 5,001 303 301
Interest cos 8,49( 7,971 2,127 1,90¢
Plan amendmen — 88¢ — —
Actuarial (gain) los: 4241 (6,620 (1,325  3,10C
Benefit payments from fun (5,682 (6,46)) — —
Benefit payments directly by Compa (112 (20¢) (2,955 (3,119
Expenses paid from ass: (360) (649 — —
Medicare Part D subsic — — 397 611
Foreign currency exchange rate char (1,097 58E — —
Benefit obligation at end of ye 145,52: 134,74: 32,78¢ 34,23¢
Change in plan asset
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ 111,87: 106,63( — —
Actual return on plan asse (27,372  8,19¢ — —
Employer contribution 4,451 4,111 — —
Benefit payments from fun (5,687 (6,46)) — —
Expenses paid from ass: (360) (649 — —
Foreign currency exchange rate char (1,099 42 — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of y 81,81( 111,87: — —
Funded status at end of ye $(63,714) $(22,869) $(32,78¢) $(34,239)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Shiseconsist of:
Other liabilities and accrued iter $ — 3 — $ (2,856 $ (3,039
Retirement and pc-employment benefit (63,714 (22,869 (29,930 (31,206

$(63,719) $(22,869 $(32,78¢) $(34,239

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income é¢fore tax) consist of:

Net actuarial (gain) los $ 67,51¢ $ 28,15¢ $ (449$%  87€

Net prior service (credit) co (6,139 (6,827 93 57
$61,37¢ $21331$ (356$ 93¢

Amortizations expected to be recognized during nextscal year (before tax):
Amortization of net los $ 202¢$ 1,182 $ — % —
Amortization of prior service crec (644) (644) (36) (36)

$ 138($ 533 (36% (36

Additional information

Accumulated benefit obligation for all defined bénhpension plan: $142,89¢ $132,05( N/A N/A
For defined benefit pension plans with benefit gdiions in excess of plan asst
Aggregate benefit obligatic 142,60: 130,43! N/A N/A
Aggregate fair value of plan ass 78,80¢ 107,13¢ N/A N/A
For defined benefit pension plans with accumuldkeaefit obligations in excess of
plan assets
Aggregate accumulated benefit obligat 139,97 127,74. N/A N/A
Aggregate fair value of plan ass 78,80¢ 107,13¢ N/A N/A
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Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost and Other Biounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Incorr

(Dollars in thousands)

Net periodic benefit cost

Service cos

Interest cos

Expected return on plan ass
Amortization of prior service (benefi
Recognized net actuarial la
Curtailment (gain

Net periodic benefit cos

(Dollars in thousands)

Change in other comprehensive income
OCI at beginning of yee
Increase (decrease) in O
Recognized during ye— prior service cost (credi
Recognized during ye— net actuarial (losses) gai
Occurring during yea— prior service cos
Occurring during yea— net actuarial losses (gair
Increase (decrease) prior to adoption of
Statement No. 15
Increase (decrease) due to adoption of
Statement No. 15
Foreign currency exchange rate char

OCl at end of yea

Other Benefits
2008 2007 2006

Pension Benefits
2008 2007 2006

$5,297 $5,001 $5,442 $ 303 $ 301 $ 29t

8,490 7,977 7,448 2127 1,90¢ 1,90:
(9,06) (9,002 (855 — — @ —
(644 (660) (705 (36) (36) (36)
1,18¢ 1,827 2,19¢ — @ —  —

B (o N u—

$5,26¢ $5,13¢ $5,34¢ $2,39¢ $2,17< $2,16:

Other Benefits
2007

Pension Benefits
2007

2008 2006 2008 2006

$21,337 $27,437 $36,83( $ 93¢ $(2,20) N/A

644  66C — 36 36 N/A
(1,225 (1,829 — — — NA
39  88¢ — — — NA
40,677 (5,817 — (1,325 3,10 N/A
— — (11,879 — —  NA
— 2430 — — (2,209

(93) (9) 50 — — —
$61,37¢ $21,337 $27,437 $ (356)$ 932 $(2,209)

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit ObligatianRecognized in Other Comprehensive Income

(Dollars in thousands)

Total cost (benefit) recognized in OCI prior to ption of

Statement No. 15

Other Benefits
2008 2007 2006

Pension Benefits
2007 2006

2008

N/A N/A $(11,879) N/A N/A N/A

Total cost (benefit) recognized in net periodic dfircost and OCI

prior to adoption of Statement No. 1

N/A NA $ (6520 NA NA $2,16:




Table of Contents

Summary of key valuation assumption:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine bene

obligations at fiscal year end
Discount rate 6.16% 6.44% N/A 6.15% 6.5(% N/A
Rate of compensation incree 2.0% 4.4% N/A 2.0% 4.5(% N/A
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net cost 1

the fiscal year

Discount rate 6.41% 5.95% 5.61% 6.5(% 6.13% 5.7%%
Expected lon-term return on plan asse 8.21% 8.4€% 8.47% N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation incree 4346 4.352% 4.35% 4.5(% 4.50% 4.5(%

The Company uses a December 31 measurement dalte falbove plans.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company reviseceitpected long-term rate of return assumption used i
calculating the annual expense for its domestisjogrplan in accordance with Statement No. 87, “Bygrs’
Accounting for Pensions”. This assumed expected-tenm rate of return was decreased to 8.25% fr&#8with
the impact being accounted for as a change in astinkffective January 1, 2006, the Company reuisee@xpecte
long-term rate of return assumption used in catowehe annual expense for its domestic pensian {m 8.5%
from 8.75%, with the impact being accounted foaa@hange in estimate.

Management establishes the domestic expected &ngraite of return assumption by reviewing itsdrisal
trends and analyzing the current and projected etadnditions in relation to the plan’s asset atamn and risk
management objectives. Consideration is given tb terent plan asset performance as well as pkat as
performance over various long-term periods of timigh an emphasis on the assumption being a prtispetong-
term rate of return. Management consults with amsitlers the opinions of its outside investmenisaig and
actuaries when establishing the rate and revienassumptions with the Retirement Plan Review Cdtamof the
Board of Directors. Management believes that tB8%. domestic expected long-term rate of returnrapsion is
achievable and reasonable given current marketithomsl and forecasts, asset allocations, investipelnties and
investment risk objectives.

The domestic rate of compensation increase assomts changed from a flat 4.5% to a graded assoma
of January 1, 2009. The graded assumption for ¢ineedtic rate of compensation increase is 2.0%®R009 fisce
year, 3.0% for the 2010 fiscal year, 4.0% for thé Rfiscal year and 4.5% for the 2012 fiscal yeat later.

Assumptions for the defined benefit pension planGérmany and England are determined separatetytfie
U.S. plan assumptions, based on historical trendscarrent and projected market conditions in Geyrand
England. The plan in Germany is unfunded and the gl England has assets that are 4% of the Congpany
aggregated total fair value of plan assets as af-gad 2008.

2008 2007
Assumed health care trend rates at fiscal year er
Health care trend rate assumed for next: 8.0(% 9.0(%
Rate that the trend rate gradually declines tangalte trend rate 5.0(% 5.0(%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 201z 201z

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifeffect on the amounts reported for the health plans.
A one-percentage-point change in assumed heakhcost trend rates would have the following effects

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage-

Point Increase Point Decrease
(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007 2008 2007
Effect on total of service and interest cost congms $53 $40 $ (49 $ (36
Effect on pos-retirement benefit obligatio 79€ 87¢ (718 (795
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Plan Assets

The Company’s domestic defined benefit pension plaighted-average asset allocation at fiscal yedr2908
and 2007 and target allocation are as follows:

Percentage of Pensio

Plan Assets
Target At Fiscal Year End

Asset Categon Allocation 2008 2007
Equity securitie: 25-55% 33% 56%
Debt securitie: 20-40% 3% 26%
Real estat 5-15% 6% 8%
Other 3-43% 22% 10%

Total 10C% 10(% 10C%

The Company’s pension plan investment strateggppsoved by the Retirement Plan Review Commitety i
employ an allocation of investments that will gexterreturns equal to or better than the projeadrd-term growth
of pension liabilities so that the plan will befsieinding. The return objective is to maximize istment return to
achieve and maintain a 100% funded status over, takéng into consideration required cash contidng. The
allocation of investments is designed to maximimeadvantages of diversification while mitigatihg trisk and
overall portfolio volatility to achieve the retuabjective. Risk is defined as the annual variapilitvalue and is
measured in terms of the standard deviation ofstment return. Under the Company’s investment jesic
allowable investments include domestic equitierimational equities, fixed income securities, caghivalents and
alternative securities (which include real estptivate venture capital investments and hedge furitnges, in
terms of a percentage of the total assets, arblissted for each allowable class of security. Datixes may be used
to hedge an existing security or as a risk redndiicategy. Management reviews the asset allocatiam quarterly
or more frequent basis and makes revisions as deageessary.

None of the plan assets noted above are investiba iGompany’s common stock.

Cash Flows
Employer Contributions
The Company expects to contribute $18.3 millioftg@lomestic pension plan and $2.9 million to itseo
benefit plans in 2009.
Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée faid:

Other Benefits

Net of
Medicare

Gross Benefi Part D
During Fiscal Years Pension Benefit Payment Subsidy

(Dollars in thousands)

2009 $ 577 % 3,24t $ 2,85¢
2010 6,16¢ 3,32¢ 2,91¢
2011 6,53¢ 3,367 2,93¢
2012 7,261 3,36¢ 2,91z
2013 7,84¢ 3,35¢ 2,88¢
2014 through 201 48,11( 15,88¢ 13,25:
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Other Benefit Plans

The Company also has accrued unfunded retiremeamigements for certain directors. The benefit athian
for these arrangements was $0.1 million at Decer@be2008 and $0.1 million at December 31, 2007. A
corresponding accumulated benefit obligation ofsé@mounts has been recognized as a liability smtiuded in
retirement and post-employment benefits as ofélspective year-ends. Certain foreign subsidiare® faccrued
unfunded pension and other post-employment arrasgemThe liability for these arrangements was ##lBon at
December 31, 2008 and $2.8 million at DecembefB@7 and was included in retirement and post-enmpéot
benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company also sponsors defined contributiongpéasailable to substantially all U.S. employeean@any
contributions to the plans are based on matchipgreentage of employee savings up to a specifigdgslevel.
The Company’s annual contributions were $3.0 nrillio 2008, $2.9 million in 2007 and $2.5 million2006. The
Company reduced its matching percentage in hadtéffe at the beginning of 2009.

Note J—Contingencies and Commitments
CBD Claims

The Company is a defendant in proceedings in varstate and federal courts by plaintiffs alleginat they
have contracted chronic beryllium disease (CBDetated ailments as a result of exposure to bemlliPlaintiffs ir
CBD cases seek recovery under theories of negligand various other legal theories and seek corapmysand
punitive damages, in many cases of an unspecified Spouses, if any, claim loss of consortium. Addal CBD
claims may arise.

Management believes the Company has substantehsies in these cases and intends to contest the sui
vigorously. Employee cases, in which plaintiffs @avhigh burden of proof, have historically invalvelatively
small losses to the Company. Third-party plaintjffgically employees of customers) face a loweden of proof
than do the Company’s employees, but these casesgeaerally been covered by varying levels of iasoe.

The Company received enhanced insurance covergg@tasf the legal settlement with its insurershia fourtt
quarter 2007. See Note N to the Consolidated Finb8tatements. The enhanced insurance includesrecce
based coverage for years up to the date of thilersemt, including years when the Company did nethany
beryllium-related product liability insurance. Gta filed by third-party plaintiffs alleging chronieryllium disease
filed prior to the end of 2022 will be covered Iwstinsurance if any portion of the alleged expesueriod occurred
prior to year end 2007. Both defense and indenutists are covered subject to an annual $1.0 mitlexductible
and other terms and provisions.

Although it is not possible to predict the outcoafi¢he litigation pending against the Company aad i
subsidiaries, the Company provides for costs rélatehese matters when a loss is probable andntoaint is
reasonably estimable. Litigation is subject to mangertainties, and it is possible that some ofittens could be
decided unfavorably in amounts exceeding the Coryipaaserves. An unfavorable outcome or settlernéat
pending CBD case or additional adverse media cgeetauld encourage the commencement of additiamibs
litigation. The Company is unable to estimate dteptial exposure to unasserted claims.

The Company recorded a reserve for CBD litigatib820 million as of December 31, 2008 and $1.3iamilat
December 31, 2007. The reserve is included in ddmg-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balaigtesets. The
Company also recorded an asset of $1.7 milliorf &cember 31, 2008 and $1.0 million as of Decen®ie2007
for recoveries from insurance carriers on the antding insured claims. The asset is included ierofissets on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. There were no setitgpagments made in 2008 for beryllium litigatiohile
settlement payments totaled $0.1 million in 2007.

While the Company is unable to predict the outcarfrthe current or future CBD proceedings, basechupo
currently known facts and assuming collectibilifyimsurance, the Company does not believe thatutso of the
current or future beryllium proceedings will havenaterial adverse effect on the financial conditorcash flow of
the Company. However, the Company’s results of atpsrs could be materially affected by unfavorakegults in
one or more of these cases.
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Environmental Proceeding

The Company has an active program for environmeatapliance that includes the identification of
environmental projects and estimating their immacthe Company’s financial performance and avalabsources.
Environmental expenditures that relate to currg@@rations, such as wastewater treatment and carfteatborne
emissions, are either expensed or capitalized g®ppate. The Company records reserves for thibgine costs fc
environmental remediation projects. The Compangisrenmental engineers perform routine on-goingyses of
the remediation sites and will use outside constgtto assist in their analyses from time to tieecruals are based
upon their analyses and are established at elibdrdst estimate or, absent a best estimate, kvihend of the
estimated range of costs. The accruals are refasdhe results of on-going studies and for diffexes between
actual and projected costs. The accruals are #estted by rulings and negotiations with regulatagencies. The
timing of payments often lags the accrual, as emvirental projects typically require a number ofrgda complete.

The undiscounted reserve balance for environmeataediation projects was $6.3 million at Decemtder 3
2008 and $5.2 million at December 31, 2007. Thetarm portion of the reserve included in othemgltarm
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets $4&8 million at both December 31, 2008 and 2002 fE#maining
portion of the reserve in each year was includeatlier accrued liabilities. These reserves covistiag or currentl
foreseen projects. It is possible that additiomsfirmnmental losses may occur beyond the curresgrve, the extent
of which cannot be estimated.

In 2008, the Company increased the reserve $1lbmfbr clean-up costs associated with the Comfzgany
former headquarters building; this facility, whitte Company still owned as of year-end 2008, hadipusly been
used for light manufacturing and research and dgveént work. The reserve was also increased $0li@mfior
changes in estimates on existing projects in 2B@@ments against the reserve totaled $0.3 milkd@008. In 2007
the Company paid $0.1 million against the environtakreserve and expensed $0.2 million for chaimyestimate:
and for a newly identified small project.

Long-term Obligation

The Company had a long-term supply arrangementWitth/Kazatomprom of the Republic of Kazakhstan and
their marketing representative, Nukem, Inc. of Gastitut that terminated on December 31, 2008. Tineeament, ¢
amended, allowed for purchases of beryllium-coiagimaterials to be made through 2012 if a newepciould be
negotiated for deliveries in 2009 through 2012. phdies were unable to reach agreement on a niew gmd the
agreement was terminated accordingly. Future pseshaay be made from Nukem from time to time thinathg
Company’s normal purchasing practices. Purchasbsryflium-containing materials from Nukem were $8.9 mil
in 2008, $6.4 million in 2007 and $9.1 million iO@6.

The Company had agreements to purchase statedtmsaot beryl ore, beryllium metal and copper biéunyn
master alloy from the Defense Logistics Agencyhef t).S. Government that expired in 2007. Purchasdsr these
agreements totaled approximately $4.9 million i02@nd $0.7 million in 2006. The purchased mategated as a
raw material input for operations within Specidiizgineered Alloys and Beryllium and Beryllium Consjies.

Other

One of the Company’s subsidiaries is a defendaatlnS. legal case where the plaintiff is allegiagent
infringement by the Company and a small numbetsofustomers. The Company has provided an indemnity
agreement to certain of those customers, undervithie Company will pay any damages awarded bydhet.cThe
Company believes it has numerous and strong defeaicable to both the Company and the indenthifie
customers and is contesting this action. The Compas filed suit seeking sanctions against thispfa Both of
these actions are ongoing with the patent infringigincase set for trial in the first half of 200%eTCompany earlier
filed a suit in Australia to revoke a correspondjpagent and the Australian court ruled in the Comyfsafavor. The
Company has not made any payments for damageshaif bé any customers as of December 31, 2008hasrthe
Company recorded a reserve for losses under thdsennification agreements as of December 31, ZDI08.
Company does not believe a range of potential fgsany, can be estimated at the present time.
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The Company is subject to various other legal beoproceedings that relate to the ordinary coofses
business. The Company believes that the resolofitineese proceedings, individually or in the agategwill not
have a material adverse impact upon the Compauwyisalidated financial statements.

The Company has outstanding letters of creditit@a$16.7 million related to workers’ compensation,
consigned precious metal guarantees, environmegrtaddiation issues and other matters that expi2@Q9.
Note K—Common Stock and Stock-based Compensation

The Company has five million shares of Serial Rrefit Stock authorized (no par value), none of wiiahe
been issued. Certain terms of the Serial Prefe3tedk, including dividends, redemption and conwersivill be
determined by the Board of Directors prior to isste&a

A reconciliation of the changes in the number @&frels of common stock issued is as follows (in thads):

Issued as of January 1, 2C 25,55
Exercise of stock optior 841
Issued as of December 31, 2( 26,39¢
Exercise of stock optior 29¢€
Vesting of restricted shar 14
Issued as of December 31, 2( 26,70¢
Exercise of stock optior 12
Vesting of restricted shar 8
Issued as of December 31, 2( 26,72¢

On May 2, 2000 the ComparsyBoard of Directors adopted a share purchasesrighh and declared a divide
distribution of one right for each share of Comn&tack outstanding as of the close of business oy Ma2000.
The plan allows for new shares issued after May2060 to receive one right subject to certain ktidns and
exceptions. Each right entitles the sharehold&utoone one-hundredth of a share of Serial Prefeteck,
Series A, at an initial exercise price of $1100#fat of 450,000 unissued shares of Serial Prefe3tedk will be
designated as Series A Preferred Stock. Each sh&eries A Preferred Stock will be entitled totfapate in
dividends on an equivalent basis with one hundhedes of common stock and will be entitled to coevThe
rights will not be exercisable and will not be eaftted by separate right certificates until a sptifime after any
person or group acquires beneficial ownership 8620 more (or announces a tender offer for 20% areinof
common stock. The rights expire on May 16, 201@, @an be redeemed for 1 cent per right under certai
circumstances.

New stock incentive plans (the 2006 Stock Incenflan and the 2006 Non-employee Director EquitynPla
were approved at the May 2, 2006 annual meetirghafeholders. These plans authorize the grantiogtain
rights, stock appreciation rights, performancerietstd shares, performance shares, performance amit restricted
shares and replaced the 1995 Stock Incentive Rldhe 1997 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-employ@edors,
although there are still options outstanding urilese plans.

Stock Options

Stock options may be granted to employees or nguiegrae directors of the Company. Option rightsténthe
optionee to purchase common shares at a price tmoahgreater than the market value on the dateeofjrant.
Option rights granted to employees generally beceregcisable (i.e., vest) over a four-year period expire ten
years from the date of the grant. Options granteshiployees may also be issued with shorter vepgénigds.
Options granted to non-employee directors vesixim®nths and expire ten years from the date ofjlaat. The
number of options available to be issued is esthéd in plans approved by shareholders.

Compensation cost for options is determined atittte of the award through the use of a pricing rhadeé
charged against income over the vesting perio@dch award. Compensation cost was zero in 2008tHas
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$0.1 million in 2007 and $0.3 million in 2006. Tlkds no remaining unvested value to be expenséleon
outstanding options as of December 31, 2008.

The following table summarizes the Company’s stotion activity for the year ended December 31,800

Weighted-
average Weighted-
Exercise Aggregate average
Number of Price Per Intrinsic Remaining
(Shares in thousands Options Share Value Term
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 367 $ 15.9¢
Exercisec (12 20.1¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 35E 1581 $ 271 4.30year
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 35E 1581 $ 271 4.30year
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 35E 1581 $ 271 4.30year
Summarized information on options outstanding aBexdember 31, 2008 follows:
Number Weighted- Weighted-
Outstanding average average
and Exercisable Remaining Exercise
(in Thousands) Life (in Years) Price
Range of Option Prices
$5.55-$8.10 36 4.2~ $ 6.0¢
$12.15-$14.80 75 4.0t 12.81
$15.9-$17.68 19z 4.9¢ 17.1C
$20.6-$22.43 51 2.1% 22.22
35E 4.3(C $ 15.81

Cash received from the exercise of stock optioteded $0.2 million in 2008, $5.0 million for 2007
$13.6 million for 2006. The tax benefit realizedrfr tax deductions from exercises was $0.5 millio2008,
$2.8 million in 2007 and $2.6 million in 2006. Tte#al intrinsic value of options exercised durihe year ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $0.1 milgér8 million and $8.2 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock

The Company may grant restricted stock to emplogedsnon-employee directors of the Company. These
shares must be held and not disposed for a desijpatiod of time as defined at the date of thatgrad are
forfeited should the holder's employment termindtieing the restriction period. The fair market \eabf the
restricted shares is determined on the date ajriduet and is amortized over the restriction peridte restriction
period is typically three years.

The fair value of the restricted stock units isdzhen the stock price on the date of grant. Thghted-average
grant date fair value for 2008, 2007 and 2006 v2&6v, $44.98 and $24.77, respectively.

Compensation cost was $1.7 million in 2008, $1.Bioniin 2007 and $0.3 million in 2006. The unanimed
compensation cost on the outstanding restrictezkst@s $2.1 million as of December 31, 2008 arekjsected to
be amortized over a weighted-average period of a6ths.
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The following table summarizes the restricted stactvity during 2008:

Weighted-average
Grant Date Fair

(Shares in thousands Number of Shares Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 83 % 39.8:
Granted 63 28.61
Vested 8 46.01
Forfeited (3 37.1¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 13E $ 34.3¢

Long-term Incentive Plans

Under long-term incentive compensation plans, etvegwfficers and selected other employees reocsash or
stock awards based upon the Company’s performareretioe defined period, typically three years. Adgamay
vary based upon the degree to which actual perfiecmaxceeds the pre- determined threshold, tangletraximum
performance levels at the end of the performancieg® Payouts may be subjected to attainmentrettiold
performance objectives.

Under the 2006-2008, the 2007-2009 and the 2008-&i¥iig-term incentive plans, base awards will lides
in shares of the Company’s common stock while parémce achievement in excess of the defined tavg#tse
paid in cash based upon the share price of the @oypcommon stock as of the end of the performaec®d.
Compensation expense is based upon the perfornpaojeetions for the three-year period, the perapmiat
requisite service rendered and the fair marketevafithe Company’s common stock on the date ofjithat. The
offset to the compensation expense for the podfdhe award to be settled in shares is recordduirwi
shareholders’ equity which totaled $0.1 million #8108, $1.9 million for 2007 and $0.7 million fod@6. The
related balance in shareholders’ equity was $2llfomias of December 31, 2008.

Directors Deferred Compensation

Non-employee directors may defer all or part ofrtfees into shares of the Company’s common stobk. fair
value of the deferred shares is determined atltheesacquisition date and is recorded within shadsns’ equity.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the Compaaynmon stock do not impact the recorded valdesen
shares.

Prior to December 31, 2004, the non-employee dirediad the election to defer their fees into shafehe
Company’s common stock or other specific investsenhe directors may also transfer their deferradunts
between election choices. The fair value of thedetl shares is determined at the acquisitionatadeecorded
within shareholders’ equity with the offset recatdes a liability. Subsequent changes in the faiketavalue of the
Company’s common stock are reflected as a changieiliability and an increase or decrease to esg@en

The following table summarizes the stock activady the directors’ deferred compensation plan dugi@gs:

Weighted-average
Grant Date Fair

(Shares in thousands) Number of Shares Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 77 $ 18.9¢
Granted 12 24.1¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 8 % 19.6¢

The Company recorded income of $1.2 million ondhiectors’deferred compensation plan in 2008, an exg
of $0.3 million in 2007 and expense of $1.3 milliar2006. During the years ended December 31, 220&/7 and
2006, the weighted-average grant date fair valughafes granted was $24.18, $45.22 and $22.8 katbagly.
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Stock Appreciation Right:

The Company may grant stock appreciation rightsRB#® certain employees and non-employee directors.
Upon exercise of vested SAR, the participant veitleive a number of shares of common stock equbktspread
(the difference between the market price of the @amy’s common stock at the time of the exercisethadtrike
price established in the SAR agreement) dividethbycommon stock price. The strike price of the S&Bqual to
or greater than the market value of the Company'smon shares on the day of the grant. The numb8A&f
available to be issued is established by plansoaeprby the shareholders. The vesting period amdifthof the
SAR are established in the SAR agreement at the dgiithe grant. The exercise of the SAR is satidfig the
issuance of treasury shares.

In the first quarter of 2008, the Company issugoraximately 32,000 SAR at a strike price of $27p€8 share
The SAR vest three years from the date of grantexipite in ten years.

Weighted-
average Weighted-
Exercise Aggregate average
Number of Price Per Intrinsic Remaining
SAR Share Value Term
(Shares in thousands
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 157 $ 29.3¢
Granted 32 27.7¢
Expired/Cancelles 9 28.92
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 18C 29.0¢ — 7.81 year
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 18C 29.0¢ — 7.81 year

Exercisable at December 31, 2( — — — _

The fair value of the SAR granted in 2008 was $34The fair value will be amortized to compensatiost or
a straight-line basis over the three-year vestangpd. Compensation cost was $0.8 million, $0.7iomland
$0.3 million for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectivahyl was included in selling, general and admirtisgaéxpense.
The unamortized compensation cost balance wasi@li8n as of December 31, 2008.

Summarized information on SAR outstanding as ofdbdwer 31, 2008 follows:

Number Weighted-average Weighted-average
Outstanding Remaining Life Exercise
SAR Prices (in thousands’ (in Years) Price
$24.03 111 7.34 $ 24.0¢
$27.78 30 9.1: 27.7¢
$44.72 39 8.1% 44.7:
18C 7.81 $ 29.0¢

None of the SAR in the table above are exercisable.

The fair value of the SAR was estimated on the tgilate using the Black-Scholes pricing model whth t
following assumptions:

2008 2007 2006

Risk-free interest rat 2186 5.05% 4.6%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Volatility 49.2% 45.1% 44.2%
Expected lives (in year: 6.5 6.C 6.C

The risk-free rate of return was based upon theetimonth Treasury bill rate at the time the SARengranted.
The Company has not paid a dividend since 2001 shhee price volatility was calculated based upenactual
closing prices of the Company’s shares at monthosed a period of approximately ten years priothi® granting
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of the SAR. This approach to measuring volatilitconsistent with the approach used to calculate dkatility
assumption in the valuation of stock options urtberdisclosure only provisions of Statement No. p&8r to 2006
Prior analyses indicated that the Company’s emgayeck options have an average life of approxilyaig years.
Prior to 2006, the Company had not granted SARdigaificant number of years. Management belielias the
SAR have similar features and should function &inailar manner to employee stock options.

Note L —Other Comprehensive Income

The following table summarizes the cumulative renffloss) by component, net of tax, within other
comprehensive income as of December 31, 2008, 2002006.

December 31

2008 2007 2006

(Dollars in thousands)
Foreign currency translation adjustm $ 234¢ $ 41 $ (1,589
Derivative financial instruments (net of taxes $1,808) in 2008, ($1,859) in

2007 and $322 in 200t 652 55¢ 4,60¢
Pension and other retirement plan adjustment (nixes of ($10,224) in

2008, $2,902 in 2007 and $1,108 in 20 (50,799  (25,17)  (26,34)
Total $(47,800)  $(24,570  $(23,320)
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Note M —Segment Reporting and Geographic Information

Advanced Beryllium

Material Specialty and Engineerec
Technologie:  Engineered  Beryllium Material All

(Dollars in thousands) and Services Alloys Composite: Systems Subtotal Other Total
2008
Revenues from external custom $466,44° $299,86° $63,60: $65,91: $895,83. $13,88( $909,71:
Intersegment revenu 7,18( 77€ 452 1,40¢ 9,81: — 9,81:
Operating profit (loss 10,33¢ 5,84¢ 8,37: 5,931 30,48t (2,414 28,07
Depreciation, depletion and

amortization 9,872 18,24¢ 74C 2,27: 31,13: 2,69¢ 33,82¢
Expenditures for lor-lived asset: 7,75¢ 9,14t 13,16 1,14¢ 31,21+ 4,72 35,93¢
Assets 208,38¢( 239,81( 54,22¢ 23,087 525,50¢ 56,38¢ 581,89
2007
Revenues from external custom $519,94( $289,97. $60,48¢ $70,88¢ $941,28t $14,42: $955,70¢
Intersegment revenu 5,152 3,54¢ 1,06z 2,12 11,88 11,88
Operating profit 59,36¢ 7,58¢ 7,831 4,72¢ 79,51« 4,951 84,46¢
Depreciation, depletion and

amortization 5,34( 12,51¢( 90C 2,34( 21,09( 2,79( 23,88(
Expenditures for lor-lived asset: 10,33 12,48¢ 5,08¢ 2,96: 30,87 2,67¢ 33,55(
Assets 188,93t 229,58. 38,14¢ 26,84! 483,50¢ 67,04: 550,55
2006
Revenues from external custom $343,44¢ $275,64. $57,627 $68,73¢ $745,45( $17,60¢ $763,05:
Intersegment revenu 4,33: 5,572 732 3,00( 13,63¢ 27 13,66:
Operating profit (loss 30,53¢ 7,94¢ 7,44¢ 2,742 48,67 (4,834  43,84(
Depreciation, depletion and

amortization 5,77C 12,54( 1,04( 2,43¢ 21,78¢ 2,81¢ 24,60:
Expenditures for lor-lived asset: 6,28: 4,53( 1,92( 1,75¢€ 14,48¢ 1,03: 15,52
Assets 149,45. 234,36t 33,04: 26,23 443,09. 55,51¢ 498,60t

Intersegment revenue is eliminated in consolidafidre revenues from external customers are preseeteof
intersegment revenues. Segments are evaluated aséngting profit.

The All Other column includes the operating resaftZentrix Technologies Inc., Circuits Processing
Technology, Inc. (CPT) and BEM Services, Inc.vaiblly owned subsidiaries, and other corporate gbsrZentrix
manufactures electronic packages and other compof@rsales to the telecommunications and compartdr
automotive electronics market. In the first qua@d7, the Company sold the operating assets of @Bmall
facility that manufactured circuitry for defensedamommercial applications. BEM Services Inc. presd
administrative and financial services to the othesinesses in the Company on a cost-plus basisAlTk#her
assets include used by the aforementioned subsislias well as cash and long-term deferred incamxest

Sales from U.S. operations to external domesticfaregn customers were $692.6 million in 2008,
$714.3 million in 2007 and $585.8 million in 20@%venues attributed to countries based upon tlatidoc
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of customers and long-lived assets, which includgerty, plant and equipment, intangible assetsgamdiwill,
deployed by country are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Revenue!
United State! $590,50. $542,75! $499,68:
All other 319,21( 412 ,95¢ 263,37
Total $909,71. $955,70¢ $763,05:
Long-lived Assets
United State: $260,35! $203,47. $196,32¢
All other 13,62¢ 12,89¢ 10,50¢
Total $273,97¢ $216,36¢ $206,83¢

No individual country, other than the United Statmscustomer accounted for 10% or more of the Cowjs
revenues for the years presented. Revenues frasideuhe United States are primarily from Asia &udope.

Note N—Litigation Settlement Gain

In the fourth quarter 2008, the Company reacheagaeement to settle a lawsuit in which the Compaought
to recover its rights under a previously signecemdity agreement with a customer. The settlemestdf million,
net of legal fees, was recorded as a litigatiotiesaent gain on the Consolidated Statement of Irconm2008. The
cash was received in 2008.

In a separate case, during the fourth quarter 20@7Company reached an agreement to settle aitaagminst
its former insurers. The Company originally filégtlawsuit in attempts to resolve a dispute ovev imsurance
coverage should be applied to incurred legal defensts and indemnity payments. In the third qua@e6, the
court issued a summary judgment in the Companyasrfand awarded the Company damages of $7.8 miitidre
paid by the Company’s former insurance providete @amages represent costs previously paid by dhgp@ny
over a number of years that were not reimbursetthé&ynsurance providers. The damages also incladedied
interest on those costs. Due to uncertainties sading the appeal process and the ultimate callectf the award,
the $7.8 million was never recorded in the Constéd Financial Statements.

Under the terms of the settlement, the insurerseajto pay the Company $17.5 million in cash, gtevi
enhanced insurance coverage and apply insuranegagm/to costs and indemnity payments in a maroraistent
with the Company’s interpretation. See Note J to@onsolidated Financial Statements. The Compargedgo
withdraw its bad faith claim, which had been scheddor trial in the first quarter 2008, and dise@d its rights to
the prior $7.8 million award.

The Company applied $1.1 million of the settlemegainst indemnity and defense costs that had been
previously recorded on the Consolidated Balance&i®recoverable costs from the insurance proyvjidéth the
remaining $16.4 million of the settlement recordsdncome. The Company incurred $7.7 million irelezpsts
during 2007 pursuing this action. The net $8.7imillbenefit was recorded as a litigation settlengzin on the
Consolidated Statement of Income.

During the fourth quarter 2007, one of the defetslaaid $6.2 million directly to the Company’s atteys,
reducing the Company’s receivable from this settlehas well as the Company’s payable to the atysrbg the
same amount. The remaining $11.3 million due the@any was recorded under other receivables on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, @@ Wwas received early in the first quarter 2008.
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Note O —Interest

Interest expense associated with active constmetiml mine development projects is capitalizedandrtized
over the future useful lives of the related assete. following chart summarizes the interest inedrrcapitalized ar
paid, as well as the amortization of capitalizeeriest for 2008, 2007 and 2006.

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Interest incurres $2,368  $2,13¢  $4,271
Less capitalized intere 37C 37¢ 13€
Total net expens $1,998  $1,76C $4,13¢
Interest paic $2,19¢  $2,10¢  $3,87¢
Amortization of capitalized interest included instof sales $ 59t $ 567 $ 52t

The difference in expense among 2008, 2007 and 2@86&ue to changes in the level of outstanding alet
the average borrowing rate. Amortization of deferfieancing costs within interest expense was $tildon in
2008, $0.4 million in 2007 and $0.5 million in 2006

Note P—Income Taxes

Income before income taxes and income taxes (igaedi comprised of the following components,
respectively:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Income before income taxe
Domestic $2464¢ $79,54 $34,00:
Foreign 1,43( 3,16( 5,704
Total before income taxe $26,07¢ $82,708 $ 39,70t

Income taxes (benefit
Current income taxe:

Domestic $ 65¢ $13,15. $ 1,15¢
Foreign 904 96¢ 1,60z
Total curreni 1,56: 14,12( 2,761
Deferred income taxe
Domestic $ 6,261 $13,21¢ $§ 9,25¢
Foreign (268) 1,16(C (160
Valuation allowanct 157 92t (21,759
Total deferrec 6,15¢ 15,30( (12,659
Total income taxes (benef $ 7,71¢  $29,42( $ (9,899
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The reconciliation of the federal statutory anctefive income tax rates follows:

2008 2007 2006

Federal statutory ra: 35.(% 35.(% 34.(%
State and local income taxes, net of federal téect 2.1 0.€ 2.C
Effect of excess of percentage depletion over deptetion 5G4 @249 (2.9
Manufacturing production deductic 1.5 @.2 —
Officers’ compensatiol 0.7 1.t ilC
Adjustment to unrecognized tax bene (5.0 — —
Extraterritorial income exclusic — — (3.
Taxes on foreign source incor 0.€ 1.C (1.3
Valuation allowanct — —  (54.9
Other items 3.1 (0.9 0.4
Effective tax rate (benefi 29.6% 35.€% (24.9%

Included in current domestic income taxes, as shiawhe Consolidated Statements of Income, are $0.8
million, $1.2 million, and $1.2 million of state étocal income taxes in 2008, 2007 and 2006, reaa@by.

The Company made domestic and foreign income tgnpats of $8.6 million, $13.8 million and $1.8 nat
in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbesd on temporary differences between the finaregarting
bases and the tax bases of assets and liabiliteferred tax assets and (liabilities) recordeda@onsolidated
Balance Sheets consist of the following:

December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007
Pos-retirement benefits other than pensi $12,96« $13,63¢
Alternative minimum tax cred 7,404 9,671
Other reserve 6,927 8,37¢
Environmental reserve 2,181 1,817
Pension: 15,90( 7,721
Derivative instruments and hedging activit 46€ 622
Net operating loss and credit carryforwi 2,93¢ 2,27¢
Miscellaneous 80 —
48,85¢ 44,12«
Valuation allowanct (1,399 (1,247
Total deferred tax asse 47,45¢ 42,88:
Depreciatior (26,02¢) (28,430
Amortization (4,239 (4,13
Inventory (1,602 @)
Capitalized interest expen (440) (67€)
Mine developmen (1,170 (2,475
Miscellaneous — (96)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (33,479 (35,819
Net deferred tax ass $13,98( $ 7,064

The Company has deferred income tax assets offfeawaluation allowance for state and foreign net
operating loss and state investment tax crediy/fmxwards. The Company intends to maintain a vabuat
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allowance on these deferred tax assets until @atiain event occurs to support reversal of akh gortion of the
allowance.

At December 31, 2008, for income tax purposesCii@pany had foreign net operating loss carryforaard
totaling $3.9 million that do not expire, and sta&t operating loss carryforwards of $16.9 milltbat expire in
calendar years 2009 through 2025. The Companytageltax credits of $1.3 million that expire ineadar years
2009 through 2015. The Company had alternativermum tax credits of $7.3 million that do not expire.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, and in various state, local &miekign
jurisdictions. With limited exceptions, the Compaayo longer subject to US federal examinatioms/éars befor
2001, state and local examinations for years bef685, and foreign examinations for tax years leegf02. The
Company is presently under examination for the imedilings in federal and state jurisdictions.

A reconciliation of the Company’s unrecognized baxefits for the years ending December 31, 2008280d

is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2008 2007
Balance as of January $5,36¢ $5,40¢
Addition to tax positions related to current y 35¢ 7
Reduction to tax positions related to prior ye — (44)
Lapses on statutes of limitatio (2,257) —
Balance as of December $3,47¢  $5,36¢

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $3.7 millibanrecognized tax benefits, of which $3.0 million
would affect the Company’s effective tax rate dagnized. The gross unrecognized tax benefitsdiffiér from the
amount that would affect the effective tax rate thuthe impact of foreign country offsets relatiogransfer pricing
adjustments and other offsetting items.

The Company classifies all interest and penaltesiecome tax expense. The Company has recorded
approximately $0.2 million of accrued interest @eehalties related to uncertain tax positions.

A provision has not been made with respect to $&8llfon of unremitted foreign earnings at DecemBgr
2008 because such earnings are considered tortvesegd indefinitely. It is not practical to estiméhe amount of
unrecognized deferred tax liability for undistribdtforeign earnings.
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Note Q—Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted net earnings per share (EPS):

2008 2007 2006

Numerator for basic and diluted EF

Net income (in thousand $ 18357 $ 53288 $  49,60!
Denominator

Denominator for basic EP:

Weightec-average shares outstand 20,335,00 20,320,00 19,665,00
Effect of dilutive securities
Stock options and stock appreciation ric 85,00( 240,00( 542,00(
Restricted stoc 29,00( 28,00( 27,00(
Performance restricted sha 94,00( 24,00( —
Diluted potential common shar 208,00( 292,00( 569,00(
Denominator for diluted EP!
Adjusted weighte-average shares outstand 20,543,00 20,612,00 20,234,00
Basic EPS $ 09C $ 26z % 2.52
Diluted EPS $ 08¢ % 25¢ % 2.4F

Stock appreciation rights with grant prices in esecef the average annual share price totaling 6%00
December 31, 2008 and options to purchase comnook siith exercise prices in excess of the averageia shar
price totaling 53,000 at December 31, 2006 werduebec! from the diluted EPS calculations as thdeafwould
have been anti-dilutive. There were no anti-diletshares to be excluded from the diluted earniegsigare
calculation for 2007.

Note R—Related Party Transactions

The Company had outstanding loans of $0.1 milligth five employees, including one executive officatr
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007. The i@aresmade in the first quarter 2002 pursuant &itisurance
agreements between the Company and the employleegortion of the premiums paid by the Companyeated
as a loan from the Company to the employees anlb#ims are secured by the insurance policies, wdnielowned
by the employees. The agreements require each gegpto maintain the insurance policy’s cash sueendlue in
an amount at least equal to the outstanding lolmbe. The loans are payable from the insurancgepads upon th
employee’s death or at an earlier date due to ¢hareence of specified events. The loans beartanest rate equal
to the applicable federal rate. There have beemauifications to the loan terms since the inceptbthe
agreements.
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Note S— Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The following tables summarize selected quartengricial data for the years ended December 31, 2608

2007:
2008
First Second Third Fourth

(Dollars in thousands except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Net sales $226,34° $246,58: $240,49: $196,28t $909,71:
Gross profit 37,01¢ 44,84¢ 45,17: 25,10¢ 152,14«

Percent of sale 16.4% 18.2% 18.8% 12.8% 16.7%
Net income (loss $ 459 $ 7,15¢ $ 9,90¢ $ (3,306 $ 18,35:
Net income (loss) per share of common st

Basic 0.2t 0.3t 0.4¢ (0.1¢) 0.9C

Diluted 0.22 0.3¢ 0.4¢ (0.1¢) 0.8¢
Stock price range

High 38.12 34.6: 31.2i 19.41

Low 23.71 24.6( 19.0% 6.9¢

2007
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Net sales $250,31: $233,56! $230,92¢ $240,90: $955,70¢
Gross profit 69,38« 41,781 46,27: 39,23 196,67.

Percent of sale 27.7% 17.9% 20.0% 16.3% 20.6%
Net income $2311¢ $ 793¢ $ 990¢ $12,32¢ $ 53,28t
Net income per share of common stc

Basic 1.1t 0.3¢ 0.4¢ 0.6C 2.62

Diluted 1.12 0.3¢ 0.4¢ 0.6C 2.5¢
Stock price range

High 50.4¢ 61.82 53.0( 58.7¢

Low 30.5¢ 39.7( 34.17 33.5i

Lower of cost or market charges reduced grosstdigf6.0 million in the second quarter 2008 and
$9.2 million in the fourth quarter 2008. In 200@wkr of cost or market charges reduced gross fgrpf$4.0 million

in the second quarter and $0.5 million in the fowtarter.

Sales and gross profit were reduced by $2.6 millicthe first quarter 2008 to correct a billingarthat

occurred in 2007 that was not material to the 2@8ults.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNT ANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We carried out an evaluation under the superviaimhwith participation of our management, including
chief executive officer and chief financial officef the effectiveness of the design and operaifasur disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 20G&ipnt to Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under tharfies
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Bated upon that evaluation, our management,dirgitthe
chief executive officer and chief financial officeoncluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwere
effective as of the evaluation date.

There have been no changes in our internal cortka@s financial reporting that occurred during thearter
ended December 31, 2008 that have materially &fflecr are reasonably likely to materially affexty internal
control over financial reporting.

The Report of Management on Internal Control oveafcial Reporting and the Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon are eghfin Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report onrfp10-K and
are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On February 27, 2009, each of the directors ofxbmpany and each of the executive officers, incigdhe
named executive officers, of the Company (eachlagiemnitee”), became a party to an indemnificaigreement
with the Company (the “Indemnification Agreements'he Indemnification Agreements supplement exgstin
indemnification provisions set forth in the Compangrganizational documents and replace the prior
indemnification agreements that the Indemniteesdmered into with the Company.

In general, the Indemnification Agreements pro\tlu, subject to the procedures, limitations antepkons
set forth therein, the Company will indemnify tielémnitee for all expenses, damages, losses tiedil
judgments, fines, penalties and amounts paid ttesatnt actually incurred by the Indemnitee in caetion with
any threatened, asserted, pending or completed atlEimand, action, suit or proceeding resultingf{g any
actual, alleged or suspected act or failure tdgdhdemnitee in the Indemnitee’s capacity as aadar
and/or officer of the Company or as a directoriceff, employee, member, manager, trustee or adgemadher
entity as to which Indemnitee is or was servinthatrequest of the Company, (ii) any actual, allegesuspected
act or failure to act by Indemnitee in respectrof business, transaction, communication, filingctbsure or other
activity in any such capacity in (i) above, or)(lindemnitee’s status as a current or former direahd/or officer of
the Company or director or as a director, offieenployee, member, manager, trustee or agent oi@nentity as t
which Indemnitee was serving at the request ofthmpany. Additionally, the Indemnitee will have tiight to
advancement by the Company of expenses as thectrally incurred or are reasonably likely to bevimed in
connection with defending a claim in advance offthal disposition of a claim. Under the terms loé t
Indemnification Agreements, an Indemnitee will Inditted to indemnification if the Indemnitee istest successful
on the merits or otherwise in defense of any clairf the Indemnitee has met the applicable stathddconduct
under Ohio law that is a legally required conditprercedent to indemnification.

The foregoing description of the IndemnificationrAgments is qualified in its entirety by referetméhe full
text of the form of the Indemnification Agreementering executive officers and the form of the Imification
Agreement covering directors, which are filed akiBit 10a and Exhibit 10b, respectively, to thisnal Report on
Form 10-K and which are incorporated herein byrexfee.
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PART IlI

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information under “Election of Directors” ingfproxy statement for our 2009 annual meeting of
shareholders, to be filed with the Securities archange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14Ayderiporated
herein by reference. The information required leynltl0 relating to our executive officers is inclddmder the
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” iarPl of this Form 10-K and is incorporated by refece into this
section. The information required by Iltem 10 wiéispect to directors, the Audit Committee of the riflazt
Directors and Audit Committee financial expertéisorporated herein by reference from the sectiuitled
“Corporate Governance; Committees of the Boardiofddors — Audit Committee” and “— Audit Committee
Expert, Financial Literacy and Independence” inghexy statement for our 2009 annual meeting ofetihalders to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisgiarsuant to Regulation 14A. The information regdiby
Item 10 regarding compliance with Section 16(ahef Exchange Act is incorporated by reference frioensection
entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership RepartCompliance” in the proxy statement for our 2@0@ual
meeting of shareholders to be filed with the Seémsiand Exchange Commission pursuant to Reguladén

We have adopted a Policy Statement on Significamp@ate Governance Issues and a Code of Condlicy Po
that applies to our chief executive officer andisefinancial officers, including the principal fimcial and
accounting officer, controller and other personggrening similar functions, in compliance with afmalble New
York Stock Exchange and Securities and Exchangen@ission requirements. These materials, along wigh t
charters of the Audit, Governance and Organizattmmpensation and Retirement Plan Review Commitieear
Board of Directors, which also comply with applitmbequirements, are available on our website at
www.beminc.com and copies are also available upon request byglaaseholder to Secretary, Brush Engineered
Materials Inc., 6070 Parkland Blvd., Mayfield H®hio 44124. We make our reports on Forms 10-KQ1énd
available on our website, free of charge, as ssaeasonably practicable after these reports ke fiith the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any amertdrard/or waivers to our Code of Conduct Policy,
Statement on Significant Corporate Governance $sand Committee Charters will also be made availahlour
website. The information on our website is not mpooated by reference into this Annual Report omh0-K.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required under Item 11 is incorpedaby reference from the sections entitled “Exieeut
Compensation” and “2008 Director Compensation’hia proxy statement for our 2009 annual meeting of
shareholders to be filed with the Securities andnaxge Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required under Item 12 regardingdiieial ownership is incorporated by referencerfrine
section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Bfcial Owners and Management” in the proxy statetnfier our
2009 annual meeting of shareholders to be filetl thie Securities and Exchange Commission pursoant t
Regulation 14A. The Equity Compensation Plan Infation required by Item 12 is set forth in the taiddow.

Equity Compensation Table

Number of Securities
Securities to be Remaining Available
Issued Upon for Future Issuance
Exercise of Weighted-average Under Equity
Outstanding Exercise Price of Compensation Plan:
Options, Warrants Outstanding (Excluding Securities
and Rights Options, Warrants Reflected in
Plan Category (a) and Rights Column(a))
Equity compensation plans approved by securit
holders 810,030 $ 20.2¢2 1,189,801
Equity compensation plans not approved by sec
holders — —
Total 810,03. $ 20.2¢ 1,189,80!

(1) Consists of options awarded under the 1979, 19839,11995 and 2006 Stock Incentive Plans, the 29@0
1997 Non-employee Director Stock Incentive Plarcsthe 2006 Non-employee Director Equity Plan. This
amount includes 122,692 restricted shares, 12 &3Picted stock units and 139,264 performanceicesstr
shares at the target level. In addition, up to 88 Berformance shares could be issued if perforengnals are
achieved above targe

@ The weighted-average calculation does not incled&icted shares, restricted stock units or perémce
restricted shares as they have no exercise |

(® Represents the number of shares of common stodlalalesto be awarded as of December 31, 2008. &ifec
May 2, 2006, all equity compensation awards aretgthpursuant to the shareholder approved 200& Stoc
Incentive Plan and the 2006 M-employee Director Equity Pla

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required under Item 13 is incorpedaby reference from the sections entitled “Reld®arty
Transactions” and “Corporate Governance; Committééise Board of Directors — Board Independencethef
proxy statement for our 2009 annual meeting ofednalders to be filed with the Securities and Exggan
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required under Item 14 is incorpedaby reference from the section entitled “Radifion of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Fiohthe proxy statement for our 2009 annual meeatinghareholdel
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cormsmispursuant to Regulation 14A.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@) 1. Financial Statements and Supplemental Informatio

The financial statements listed in the accompanyidgx to financial statements are included in Raftem 8
of this Form 10-K.

() 2. Financial Statement Schedule

The following consolidated financial informatiorrfine years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 andi2006
submitted herewith:

Schedule Il — Valuation and qualifying accounts.

All other schedules for which provision is madetia applicable accounting regulations of the Séiesrand
Exchange Commission are not required under théegklastructions or are inapplicable, and therefaree
been omitted.

(a) 3. Exhibits

All documents referenced below were filed pursuarthe Exchange Act by Brush Engineered Materiads, |
file number 001-15885, unless otherwise noted.

(3a)

(3b)

(4a)

(4b)

(4¢)

(4d)

(4e)

(49)

(49)

(4h)

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation af€B Engineered Materials Inc. (filed as Ani

B to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filgdHg Company on February 1, 2000,
Registration No. 3:-95917), incorporated herein by referer

Amended and Restated Code of Regulations of BrugfinEered Materials Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4b
to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Camp on May 16, 2000), incorporated herein by
reference

Rights Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2000, bytetdeen Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and
National City Bank, N.A. as Rights Agent (filed Eshibit 4a to the Current Report on For-K

filed by the Company on May 16, 2000), incorporédtedein by referenci

First Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as afeDwer 7, 2004, by and between Brush
Engineered Materials Inc. and LaSalle Bank, N.ARaghts Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Companybmtember 13, 2004), incorporated herein by
reference

Second Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated aslyB1, 2008, by and between Brush
Engineered Materials Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank,.Na& Rights Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registration Statement on Fori-A/A filed on July 31, 2008) incorporated hereinrayerence
Indenture Modification between Toledo-Lucas Countyt Authority, dated as of May 30, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 4 to the Company’s Quarterly Regm Form 10-Q for the period ending June 27,
2003), incorporated herein by referer

Pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 601(b)(4), the @any agrees to furnish to the Securities and
Exchange Commission, upon its request, a copyeoirstruments defining the rights of holders of
long-term debt of the Company that are not being filéth ¢his report.

Credit Agreement dated November 7, 2007 among BEmgfineered Materials Inc. and other
borrowers and JPMorgan Chase, N.A., acting folfitsed as agent for certain other banking
institutions as lenders (filed as Exhibit 99.1He Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the
Company on November 7, 2007), incorporated hergireference

First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated Decer@beP007 among Brush Engineered
Materials Inc. and other borrowers and JPMorgars€hid.A., acting for itself and as agent for
certain other banking institutions as lenders d¢fées Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Forik 8-
filed by the Company on December 26, 2007), incateal herein by referenc

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated Jun2QDB among Brush Engineered Materials
Inc. and other borrowers and JP Morgan Chase, ldading for itself and as agent for certain other
banking institutions as lenders (filed as Exhil§it19to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the
Company on June 16, 2008), incorporated hereirefeyence
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(40)

(4))

(10a)*4
(10b)*4
(10c)*

(10d)*

(10e)*

(10f)*

(10g)*

(10h)*4

(10i)*

(10j)*

(10k)*

(100)*

(10m)*

(10n)*

(100)*

(10p)*

(10q)*

(101)*

Second Amended and Restated Precious Metals Agreetated December 28, 2007 between
Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and The Bank of&NSeotia (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Curr
Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on Decen#t&r2007), incorporated herein by
reference

First Amendment to the Second Amended and ResBatsrious Metals Agreement dated March
3, 2008 between Brush Engineered Materials InctaadBank of Nova Scotia (filed as Exhibit
99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by @@mpany on March 3, 2008), incorporated
herein by referenci

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by Company and its executive office

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by Company and its directo

Amended and Restated Form of Severance AgreemeBkézutive Officers (filed as Exhibit 1(
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qttier period ending June 27, 2008),
incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated Form of Severance AgreemelefoEmployees (filed as Exhibit 10.2
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forgheod ending June 27, 2008), incorporated
herein by referenci

Form of Executive Insurance Agreement enteredhgtthe Company and certain employees ¢
January 2, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 10g to the ConyfmAnnual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1994), incorporated hereinfeyerce.

Form of Trust Agreement between the Company andKagt Company of Ohio, N.A. (formerly
Ameritrust Company National Association) on beludiithe Companys executive officers (filed .
Exhibit 10e to the Company’s Annual Report on FAirK for the year ended December 31,
1994), incorporated herein by referer

2008 Management Performance Compensation Plad é8eExhibit 10.1 to the Current Report
Form &K filed by the Company on February 12, 2008), ipavated herein by referenc

2009 Management Performance Compensation

Long-term Incentive Plan for the performance pedaduary 1, 2006 through December 31, 2008
(filed as Exhibit 10m to the Company’s Annual Repmr Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007), incorporated herein by refexe

Long-term Incentive Plan for the performance pedaduary 1, 2007 through December 31, 2009
(filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No. 1 to ther@at Report on Form 8-K filed by the
Company on February 16, 2007), incorporated hdrgireference

Long-term Incentive Plan for the performance pedaduary 1, 2008 through December 31, 2010
(filed as Exhibit 100 to the Company’s Annual Repmr Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2007), incorporated herein by referer

1979 Stock Option Plan, as amended pursuant taaglpof shareholders on April 21, 1982 (filed
by Brush Wellman Inc. as Exhibit 15A to Post-EffeetAmendment No. 3 to Registration
Statement No.-64080), incorporated herein by referer

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1979 Btption Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Post-
Effective Amendment No. 5 to Registration StatemmmEorm S-8, Registration No. 2-64080),
incorporated herein by referen:

1984 Stock Option Plan as amended by the Boardret@rs on April 18, 1984 and February 24,
1987 (filed by Brush Wellman Inc. as Exhibit 4.4Registration Statement on Form S-8,
Registration No. 3-28605), incorporated herein by referer

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1984 KOption Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Post-
Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration StatemmmEorm S-8, Registration No. 2-90724),
incorporated herein by referen:

1989 Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to R&gtion Statement on Form S-8, Registration
No. 3:-28605), incorporated herein by referer

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1989 KOption Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Post-
Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration StatemmnEorm S-8, Registration No. 33-28605),
incorporated herein by referen:

1995 Stock Incentive Plan (as Amended March 3, 1688d as Appendix A to the Company’s
Proxy Statement dated March 16, 1998), incorporhézdin by referenc
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(10s)*

(10t)*

(10u)*

(20v)*
(10w)*

(10x)*
(10y)*
(102)*#
(10aa)*
(10ab)*

(10ac)*

(10ad)*

(10ae)*

(10af)*

(10ag)*#
(10ah)*

(10ai)*

(10aj)*

(10ak)*

(10al)*

(10am)*

(10an)*

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1995 Klocentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to
Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Stant No. 333-63357), incorporated herein
by reference

Amendment No. 2, effective February 1, 2005, tol885 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit
10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by @@mpany on February 7, 2005) incorporated
herein by referenci

Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Incentive Plad(&k Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period endi@de 27, 2008), incorporated herein by
reference

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, (filasl Exhibit 10t to the Company’s Form 10-
K Annual Report for the year ended December 314p0@orporated herein by referen

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (filesl Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on
Form &K filed by the Company on February 7, 2005) incogted herein by referenc

Form of 2007 Restricted Stock Agreement (filed &kikit 10.3 to Amendment No. 1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the CompanyFabruary 16, 2007), incorporated herein by
reference

Form of 2008 Restricted Stock Agreement (filed &Bikit 10ag to the Company’Annual Repol
on Form 1-K the year ended December 31, 2007), incorporageeim by reference

Form of 2009 Restricted Stock Agreeme

Form of 2006 Performance Restricted Share and iPeaftce Share Agreement (filed as Exhibit
10.2 to Amendment No. 1 to the Current Report om~é-K filed by the Company on Ma

8, 2006), incorporated herein by referer

Form of 2007 Performance Restricted Share and iPeaftce Share Agreement (filed as Exhibit
10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by @@mpany on February 16, 2007),
incorporated herein by referen:

Form of 2008 Performance Restricted Share and iPeaftce Share Agreement (filed as Exhibit
10ak to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Kifie year ended December 31, 2007),
incorporated herein by referen:

Form of 2006 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeitédfas Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report
on Form &K filed by the Company on May 8, 2006), incorpodaterein by referenci

Form of 2007 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeitédfas Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. ]
the Current Report on Formif{iled by the Company on February 16, 2007), ipocvated herei
by reference

Form of 2008 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeifédfas Exhibit 10an to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddwam31, 2007), incorporated herein by
reference

Form of 2009 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreem

Supplemental Retirement Plan as amended and efatember 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 10n to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tharyended December 31, 1992),
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 2, adopted January 1, 1996, to Suppital Retirement Benefit Plan as amel
and restated December 1, 1992 (filed as ExhibittdGbe Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995), incorgdraerein by referenc

Amendment No. 3, adopted May 5, 1998, to Suppleaiétdtirement Benefit Plan as amended
and restated December 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibitd@kse Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 1998), incorpdratrein by referenc

Amendment No. 4, adopted December 1, 1998, to Supgital Retirement Benefit Plan as
amended and restated December 1, 1992 (filed abiELht to the Company’s Form 10-K
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 1988)rporated herein by referen
Amendment No. 5, adopted December 31, 1998, to|Boumgmtal Retirement Benefit Plan as
amended and restated December 1, 1992 (filed abiELBu to the Company’s Form 10-K
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 1988)rporated herein by referen
Amendment No. 6, adopted September 1999, to SumgpiErthRetirement Benefit Plan as
amended and restated December 1, 1992 (filed abiELBu to the Company’s Form 10-K
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 200 rporated herein by referen
Amendment No. 7, adopted May 2000, to SupplemdRetirement Benefit Plan as amended and
restated December 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 10théoCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2000), incorpoitageein by referenci
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(10a0)*

(10ap)*

(10aq)*

(10an)*

(10as)*

(10at)*

(10au)*

(10av)*

(10aw)*

(10ax)*

(10ay)*

(10az)*

(10ba)*

(10bb)*4

(10bc)*

(10bd)*

(10be)*

(10bf)*#
(10bg)*

Amendment No. 8, adopted December 21, 2001, to|Bomgmtal Retirement Benefit Plan as
amended and restated December 1, 1992 (filed abiEXBu to the Company’s Form 10-K
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2006)rporated herein by referen
Amendment No. 9, adopted December 22, 2003, to ISopgmtal Retirement Benefit Plan as
amended and restated December 1, 1992 (filed aibiE£As to the Company’s Form 10-K
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2006)rporated herein by referen

Key Employee Share Option Plan (filed as Exhillt #. the Registration Statement on Form S-8,
Registration No. 333-52141, filed by Brush Wellniaa. on May 5, 1998), incorporated herein
by reference

Amendment No. 1 to the Key Employee Share Optiam Rleffective May 16, 2005) (filed as
Exhibit 4b to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Ré@tion Statement on Form S-8,
Registration No. 32-52141), incorporated herein by referer

Amendment No. 2 to the Key Employee Share Optiam ated June 10, 2005 (filed as Exhibit
10aw to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktlie year ended December 31, 2006),
incorporated herein by referen:

1997 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-employee Direst¢As Amended and Restated as of May 1,
2001) (filed as Appendix B to the Company’s Proxgt&ment dated March 19, 2001),
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 1 to the 1997 Stock Incentive PlarNfon-employee Directors, (filed as Exhibit
10gg to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktlie year ended December 31, 2003),
incorporated herein by referen:

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nemployee Directors (filed as Exhibit
10mm to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktti@ year ended December 31, 2004),
incorporated herein by referen:

1992 Deferred Compensation Plan for l-employee Directors (As Amended and Restated .
December 2, 1997) (filed as Exhibit 4d to the Reegion Statement on Form S-8, Registration
No. 33363355, filed by Brush Wellman Inc.), incorporatestdin by reference

2000 Reorganization Amendment, dated May 16, 2@0the 1997 Deferred Compensation Plan
for Non-employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 4bRost-Effective Amendment No. 1 to
Registration Statement No. -63353), incorporated herein by referer

Amendment No. 1 (effective September 11, 20017011992 Deferred Compensation Plan for
Non-employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 4c to the Qamy’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1
to Registration Statement No. -74296), incorporated herein by referer

Amendment No. 2 (effective September 13, 2004h¢01i992 Deferred Compensation Plan for
Non-employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to then@pany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended October 1, 2004), incorporata@in by referenc

Amendment No. 3 (effective January 1, 2005) toltb@2 Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-
employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10rr to thengmany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2004) incorporated heyetiaference

Amendment No. 4 (effective April 1, 2009) to the92Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-
employee Directors

Amended and Restated 2005 Deferred Compensationféti&lon-employee Directors (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report amrt 10-Q for the period ended September
26, 2008) incorporated herein by referer

Amended and Restated 2006 Non-employee DirectoityfEBlan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company'’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for thequeended September 26, 2008)
incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated Executive Deferred Compengatam Il (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company'’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for thequeended March 28, 2008), incorporated
herein by referenct

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated ExecDieferred Compensation Plan

Trust Agreement between the Company and Fideligstments dated September 26, 2006 for
certain deferred compensation plans for Nomployee Directors of the Company (filed as Ext
99.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by @@mpany on September 29, 2006),
incorporated herein by referen:
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(10bh)*

(10bi)*

(10bj)

(10bK)

(10bl)

(10bm)

(10bn)

(21)
(23)
(24)
(31.1)
(31.2)
(32.1)

Trust Agreement between the Company and Fifth Thiated March 10, 2005 relating to the 2
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan Il (filed akikit 10ww to the Compang’Annual Repoil
on Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 2004), incorgdratrein by referenc

Trust Agreement between the Company and Fifth TRadk dated September 25, 2006 relatir
the Key Employee Share Option Plan (filed as ExI@Bi3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by the Company on September 29, 2006), inm@ted herein by referenc

Lease dated as of October 1, 1996, between Brudlm@felnc. and Toledo-Lucas County Port
Authority (filed as Exhibit 10v to the Company’s #umal Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996), incorporated herein by refexe

Amended and Restated Inducement Agreement witRhéential Insurance Company of
America dated May 30, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 1@ite Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the period ended June 27, 2003), incorporagzdin by referenci

Amended and Restated Supply Agreement between RWEMY, Inc. and Brush Wellman Inc.
the sale and purchase of beryllium products (fledExhibit 10 to the ComparsyQuarterly Repa
on Form 1-Q for the period ended September 26, 2003), inadatpd herein by referenc

Supply Agreement between the Defense Logistics &gand Brush Wellman Inc. for the sale
purchase of beryllium products (filed as Exhibittl® the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2004), incorpdraerein by referenc

Asset Purchase Agreement by and between WilliamsAckd Materials Inc. and Techni-Met,
Inc. dated December 20, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 1@bwhe Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007), incorpdraerein by referenc

Subsidiaries of the Registre

Consent of Ernst & Young LL

Power of Attorney

Certification of Chief Executive Officer requiregt Rule 13-14(a) or 15-14(a)

Certification of Chief Financial Officer required¢ Rule 13-14(a) or 15-14(a)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial Officer required by 18 U.S.C. Section
1350

* Denotes a compensatory plan or arrangen

# Filed herewitr
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

By: /s/ RICHARD J. HIPPLE

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC.
By: /s/ JOHN D. GRAMPA

Richard J. Hipple

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Office

February 27, 2009

John D. Grampa
Sr. Vice President Finance
and Chief Financial Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xg Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe

following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

/sl RICHARD J. HIPPLE

Richard J. Hipple

/s JOHN D. GRAMPA

John D. Grampa

/s/ ALBERT C. BERSTICKER*

Albert C. Bersticker’

/sl JOSEPH P. KEITHLEY*

Joseph P. Keithley

/s/ VINOD M. KHILNANI*

Vinod M. Khilnani*

/sl WILLIAM B. LAWRENCE*

William B. Lawrence*

/sl WILLIAM P. MADAR*

William P. Madar*

/sl WILLIAM G. PRYOR*

William G. Pryor*
/sl N. MOHAN REDDY*

N. Mohan Reddy’

/s/ WILLIAM R. ROBERTSON*

William R. Robertson’

/s/  JOHN SHERWIN, JR.*

John Sherwin, Jr.
/s/ CRAIG S. SHULAR*

Craig S. Shular

Chairman of the Board, President,
Chief Executive Officer and
Director
(Principal Executive Officer

Sr. Vice President Finance
and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

February 27, 20(

*The undersigned, by signing his name hereto, dagsand execute this report on behalf of eache@fbove-
named officers and directors of Brush Engineereteliigls Inc., pursuant to Powers of Attorney exeduiy each
such officer and director filed with the Securiteesd Exchange Commission.

By: /s/ JOHN D. GRAMPA

John D. Grampa
Attorney-in-Fact

February 27, 20C
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SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

COL. A COL.B COL.C COL.D COL.E
ADDITIONS
o (1) (2 _
Balance at Beginning Charged to Cost: Charged to Other Deduction- Balance at Enc
DESCRIPTION of Period and Expenses Accounts-Describe Describe of Period
Year ended December 31, 2C
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable $ 1,120,000 $ 142,000 $ 0 $ 211,000(F) $ 1,051,00
Inventory reserves and
obsolescenc $ 3,348,000 $ 3,551,000 $ 0 $3,270,000() $ 3,629,00
Year ended December 31, 2C
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable $ 1,822,000 $ (300,000 $ 0 $ 402,000(E) $ 1,120,00
Inventory reserves and
obsolescenc $ 4,455,000 $ 2,744,000 $ 0 $3,851,000(() $ 3,348,00
Year ended December 31, 2C
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable $ 1,315,000 $ 856,000 $ 0 $ 349,000(F) $ 1,822,00
Inventory reserves ar
obsolescenc $ 2,711,000 $ 1,348,000 $ 1,554,00(A) $1,158,000(() $ 4,455,00

Note (A)— Beginning balance from acquisitit
Note (B)— Bad debts writte-off, net of recoverie
Note (C)— Inventory write-off
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Exhibit 10a

OFFICER INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

This Officer Indemnification Agreement, dateslof , 2009(this “ Agreement’), is made by and between Brush Engineered
Materials Inc., an Ohio corporation (th€bmpany”), and (“ Indemnitee”), who is an officer of the Company.
RECITALS :

A. Itis critically important to the Companwpdhits shareholders that the Company be able taca&ind retain the most capable persons
reasonably available to serve as officers of then@any.

B. In recognition of the need for corporatidase able to induce capable and responsible pgtsocaccept positions in corporate
management, Ohio Revised Code (“ORC”") §1701.13@#)aizes (and in some instances requires) cofppoiato indemnify their officers,
authorizes (and sometimes requires) corporatioasitance funds to pay for expenses of its offipeic to the final disposition of an action,
suit or proceeding, and further authorizes corponatto purchase and maintain insurance for thefitesf their officers.

C. Indemnification by a corporation servesbécies of (1) allowing officers to resist unjifgtd lawsuits, secure in the knowledge that, if
vindicated, the corporation will bear the expenfktigation; (2) encouraging capable women and neegerve as corporate officers, secure in
the knowledge that the corporation will absorbadbsts of defending their honesty and integrity; é)dallowing officers and corporations to
dispose of vexacious and distracting litigatiorotigh negotiation of settlements.

D. The number of lawsuits challenging the juegt and actions of corporate officers, the costieending those lawsuits, and the threat
to officers’ personal assets have all materialgréased over the past several years, chilling iHiegness of capable women and men to
undertake the responsibilities imposed on corpartiteers.

E. Federal legislation and rules adopted lkySbacurities and Exchange Commission and the st&curities exchanges have imposed
additional disclosure and corporate governanceyatitins on officers of public companies and hayeosgd such officers to additional and
substantially broadened civil liabilities.

F. These legislative and regulatory initiasiveave also exposed officers of public companiessignificantly greater risk of criminal
proceedings, with attendant defense costs and fateriminal fines and penalties.

G. Indemnitee is an officer of the Company amemnitee’s willingness to continue to serveuntscapacity is predicated, in substantial
part, upon the Comparg/Wwillingness to indemnify Indemnitee in accordandth the principles reflected above, to the fuilestent permitte
by the laws of the state of Ohio, and upon theratingertakings set forth in this Agreement.




H. Section 34 of the Company’s Amended anddted Code of Regulations (the “Regulations”) regtiie Company to indemnify each
officer and former officer of the Company to thd &xtent then permitted by law. However, recenirt@ecisions in Delaware, while not
binding on the courts of Ohio interpreting Ohio Jdvave raised questions as to the ability of offiagenerally to rely on such provisions
following their retirement or other departure frdine board in the event that there is a subsequeesnhdment to the [Regulations][Articles]
that alters or eliminates the indemnification psimns of those documents.

I. Section 36 of the Company’s Regulationsvates that the Company, with the approval of thef8of Directors may enter into
agreements with any persons that the Company nayrinify under the Regulations, and undertake tlygi@bhdemnify such persons and to
pay the expenses incurred by them in defendingaatign, suit or proceeding against them, whethemwbdthe Company would have power
under the law or the Articles to indemnify suchquar.

J. Therefore, in recognition of the need tovjte Indemnitee with contractual protection agapessonal liability, in order to procure
Indemnitee’s continued service as an officer of@eenpany and to enhance Indemnisegbility to serve the Company in an effective near
and in order to provide such protection pursuamxaress contract rights (intended to be enforeeiatdspective of, among other things, any
amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restatéwdesrof Incorporation or the Regulations (colleety, the “Constituent Documents
"), any change in the composition of the Compamodard of Directors (the Board”) or any change-in-control or business combination
transaction relating to the Company), or any changke officer’s status through retirement or gesition, the Company wishes to provide in
this Agreement for the indemnification of and tlilwancement of Expenses (as defined in Section téidemnitee as set forth in this
Agreement and for the continued coverage of Indeganinder the Company'’s directors’ and officerablility insurance policies.

K. In light of the considerations referredridhe preceding recitals, it is the Company’siititen and desire that the provisions of this
Agreement be construed liberally, subject to tegjyress terms, to maximize the protections to beiged to Indemnitee hereunder.

AGREEMENT :
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree kmae:

1. Certain Definitions. In addition to terms defined elsewhere hereinfollewing terms have the following meanings wheedif this
Agreement with initial capital letters:

(a)“Change in Control” means the occurrence after the date of this Agraeofeany of the following events:

(i) the acquisition by any individuantity or group (within the meaning of Sectidd(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act) (a
“Person” ) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning ofl&@3d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 20%hore of the combined
voting power of the then-outstanding Voting Stoékhe Companyprovided , however , that:
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(A) for purposes of this Sentil(a)(i), the following acquisitions will not caditate a Change in Control: (1) any acquisition of
Voting Stock of the Company directly from the Compdhat is approved by a majority of the Incumbemectors, (2) any acquisition of
Voting Stock of the Company by the Company or angsiliary, (3) any acquisition of Voting Stock bEtCompany by any employee
benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maieth by the Company or any Subsidiary, and (4)aoguisition of Voting Stock of the
Company by any Person pursuant to a Business Caiidnirthat complies with clauses (A), (B) and (€pection 1(a)(iii) below;

(B) if any Person acquires Hisied ownership of 20% or more of combined votipgwer of the then-outstanding Voting Stock
of the Company as a result of a transaction desgiiib clause (A)(1) of Section 1(a)(i) and suchsBerthereafter becomes the beneficial
owner of any additional shares of Voting Stockief Company representing 1% or more of the thenamdgg Voting Stock of the
Company, other than in an acquisition directly friita Company that is approved by a majority ofltfteimbent Directors or other than as a
result of a stock dividend, stock split or simileansaction effected by the Company in which altacs of Voting Stock are treated equally,
such subsequent acquisition will be deemed to tatest Change in Control;

(C) a Change in Control willtioe deemed to have occurred if a Person acquémesficial ownership of 20% or more of the
Voting Stock of the Company as a result of a redadh the number of shares of Voting Stock of @@mpany outstanding unless and until
such Person thereafter becomes the beneficial osfrery additional shares of Voting Stock of thex@pany representing 1% or more of the
then-outstanding Voting Stock of the Company, othan in an acquisition directly from the Compahgttis approved by a majority of the
Incumbent Directors or other than as a result stbak dividend, stock split or similar transacteffected by the Company in which all holc
of Voting Stock are treated equally; and

(D) if at least a majority ot Incumbent Directors determine in good faith th®erson has acquired beneficial ownership of
20% or more of the Voting Stock of the Company ireatently, and such Person divests as promptlyadipable a sufficient number of
shares so that such Person beneficially owns tess20% of the Voting Stock of the Company, therChange in Control will have occurred
as a result of such Person’s acquisition; or

(ii) a majority of the Directors amet Incumbent Directors; or

(iif) the consummation of a reorgaation, merger or consolidation, or sale or othgpakition of all or substantially all of the asset
of the Company or the acquisition of assets ofta@rotorporation, or other transaction (eactBuwasiness Combination”), unless, in each
case, immediately following such Business CombamafiA) all or substantially all of the individuadsid entities who were the beneficial
owners of Voting Stock of the Company immediatefipipto such Business Combination beneficially odinectly or indirectly, more than
60% of the combined voting power of the then ouiditag shares of Voting Stock of the entity resgtfrom such Business Combination
(including, without limitation, an entity which asresult of such transaction owns the Companylar aubstantially all of the Company’s
assets either directly or through one or more slida$es), (B) no Person (other than the
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Company, such entity resulting from such Businesskination, or any employee benefit plan (or ralatest) sponsored or maintained by
the Company, any Subsidiary or such entity reggitiom such Business Combination or a holding campes described in ORC §1701.802
(A)) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 209 more of the combined voting power of the thatstanding shares of Voting Stock of the
entity resulting from such Business Combinatiord éD) at least a majority of the members of therBad Directors of the entity resulting
from such Business Combination were Incumbent Darscat the time of the execution of the initiategment or of the action of the Board
providing for such Business Combination; or

(iv) approval by the shareholdershaf Company of a complete liquidation or dissolntbf the Company, except pursuant to a
Business Combination that complies with clauses (B) and (C) of Section 1(a)(iii).

For purposes of this Section 1(a) and as used b&ewn this Agreement, the following terms hawefibllowing meanings:
(A) ‘Exchange Act’ means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asdet

(B)‘Incumbent Directors” means the individuals who, as of the date hereefPaectors of the Company and any individual
becoming a Director subsequent to the date herbobevelection, nomination for election by the Conyashareholders, or appointment,
was approved by a vote of at least tthods of the then Incumbent Directors (either tgpacific vote or by approval of the proxy statetrad
the Company in which such person is named as arme@nfor director, without objection to such nomimay; provided , however , that an
individual will not be an Incumbent Director if dumndividual’s election or appointment to the Boarturs as a result of an actual or
threatened election contest (as described in Rtdel?(c) of the Exchange Act) with respect to tleeteon or removal of Directors or other
actual or threatened solicitation of proxies orgamts by or on behalf of a Person other than treedo

(C)'Subsidiary” means an entity in which the Company or any holdimgpany as described in ORC §1701.802(A) diremtly
indirectly beneficially owns 50% or more of the stainding Voting Stock.

(D)*Voting Stock” means securities entitled to vote generally ineleetion of directors (or similar governing bodies)

(b)“ Claim” means (i) any threatened, asserted, pending orletadpclaim, demand, action, suit or proceedingztivér civil,
criminal, administrative, arbitrative, investigagior other, and whether made pursuant to feddedé er other law; and (ii) any threatened,
pending or completed inquiry or investigation, wiegtmade, instituted or conducted by the Compamangrother person, including without
limitation any federal, state or other governmeettity, that Indemnitee determines might leachtoinstitution of any such claim, demand,
action, suit or proceeding.

(c) “Controlled Affiliate” means any corporation, limited liability compangripership, joint venture, trust or other entityeaterprise
whether or not for profit, that is




directly or indirectly controlled by the Companyarfpurposes of this definition, “control” means fhassession, directly or indirectly, of the
power to direct or cause the direction of the manaent or policies of an entity or enterprise, whethrough the ownership of voting
securities, through other voting rights, by conti@cotherwiseprovided that direct or indirect beneficial ownership of itapstock or other
interests in an entity or enterprise entitling tiodder to cast 20% or more of the total numberaiés generally entitled to be cast in the
election of directors (or persons performing corapée functions) of such entity or enterprise wél dleemed to constitute control for purpc
of this definition.

(d) “Disinterested Directot means a director of the Company who is not and ma& a party to the Claim in respect of which
indemnification is sought by Indemnitee.

(e)" Expenses means attorneys’ and experts’ fees and expenseallasttier costs and expenses paid or payablerinamion with
investigating, defending, being a witness in oeottise participating in (including on appeal), oefaring to investigate, defend, be a witness
in or otherwise participate in (including on appeahy Claim, and any amounts paid in settlemeiot po a final, nonappealable judgment or
conviction.

(H “ Indemnifiable Claim” means any Claim based upon, arising out of or tieguirom (i) any actual, alleged or suspectedoact
failure to act by Indemnitee in his or her capaeitya director, officer, employee or agent of thenPany or as a director, officer, employee,
member, manager, trustee or agent of any othepcatipn, limited liability company, partnershipjjoventure, trust or other entity or
enterprise, whether or not for profit, as to whictlemnitee is or was serving at the request otvapany as a director, officer, employee,
member, manager, trustee or agent, (i) any acdlieljed or suspected act or failure to act by hmuieee in respect of any business,
transaction, communication, filing, disclosure trer activity of the Company or any other entityeoterprise referred to in clause (i) of this
sentence, or (iii) Indemnitee’s status as a cumefdrmer director, officer, employee or agentted Company or as a current or former
director, officer, employee, member, manager, ¢mistr agent of the Company or any other entityntererise referred to in clause (i) of this
sentence or any actual, alleged or suspected &ailune to act by Indemnitee in connection witly arbligation or restriction imposed upon
Indemnitee by reason of such status. In additicmtpservice at the actual request of the Comganyurposes of this Agreement,
Indemnitee will be deemed to be serving or to heerged at the request of the Company as a diraffarer, employee, member, manager,
trustee or agent of another entity or enterprisedémnitee is or was serving as a director, offieenployee, member, manager, trustee or
agent of such entity or enterprise and (i) sucktyeat enterprise is or at the time of such servigs a Controlled Affiliate, (ii) such entity or
enterprise is or at the time of such service wasraployee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsoradaintained by the Company or a
Controlled Affiliate, or (iii) the Company or a Cwalled Affiliate directly or indirectly caused authorized Indemnitee to be nominated,
elected, appointed, designated, employed, engageelected to serve in such capacity.

(9)“ Indemnifiable Losses’means any and all Losses relating to, arising bat cesulting from any Indemnifiable Claim.

(h) “Independent Counsél means a law firm, or a member of a law firm, tlsaéxperienced in matters of corporation law aeither
presently is, nor in the past five years has




been, retained to represent: (i) the Company (grSarbsidiary) or Indemnitee in any matter mateatither such party (other than with
respect to matters concerning the Indemnitee uhieAgreement, or of other indemnitees under simildemnification agreements), or
(if) any other named (or, as to a threatened matasonably likely to be named) party to the Inddiable Claim giving rise to a claim for
indemnification hereunder. Notwithstanding the émiag, the term “Independent Counsel” will not ind¢ any person who, under the
applicable standards of professional conduct thewgiling, would have a conflict of interest in repenting either the Company or
Indemnitee in an action to determine Indemniteig/sts under this Agreement.

(i) “Losses’ means any and all Expenses, damages, lossestikabjudgments, fines, penalties (whether ciiminal or other) and
amounts paid in settlement following a final, nop@alable judgment or conviction, including withdiatitation all interest, assessments and
other charges paid or payable in connection witim eespect of any of the foregoing.

2. Indemnification Obligation. Subject to Section 7, the Company shall indemmui&éfend and hold harmless Indemnitee, to the fullest
extent permitted or required by the laws of thaeStd Ohio in effect on the date hereof or as dawls may from time to time hereafter be
amended to increase the scope of such permittesinification, against any and all Indemnifiablei@sand Indemnifiable Losses;
provided , however , that, except as provided in Sections 4 and 2fernmitee will not be entitled to indemnificationrpuant to this
Agreement in connection with any Claim initiatedlbgemnitee against the Company or any directafficer of the Company unless the
Company has joined in or consented to the inititibsuch Claim.

3. Advancement of Expensesdndemnitee will have the right to advancement iy @ompany prior to the final disposition of any
Indemnifiable Claim of any and all Expenses relgtim, arising out of or resulting from any Indenmaifie Claim paid or incurred by
Indemnitee or which Indemnitee determines are sy likely to be paid or incurred by Indemnitéedemnitees right to such advancem
is not subject to the satisfaction of any standdircbnduct. Without limiting the generality or efteof the foregoing, within five business days
after any request by Indemnitee, the Company shadiccordance with such request (but without dapion), (a) pay such Expenses on be
of Indemnitee, (b) advance to Indemnitee fundsimmount sufficient to pay such Expenses, or (o)lvarse Indemnitee for such Expenses;
provided that Indemnitee shall repay, without interest ampants actually advanced to Indemnitee that, afitta disposition of the
Indemnifiable Claim to which the advance relatedrevn excess of amounts paid or payable by Indemin respect of Expenses relating to,
arising out of or resulting from such Indemnifiall&aim. For purposes of obtaining payments of Expsrin advance of final disposition, the
Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a swornesgfor advancement of Expenses substantiallyaridim of Exhibit A attached hereto
and made a part hereof (subject to Indemniteadilin the blanks therein and selecting from amdegaracketed alternatives therein, the “
Undertaking”), averring that the Indemnitee has reasonablyrired or will reasonably incur actual Expensesdfedding an Indemnifiable
Claim. The Undertaking need not be secured an@tmpany must accept the Undertaking without refezdn Indemnitee’s ability to repay
the Expenses. In no event will Indemnitee’s rightite payment, advancement or reimbursement offisgsepursuant to this
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Section 3 be conditioned upon any undertakingithketss favorable to Indemnitee than, or that igddition to, the undertakings set forth in
Exhibit A .

4. Indemnification for Additional Expenses.Without limiting the generality or effect of therfgoing, the Company shall indemnify and
hold harmless Indemnitee against and, if requesydddemnitee, shall reimburse Indemnitee for,dvamce to Indemnitee, within five
business days of such request, any and all Exp@asg®r incurred by Indemnitee or which Indemnite¢ermines are reasonably likely to be
paid or incurred by Indemnitee in connection witly £laim made, instituted or conducted by Indemnfter (a) indemnification or payment,
advancement or reimbursement of Expenses by thep@ayrunder any provision of this Agreement, or urad®y other agreement or
provision of the Constituent Documents now or hiteedn effect relating to Indemnifiable Claims,dHar (b) recovery under any directors’
and officers'liability insurance policies maintained by the Canp, regardless in each case of whether Indemuitiaeately is determined t
be entitled to such indemnification, reimbursemadyance or insurance recovery, as the case mayadwgled , however , that Indemnitee
shall return, without interest, any such advancExgfenses (or portion thereof) which remains unsgaethe final disposition of the Claim to
which the advance related.

5. Partial Indemnity. If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision agtAgreement to indemnification by the Companysome or a
portion of any Indemnifiable Loss, but not for aflthe total amount thereof, the Company shall nbeéess indemnify Indemnitee for the
portion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled.

6. Procedure for Notification. To obtain indemnification under this Agreementéspect of an Indemnifiable Claim or Indemnifiable
Loss, Indemnitee shall submit to the Company at@ritequest, including a brief description (basgdniinformation then available to
Indemnitee) of such Indemnifiable Claim or Inderrabfe Loss. If, at the time of the receipt of suefjuest, the Company has directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance in effect under whidoverage for such Indemnifiable Claim or Indenaiife Loss is potentially available, the
Company shall give prompt written notice of suctidmnifiable Claim or Indemnifiable Loss to the aggible insurers in accordance with the
procedures set forth in the applicable policiese Tompany shall provide to Indemnitee a copy ohswatice delivered to the applicable
insurers, and copies of all subsequent correspaadestween the Company and such insurers regatignigdemnifiable Claim or
Indemnifiable Loss, in each case substantially oomaitly with the delivery or receipt thereof bytBompany. The failure by Indemnitee to
timely notify the Company of any Indemnifiable @tabr Indemnifiable Loss will not relieve the Comgdrom any liability hereunder
unless, and only to the extent that, the Compadwdt otherwise learn of such Indemnifiable Claimralemnifiable Loss and such failure
results in forfeiture by the Company of substardigfienses, rights or insurance coverage.

7. Determination of Right to Indemnification .

(a) To the extent that Indemnitee shalldhbeen successful on the merits or otherwisefende of any Indemnifiable Claim or any
portion thereof or in defense of any issue or mdkterein, including without limitation through &thissal without prejudice, Indemnitee sl
be indemnified against all Indemnifiable Losseatieg to, arising out of or resulting from such énthifiable Claim in accordance with
Section 2 and no Standard of Conduct Determingtisrdefined in Section 7(b)) will be required. e vent that a matter as to
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which there has been a dismissal without prejuii¢ater revived in the same or similar form, threttter will be treated as a new Claim for
purposes of this Agreement.

(b) To the extent that the provision$Settion 7(a) are inapplicable to an Indemnifiabli@r@ that will have been finally disposed of,
any determination of whether Indemnitee has satisdiny applicable standard of conduct under Olidltat is a legally required condition
precedent to indemnification of Indemnitee hereurdminst Indemnifiable Losses relating to, arigingjof or resulting from such
Indemnifiable Claim (a ‘Standard of Conduct Determinatiot) will be made as follows: (i) if a Change in Contsblall not have occurred,
if a Change in Control shall have occurred but indit¢ee shall have requested that the Standard efl@ Determination be made pursuant
to this clause (i), (A) by a majority vote of a qum consisting of the Disinterested Directors, ifuch Disinterested Directors so direct, t
majority vote of a committee of Disinterested Ditgs designated by a majority vote of all Disingtegl Directors, or (C) if such quorum of
Disinterested Directors is not available or if gjoniéy of such a quorum so direct, by Independeoti@Sel in a written opinion addressed to
the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered weimnitee; and (ii) if a Change in Control shall @ae¢curred and Indemnitee shall not have
requested that the Standard of Conduct Determiméigomade pursuant to clause (i), by Independenh§ in a written opinion addressec
the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered teimnitee. Indemnitee will cooperate with the pemsopersons making such Standard of
Conduct Determination, including providing to symgrson or persons, upon reasonable advance regogstpcumentation or information
which is not privileged or otherwise protected frdisclosure and which is reasonably available teinnitee and reasonably necessary to
such determination. The Company shall indemnify faold harmless Indemnitee against and, if requdsgdddemnitee, shall reimburse
Indemnitee for, or advance to Indemnitee, withire fbusiness days of such request, any and all andtexpenses (including attorneys’ and
experts’ fees and expenses) incurred by Indemiritee cooperating with the person or persons magiray Standard of Conduct
Determination.

(c) The Company shall use its reasonbaést efforts to cause any Standard of Conduct Déxtetion required under Section 7(b) to be
made as promptly as practicable. If (i) the persopersons empowered or selected under Sectiomake the Standard of Conduct
Determination shall not have made a determinatidhinv30 days after the later of (A) receipt by tBempany of written notice from
Indemnitee advising the Company of the final disjpms of the applicable Indemnifiable Claim (thetel@f such receipt being the “
Notification Date”) and (B) the selection of an Independent Couritsljch determination is to be made by Indepen@eninsel, that is
permitted under the provisions of Section 7(e) akensuch determination and (ii) Indemnitee shaleHalfilled his/her obligations set forth
in the second sentence of Section 7(b), then Indemshall be deemed to have satisfied the appéicstandard of condugbrovided that sucl
30-day period may be extended for a reasonable tiotdo exceed an additional 30 days, if the pemopersons making such determination
in good faith requires such additional time for tiaining or evaluation or documentation and/éwrimation relating thereto.

(d) If (i) Indemnitee shall be entitlemihdemnification hereunder against any Indemniéidtbsses pursuant to Section 7(a), (ii) no
determination of whether Indemnitee has satisfigdapplicable standard of conduct under Ohio laalisgally required condition precedent
to indemnification of Indemnitee hereunder agaamst Indemnifiable Losses, or
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(iii) Indemnitee has been determined or deemeduamtsto Section 7(b) or (c) to have satisfied gopliaable standard of conduct under Ohio
law which is a legally required condition precedenindemnification of Indemnitee hereunder agaamst Indemnifiable Losses, then the
Company shall pay to Indemnitee, within five bussdays after the later of (x) the Notification ®at respect of the Indemnifiable Claim or
portion thereof to which such Indemnifiable Losaesrelated, out of which such Indemnifiable Loss®se or from which such
Indemnifiable Losses resulted and (y) the eartias on which the applicable criterion specifiedlause (i), (i) or (iii) above shall have be
satisfied, an amount equal to the amount of sudbrimifiable Losses.

(e) If a Standard of Conduct Determinai®mto be made by Independent Counsel pursuaedton 7(b)(i), the Independent Counsel
shall be selected by the Board of Directors, ard@bmpany shall give written notice to Indemnitdeising him or her of the identity of the
Independent Counsel so selected. If a Standaraed@t Determination is to be made by IndependeninSel pursuant to Section 7(b)(ii),
the Independent Counsel shall be selected by Indeeymand Indemnitee shall give written noticelte Company advising it of the identity of
the Independent Counsel so selected. In either bademnitee or the Company, as applicable, mathimvfive business days after receiving
written notice of selection from the other, delitethe other a written objection to such selegtwnovided , however , that such objection
may be asserted only on the ground that the InadparCounsel so selected does not satisfy theiariet forth in the definition of
“Independent Counsel” in Section 1(h), and the ctiga shall set forth with particularity the factimeasis of such assertion. Absent a proper
and timely objection, the person or firm so seléatdl act as Independent Counsel. If such writbdfection is properly and timely made and
substantiated, (i) the Independent Counsel soteelesay not serve as Independent Counsel unlessraihduch objection is withdrawn or a
court has determined that such objection is witlmetit and (ii) the non-objecting party may, atdfgtion, select an alternative Independent
Counsel and give written notice to the other padyising such other party of the identity of theealative Independent Counsel so selected,
in which case the provisions of the two immediafalgceding sentences and clause (i) of this seatemall apply to such subsequent sele«
and notice. If applicable, the provisions of cla(ifeof the immediately preceding sentence shafilg to successive alternative selections. If
no Independent Counsel that is permitted undefdiegoing provisions of this Section 7(e) to make $tandard of Conduct Determination
shall have been selected within 30 days after h&ny gives its initial notice pursuant to thetfsentence of this Section 7(e) or
Indemnitee gives its initial notice pursuant to #ieeond sentence of this Section 7(e), as themsagéde, either the Company or Indemnitee
may petition the Federal or state courts of Ohiaégolution of any objection which shall have besade by the Company or Indemnitee to
the other’s selection of Independent Counsel arfdfathe appointment as Independent Counsel ofsopeor firm selected by the court or by
such other person as the court shall designatethenglerson or firm with respect to whom all ohigre$ are so resolved or the person or firm
so appointed will act as Independent Counsel.llavants, the Company shall pay all of the reaslenf#les and expenses of the Independent
Counsel incurred in connection with the Independ&minsel’s determination pursuant to Section 7(b).

8. Presumption of Entitlement.In making any Standard of Conduct Determination,dlrson or persons making such determination
presume that Indemnitee has satisfied the appécsthhdard of conduct, and the Company may oversocie presumption only by its
adducing clear and convincing evidence to the eoytiAny Standard of Conduct
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Determination that is adverse to Indemnitee maghadlenged by the Indemnitee in the state or Féderats in Ohio. No determination by
the Company (including by its directors or any Ipeledent Counsel) that Indemnitee has not satisfigcapplicable standard of conduct shall
be a defense to any Claim by Indemnitee for indéoation or reimbursement or advance payment ofdasps by the Company hereunder or
create a presumption that Indemnitee has not nyeajgplicable standard of conduct.

9. No Other Presumption.For purposes of this Agreement, the terminatioargf Claim by judgment, order, settlement (whethigh ar
without court approval) or conviction, or upon aglofnolo contendere or its equivalent, will not create a presumptioattindemnitee did nc
meet any applicable standard of conduct or tharmdfication hereunder is otherwise not permitted.

10. Non-Exclusivity. The rights of Indemnitee hereunder will be in aiddito any other rights Indemnitee may have underGonstituent
Documents, or the substantive laws of the Compgnyisdiction of incorporation, any other contractotherwise (collectively, Other
Indemnity Provisiong”); provided , however , that (a) to the extent that Indemnitee otherwisald have any greater right to indemnification
under any Other Indemnity Provision, Indemnited ta#l deemed to have such greater right hereundkfbdro the extent that any change is
made to any Other Indemnity Provision which perraitg greater right to indemnification than thatyided under this Agreement as of the
date hereof, Indemnitee will be deemed to have goeaiter right hereunder. The Company will not adeyy amendment to any of the
Constituent Documents the effect of which wouldddeny, diminish or encumber Indemnitee’s righimeemnification under this
Agreement or any Other Indemnity Provision.

11. Liability Insurance and Funding. For the duration of Indemnitee’s service as arceffof the Company, and thereafter for so long as
Indemnitee shall be subject to any pending or ptessndemnifiable Claim, the Company shall use caruaially reasonable efforts (taking
into account the scope and amount of coverageadlailelative to the cost thereof) to cause to hmtained in effect policies of directors’
and officers’ liability insurance providing coveeatpr directors and/or officers of the Company fkadt least substantially comparable in
scope and amount to that provided by the Companyi®nt policies of directors’ and officedgbility insurance. The Company shall prov
Indemnitee with a copy of all directors’ and offis€liability insurance applications, binders, pidis, declarations, endorsements and other
related materials, and shall provide Indemnite&aiteasonable opportunity to review and commerhersame. Without limiting the
generality or effect of the two immediately precegsentences, the Company shall not discontingégaificantly reduce the scope or amo
of coverage from one policy period to the nextwithout the prior approval thereof by a majorityter of the Incumbent Directors, even if |
than a quorum, or (ii) if at the time that any sdédcontinuation or significant reduction in th@ge or amount of coverage is proposed there
are no Incumbent Directors, without the prior veriticonsent of Indemnitee (which consent shall pairireasonably withheld or delayed). In
all policies of directors’ and officers’ liabilitinsurance obtained by the Company, Indemnitee bleatlamed as an insured in such a manner
as to provide Indemnitee the same rights and hbispsfibject to the same limitations, as are accormi¢he Company’s directors and officers
most favorably insured by such policy. The Comparay, but shall not be required to, create a tusd f grant a security interest or use other
means, including without limitation a letter of ditg to ensure the payment of such
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amounts as may be necessary to satisfy its oldigato indemnify and advance expenses pursuahisté\greement.

12. Subrogation.In the event of payment under this Agreement, thm@any shall be subrogated to the extent of sugmeat to all of
the related rights of recovery of Indemnitee agaitiser persons or entities (other than Indemrstsatcessors), including any entity or
enterprise referred to in clause (i) of the deifimitof “Indemnifiable Claim” in Section 1(f). Indamtee shall execute all papers reasonably
required to evidence such rights (all of Indemn#eeasonable Expenses, including attorneys’ feelscharges, related thereto to be
reimbursed by or, at the option of Indemnitee, adea by the Company).

13. No Duplication of PaymentsThe Company shall not be liable under this Agredreemake any payment to Indemnitee in respect of
any Indemnifiable Losses to the extent Indemnigedtherwise actually received payment (net of Bgps incurred in connection therewith)
under any insurance policy, the Constituent Documand Other Indemnity Provisions or otherwisel(iding from any entity or enterprise
referred to in clause (i) of the definition of “lachnifiable Claim” in Section 1(f)) in respect ofcbuindemnifiable Losses otherwise
indemnifiable hereunder.

14. Defense of ClaimsThe Company shall be entitled to participate inde&ense of any Indemnifiable Claim or to assuneeditfense
thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory eolttdemniteeprovided that if Indemnitee believes, after consultationhwdbunsel selected
Indemnitee, that (a) the use of counsel chosehdy¥bmpany to represent Indemnitee would presetit sounsel with an actual or potential
conflict, (b) the named parties in any such Inddiaibie Claim (including any impleaded parties) iré both the Company and Indemnitee
and Indemnitee shall conclude that there may beoongore legal defenses available to Indemniteeatedifferent from or in addition to
those available to the Company, or (c) any suctesgmtation by such counsel would be precludednthéeapplicable standards of
professional conduct then prevailing, then Indesenghall be entitled to retain separate counséindumore than one law firm plus, if
applicable, local counsel in respect of any paldiclndemnifiable Claim) at the Company’s experidee Company shall not be liable to
Indemnitee under this Agreement for any amountd pasettlement of any threatened or pending Indéafne Claim effected without the
Company’s prior written consent. The Company shai] without the prior written consent of the Indgtae, effect any settlement of any
threatened or pending Indemnifiable Claim to wthited Indemnitee is, or could have been, a partyssrdeich settlement solely involves the
payment of money and includes a complete and uritonal release of the Indemnitee from all lialyildn any claims that are the subject
matter of such Indemnifiable Claim. Neither the @amy nor Indemnitee shall unreasonably withhol@dissent to any proposed settlement;
provided that Indemnitee may withhold consent to any segignthat does not provide a complete and uncomditicelease of Indemnitee.

15. Successors and Binding Agreemer(g) The Company shall require any successor (whelihect or indirect, by purchase, merger,
consolidation, reorganization or otherwise, anduditnig any holding company as described in ORC 18@(A)) to all or substantially all of
the business or assets of the Company, by agreemfemim and substance satisfactory to Indemnitekhds or her counsel, expressly to
assume and agree to perform this Agreement inaime snanner and to the same extent the Company Wweulgquired to perform if no such
succession had taken place. This Agreement shalinoing upon and inure to the benefit of the
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Company and any successor to the Company, includitigput limitation any person acquiring directlyiadirectly all or substantially all of
the business or assets of the Company whetherdohase, merger, consolidation, reorganization leemtise, and including any holding
company as described in ORC 1701.802(A) (and sucbessor will thereafter be deemed ti@ompany” for purposes of this Agreement),
but shall not otherwise be assignable or delegataypkthe Company.

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the dférof and be enforceable by the Indemnitee’s geabor legal representatives, executors,
administrators, heirs, distributees, legatees anersuccessors.

(c) This Agreement is personal in natmd neither of the parties hereto shall, withoatdbnsent of the other, assign or delegate this
Agreement or any rights or obligations hereundeepkas expressly provided in Sections 15(a) aifio) 19/ithout limiting the generality or
effect of the foregoing, Indemnitee’s right to reeepayments hereunder shall not be assignablehehby pledge, creation of a security
interest or otherwise, other than by a transfetheyindemnitee’s will or by the laws of descent diglribution, and, in the event of any
attempted assignment or transfer contrary to taiién 15(c), the Company will have no liabilitygay any amount so attempted to be
assigned or transferred.

16. NoticesFor all purposes of this Agreement, all communaai including without limitation notices, consemtqjuests or approvals,
required or permitted to be given hereunder shalhbwriting and shall be deemed to have been dgivign when hand delivered or dispatched
by electronic facsimile or electronic mail transsiis (with receipt thereof confirmed orally or dtemically), or five business days after
having been mailed by United States registerecdified mail, return receipt requested, postaggpaid or one business day after having
been sent for next-day delivery by a nationallyoggized overnight courier service, addressed t&Cthrapany (to the attention of the
Secretary of the Company) and to Indemnitee aapipdicable address shown on the signature pagéohergo such other address as any
party may have furnished to the other in writingl @maccordance herewith, except that notices afhgks of address will be effective only
upon receipt.

17. Governing Law.The validity, interpretation, construction and penfiance of this Agreement shall be governed bycamdtrued in
accordance with the substantive laws of the Sta@hdo, without giving effect to the principles obnflict of laws of such State. The
Company and Indemnitee each hereby irrevocablyestris the jurisdiction of the state and Federaktoin Ohio for all purposes in
connection with any action or proceeding whichesisut of or relates to this Agreement and agraeathy action instituted under this
Agreement shall be brought only in the state orefF&ldcourts in Ohio.

18. Validity. If any provision of this Agreement or the applioatiof any provision hereof to any person or circtamese is held invalid,
unenforceable or otherwise illegal, the remaindehis Agreement and the application of such prievito any other person or circumstance
shall not be affected, and the provision so heldgdnvalid, unenforceable or otherwise illegallsha reformed to the extent, and only to the
extent, necessary to make it enforceable, validgal. In the event that any court or other adjative body shall decline to reform any
provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, ofegceable or otherwise illegal as contemplatedhgyimmediately preceding sentence, the
parties thereto shall take all such action
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as may be necessary or appropriate to replacetiésipn so held to be invalid, unenforceable dreotvise illegal with one or more
alternative provisions that effectuate the purpasetintent of the original provisions of this Agneent as fully as possible without being
invalid, unenforceable or otherwise illegal.

19. MiscellaneousNo provision of this Agreement may be waived, miedifor discharged unless such waiver, modificatiodischarge
is agreed to in writing signed by Indemnitee arel@mpany. No waiver by either party hereto attamg of any breach by the other party
hereto or compliance with any condition or provisadf this Agreement to be performed by such otletyshall be deemed a waiver of
similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions hetsame or at any prior or subsequent time. Nceaggats or representations, oral or
otherwise, expressed or implied with respect tostitgect matter hereof have been made by eithéy fieat are not set forth expressly in this
Agreement. References to Sections are to referéac®actions of this Agreement.

20. Legal Fees and Expensel.is the intent of the Company that Indemnitee mtequired to incur legal fees and or other Expsn
associated with the interpretation, enforcememtafense of Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreenhgriitigation or otherwise because the
cost and expense thereof would substantially defram the benefits intended to be extended torimuitee hereunder. Accordingly, without
limiting the generality or effect of any other prsien hereof, if it should appear to Indemnited the Company has failed to comply with ¢
of its obligations under this Agreement (includitgobligations under Section 3) or in the eveat the Company or any other person take
threatens to take any action to declare this Agesgmoid or unenforceable, or institutes any litigia or other action or proceeding designed
to deny, or to recover from, Indemnitee the besgfibvided or intended to be provided to Indemriitereunder, the Company irrevocably
authorizes the Indemnitee from time to time toiretamunsel of Indemnitee’s choice, at the experisheoCompany as hereafter provided, to
advise and represent Indemnitee in connection avithsuch interpretation, enforcement or defensdydiing without limitation the initiation
or defense of any litigation or other legal actismether by or against the Company or any diredfficer, shareholder or other person
affiliated with the Company, in any jurisdictionotwithstanding any existing or prior attorney-clieelationship between the Company and
such counsel, the Company irrevocably consentsderhnitee’s entering into an attorney-client relaship with such counsel, and in that
connection the Company and Indemnitee agree tbabfidential relationship shall exist between Indéee and such counsel. Without
respect to whether Indemnitee prevails, in wholangrart, in connection with any of the foregoitige Company will pay and be solely
financially responsible for any and all attornegsd related fees and expenses incurred by Indesnnitgonnection with any of the foregoir

21. Certain Interpretive Matters. Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise iregu(a) “it” or “its” or words of any gender inclu
each other gender, (b) words using the singulafuwal number also include the plural or singulamber, respectively, (c) the terms “hereof,”
“herein,” “hereby” and derivative or similar wordsfer to this entire Agreement, (d) the terms “@lgj” “Section,” “Annex” or “Exhibit” refel
to the specified Article, Section, Annex or Exhibitor to this Agreement, (e) the terms “includ&gtludes” and “including” will be deemed
to be followed by the words “without limitation” ¢wether or not so expressed), and (f) the word i®disjunctive but not exclusive.
Whenever this Agreement refers to a number of dayeh number will refer to calendar days unlessness days are specified and
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whenever action must be taken (including the givihgotice or the delivery of documents) under #thigseement during a certain period of
time or by a particular date that ends or occura apn-business day, then such period or datéwiéixtended until the immediately
following business day. As used herein, “businegg theans any day other than Saturday, SundayJmitad States federal holiday.

22. Counterparts.This Agreement may be executed in one or more egpaits, each of which will be deemed to be animaidut all of
which together shall constitute one and the sameeagent.

[Signatures Appear On Following Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Indemnitee has executeditae Company has caused its duly authorized reptatve to execute this
Agreement as of the date first above written.

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC.
6070 Parkland Blvd.
Mayfield Hts., OH 44124

By:
Name:
Title:

[INDEMNITEE]
[Address]

[Indemnitee]
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EXHIBIT A
UNDERTAKING
UNDERTAKING

STATE OF )
) SS
COUNTY OF )

l, , being first duly sworn, do depose and say as\l

1. This Undertaking is submitted pursuantie ©fficer Indemnification Agreement, dated ,2___, between Brush Engineered
Materials Inc., an Ohio corporation (th€bmpany”) and the undersigned.

2. | am requesting payment of Expenses thavé reasonably incurred or will reasonably inoudéfending an Indemnifiable Claim
referred to in the aforesaid Officer Indemnificatidgreement.

3. The Expenses for which payment is requesstedin general, all expenses related to

4. | hereby undertake to repay all amountd parsuant hereto if it ultimately is determinedttham not entitled to be indemnified by the
Company under the aforesaid Officer Indemnificati@reement or otherwise.

[Signature of Indemnitee
Subscribed and sworn to before me, a Notabfi®in and for said County and State, this _day of , 2

[Seal]
My commission expires the day of , 2




Exhibit 10b
DIRECTOR INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

This Director Indemnification Agreement, datesdof __,200___(this Agreement’), is made by and between Brush
Engineered Materials Inc., an Ohio corporation (ti@mpany”), and (* Indemnitee”), who is a director of the
Company.

RECITALS :

A. Section 1701.59 of the Ohio Revised Cote®RC" ) provides that the business and affairs of a aamn shall be managed by or
under the direction of its directors.

B. By virtue of the managerial prerogativested in the directors of an Ohio corporation, dwezact as fiduciaries of the corporation and
its shareholders.

C. Thus, it is critically important to the Cpany and its shareholders that the Company bet@alaigtract and retain the most capable
persons reasonably available to serve as diresctdre Company.

D. In recognition of the need for corporatisade able to induce capable and responsible pgtsoaccept positions in corporate
management, ORC §1701.13(E) authorizes (and in §wstences requires) corporations to indemnifyrtectors, authorizes (and
sometimes requires) corporations to advance fumgay for expenses of its directors prior to tmalfidisposition of an action, suit or
proceeding, and further authorizes corporatiomqateghase and maintain insurance for the benefheif directors.

E. Indemnification by a corporation serveshbécies of (1) allowing directors to resist urjéied lawsuits, secure in the knowledge that,
if vindicated, the corporation will bear the expes litigation; (2) encouraging capable women areh to serve as corporate directors,
secure in the knowledge that the corporation viiiab the costs of defending their honesty andjiitte and (3) allowing directors and
corporations to dispose of vexacious and distrgditigation through negotiation of settlements.

F. The number of lawsuits challenging the judgt and actions of corporate directors, the aofstiefending those lawsuits, and the threat
to directors’ personal assets have all materiaklyeased over the past several years, chillingvtiegness of capable women and men to
undertake the responsibilities imposed on corpaaeztors.

G. Federal legislation and rules adopted lpyShcurities and Exchange Commission and the rmts@curities exchanges have imposed
additional disclosure and corporate governanceayatitins on directors of public companies and hayp®®ed such directors to additional and
substantially broadened civil liabilities.

H. These legislative and regulatory initiagJ®ave also exposed directors of public companiassignificantly greater risk of criminal
proceedings, with attendant defense costs and flteriminal fines and penalties.




I. Under Ohio law, a director’s right to béméursed for the costs of defense of criminal axtjavhether such claims are asserted under
state or federal law, does not depend upon thesrarthe claims asserted against the directorchvhie separate and distinct from any right
to indemnification the director may be able to bsa, and indemnification of the director agaiasminal fines and penalties is permitted if
the director satisfies the applicable standardbofiact as a director.

J. Indemnitee is a director of the Company lad@mnitee’s willingness to continue to serveunlscapacity is predicated, in substantial
part, upon the Comparg/willingness to indemnify Indemnitee in accordandth the principles reflected above, to the fullestent permitte
by the laws of the state of Ohio, and upon theratinelertakings set forth in this Agreement.

K. Section 34 of the Company’s Amended andded Code of Regulations (the “Regulations”) regtiie Company to indemnify each
director and former director of the Company tofilieextent then permitted by law. However, receotirt decisions in Delaware, while not
binding on the courts of Ohio interpreting Ohio Jdvave raised questions as to the ability of dinexcgenerally to rely on such provisions
following their retirement or other departure frdine board in the event that there is a subsequeendment to the [Regulations][Articles]
that alters or eliminates the indemnification psimns of those documents.

L. Section 36 of the Company’s Regulationsvtes that the Company, with the approval of thamcof Directors may enter into
agreements with any persons that the Company nagyrinify under the Regulations, and undertake tlygi@hdemnify such persons and to
pay the expenses incurred by them in defendingaatign, suit or proceeding against them, whethemwbdthe Company would have power
under the law or the Articles to indemnify suchquar.

M. Therefore, in recognition of the need toypde Indemnitee with contractual protection agepessonal liability, in order to procure
Indemnitee’s continued service as a director ofGbmpany and to enhance Indemnitee’s ability twesére Company in an effective manner,
and in order to provide such protection pursuamxaress contract rights (intended to be enforeeiatdspective of, among other things, any
amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restatéddesrof Incorporation or the Regulations (colleety, the “Constituent Documents
"), any change in the composition of the Compamodard of Directors (the Board”) or any change-in-control or business combination
transaction relating to the Company), or any changkee directors status through retirement or resignation, the @om wishes to provide
this Agreement for the indemnification of and tlilwancement of Expenses (as defined in Section téidemnitee as set forth in this
Agreement and for the continued coverage of Indeeninder the Company'’s directors’ and officembility insurance policies.

N. In light of the considerations referredridhe preceding recitals, it is the Company’siitittn and desire that the provisions of this
Agreement be construed liberally, subject to tegjyress terms, to maximize the protections to beiged to Indemnitee hereunder.
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AGREEMENT :
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree lmae:

1. Certain Definitions. In addition to terms defined elsewhere hereinfotlewing terms have the following meanings wherdif this
Agreement with initial capital letters:

(a)“Change in Control” means the occurrence after the date of this Agraeofeany of the following events:

(i) the acquisition by any individueantity or group (within the meaning of Sectidd(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act) (a
“Person” ) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning oflR@3d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 20%hore of the combined
voting power of the then-outstanding Voting Stoékh® Companyprovided , however , that:

(A) for purposes of this Senti(a)(i), the following acquisitions will not caitsite a Change in Control: (1) any acquisition of
Voting Stock of the Company directly from the Compdhat is approved by a majority of the Incumbeiectors, (2) any acquisition of
Voting Stock of the Company by the Company or angsiliary, (3) any acquisition of Voting Stock bEtCompany by any employee
benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maiethby the Company or any Subsidiary, and (4)aguisition of Voting Stock of the
Company by any Person pursuant to a Business Catidnirthat complies with clauses (A), (B) and (€pection 1(a)(iii) below;

(B) if any Person acquires Hisied ownership of 20% or more of combined votipgwer of the then-outstanding Voting Stock
of the Company as a result of a transaction desgiiib clause (A)(1) of Section 1(a)(i) and suchsBerthereafter becomes the beneficial
owner of any additional shares of Voting Stockhed Company representing 1% or more of the thentamding Voting Stock of the
Company, other than in an acquisition directly friiia Company that is approved by a majority ofltfteeimbent Directors or other than as a
result of a stock dividend, stock split or simileansaction effected by the Company in which altlacs of Voting Stock are treated equally,
such subsequent acquisition will be deemed to tatest Change in Control;

(C) a Change in Control willtroe deemed to have occurred if a Person acquénasficial ownership of 20% or more of the
Voting Stock of the Company as a result of a redadh the number of shares of Voting Stock of @@mpany outstanding unless and until
such Person thereafter becomes the beneficial osfreary additional shares of Voting Stock of thex@pany representing 1% or more of the
then-outstanding Voting Stock of the Company, othan in an acquisition directly from the Compahattis approved by a majority of the
Incumbent Directors or other than as a result sthak dividend, stock split or similar transacteffected by the Company in which all holc
of Voting Stock are treated equally; and

(D) if at least a majority ¢t Incumbent Directors determine in good faith th®erson has acquired beneficial ownership of
20% or more of the Voting Stock of the Company iwreatently, and such Person divests as promptlyacipable a sufficient number of
shares so that such Person beneficially owns hess20% of the Voting
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Stock of the Company, then no Change in Contrdlaive occurred as a result of such Person’s aitiquisor
(i) a majority of the Directors amet Incumbent Directors; or

(iif) the consummation of a reorgaation, merger or consolidation, or sale or othgpakition of all or substantially all of the asset
of the Company or the acquisition of assets ofta@rotorporation, or other transaction (eactBusiness Combination”), unless, in each
case, immediately following such Business CombamafiA) all or substantially all of the individuadsid entities who were the beneficial
owners of Voting Stock of the Company immediatefipipto such Business Combination beneficially odinectly or indirectly, more than
60% of the combined voting power of the then ouiditag shares of Voting Stock of the entity resgtfrom such Business Combination
(including, without limitation, an entity which asresult of such transaction owns the Companylar aubstantially all of the Company’s
assets either directly or through one or more slign$és), (B) no Person (other than the Compansh untity resulting from such Business
Combination, or any employee benefit plan (or eglatust) sponsored or maintained by the Company Saibsidiary or such entity resulting
from such Business Combination or a holding compsgiescribed in ORC §1701.802(A)) beneficially ewdirectly or indirectly, 20% or
more of the combined voting power of the then @msing shares of Voting Stock of the entity resgltirom such Business Combination,
(C) at least a majority of the members of the BadrDirectors of the entity resulting from such Biess Combination were Incumbent
Directors at the time of the execution of the aliigreement or of the action of the Board proygdor such Business Combination; or

(iv) approval by the shareholdershaf Company of a complete liquidation or dissolntbf the Company, except pursuant to a
Business Combination that complies with clauses (B) and (C) of Section 1(a)(iii).

For purposes of this Section 1(a) and as used b&ewn this Agreement, the following terms hawefibllowing meanings:
(A) ‘Exchange Act’ means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asdet

(B)“Incumbent Directors” means the individuals who, as of the date hereefDérectors of the Company and any individual
becoming a Director subsequent to the date herbosevelection, nomination for election by the Conypashareholders, or appointment,
was approved by a vote of at least tthods of the then Incumbent Directors (either tgpacific vote or by approval of the proxy statetra
the Company in which such person is named as armeanfor director, without objection to such nomioa); provided , however , that an
individual will not be an Incumbent Director if dumndividual’s election or appointment to the Boarturs as a result of an actual or
threatened election contest (as described in Rtdel?(c) of the Exchange Act) with respect to tleeteon or removal of Directors or other
actual or threatened solicitation of proxies orgamts by or on behalf of a Person other than treedBo
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(C)'Subsidiary” means an entity in which the Company or any holdimgpany as described in ORC §1701.802(A) diremtly
indirectly beneficially owns 50% or more of the stainding Voting Stock.

(D)*Voting Stock” means securities entitled to vote generally ineleetion of directors (or similar governing bodies)

(b)“ Claim” means (i) any threatened, asserted, pending orletedpclaim, demand, action, suit or proceedingztivér civil,
criminal, administrative, arbitrative, investigagior other, and whether made pursuant to feddedé er other law; and (ii) any threatened,
pending or completed inquiry or investigation, wieatmade, instituted or conducted by the Compamangrother person, including without
limitation any federal, state or other governmeettity, that Indemnitee determines might leachtoinhstitution of any such claim, demand,
action, suit or proceeding.

(c) “Controlled Affiliate” means any corporation, limited liability compangripership, joint venture, trust or other entityeaterprise
whether or not for profit, that is directly or imectly controlled by the Company. For purposeshix definition, “control” means the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the powedieect or cause the direction of the managemepbbicies of an entity or enterprise, whether
through the ownership of voting securities, throogier voting rights, by contract or otherwipegvided that direct or indirect beneficial
ownership of capital stock or other interests ireatity or enterprise entitling the holder to c28% or more of the total number of votes
generally entitled to be cast in the election oécliors (or persons performing comparable funcjiofisuch entity or enterprise will be
deemed to constitute control for purposes of teindion.

(d) “Disinterested Directof means a director of the Company who is not and mat a party to the Claim in respect of which
indemnification is sought by Indemnitee.

(e)" Expenses means attorneys’ and experts’ fees and expenseallasttier costs and expenses paid or payablerinamion with
investigating, defending, being a witness in oeottise participating in (including on appeal), oefparing to investigate, defend, be a witness
in or otherwise participate in (including on appeahy Claim, and any amounts paid in settlemeiotr po a final, nonappealable judgment or
conviction.

(H “ Indemnifiable Claim” means any Claim based upon, arising out of or tieguirom (i) any actual, alleged or suspectedoact
failure to act by Indemnitee in his or her capaaiya director, officer, employee or agent of tihenPany or as a director, officer, employee,
member, manager, trustee or agent of any otheocatipn, limited liability company, partnershipjfjbventure, trust or other entity or
enterprise, whether or not for profit, as to whictlemnitee is or was serving at the request otvapany as a director, officer, employee,
member, manager, trustee or agent, (i) any acélieljed or suspected act or failure to act by hmuieee in respect of any business,
transaction, communication, filing, disclosure thier activity of the Company or any other entityeoterprise referred to in clause (i) of this
sentence, or (iii) Indemnitee’s status as a cumwefdrmer director, officer, employee or agentted Company or as a current or former
director, officer, employee, member, manager, ¢mistr agent of the Company or any other entityntererise referred to in clause (i) of this
sentence or any actual, alleged or suspected &ailure to act by Indemnitee in connection witly afligation or restriction imposed upon
Indemnitee by reason of such status. In additicemto




service at the actual request of the Company, dgogses of this Agreement, Indemnitee will be detoebe serving or to have served at the
request of the Company as a director, officer, eyg®, member, manager, trustee or agent of anettigy or enterprise if Indemnitee is or
was serving as a director, officer, employee, mambanager, trustee or agent of such entity omrprige and (i) such entity or enterprise i

at the time of such service was a Controlled Adf#i, (ii) such entity or enterprise is or at tmeetiof such service was an employee benefit
(or related trust) sponsored or maintained by tbmgany or a Controlled Affiliate, or (iii) the Corapy or a Controlled Affiliate directly or
indirectly caused or authorized Indemnitee to bminated, elected, appointed, designated, emplamghged or selected to serve in such
capacity.

(9)“ Indemnifiable Losses’means any and all Losses relating to, arising bat cesulting from any Indemnifiable Claim.

(h) “Independent Counsél means a law firm, or a member of a law firm, tlsagéxperienced in matters of corporation law aeither
presently is, nor in the past five years has bestained to represent: (i) the Company (or any Blidry) or Indemnitee in any matter material
to either such party (other than with respect tétens.concerning the Indemnitee under this Agre¢nwerof other indemnitees under similar
indemnification agreements), or (ii) any other ndrtar, as to a threatened matter, reasonably likcebe named) party to the Indemnifiable
Claim giving rise to a claim for indemnificationeeinder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the termddpendent Counsel” will not include
any person who, under the applicable standardsoféégsional conduct then prevailing, would haveaflict of interest in representing either
the Company or Indemnitee in an action to deterrimdemnitee’s rights under this Agreement.

(i) “Losses’ means any and all Expenses, damages, lossestikabjudgments, fines, penalties (whether ctiiminal or other) and
amounts paid in settlement following a final, nop@glable judgment or conviction, including withdiatitation all interest, assessments and
other charges paid or payable in connection witim eespect of any of the foregoing.

2. Indemnification Obligation. Subject to Section 7, the Company shall indemmuiéfend and hold harmless Indemnitee, to the fullest
extent permitted or required by the laws of theeStd Ohio in effect on the date hereof or as daals may from time to time hereafter be
amended to increase the scope of such permittedninification, against any and all Indemnifiablei@la and Indemnifiable Losses;
provided , however , that, except as provided in Sections 4 and 2fernmitee will not be entitled to indemnificationrpuant to this
Agreement in connection with any Claim initiatedlbgemnitee against the Company or any directafficer of the Company unless the
Company has joined in or consented to the initiatibsuch Claim.

3. Advancement of Expensesndemnitee will have the right to advancement iy @ompany prior to the final disposition of any
Indemnifiable Claim of any and all Expenses relgtim, arising out of or resulting from any Indenmaifie Claim paid or incurred by
Indemnitee or which Indemnitee determines are sy likely to be paid or incurred by Indemnitéedemnitees right to such advancem
is not subject to the satisfaction of any standdircbnduct. Without limiting the generality or effeof the foregoing, within five
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business days after any request by IndemniteeCdnepany shall, in accordance with such requestwiithbut duplication), (a) pay such
Expenses on behalf of Indemnitee, (b) advancedertmitee funds in an amount sufficient to pay dexpenses, or (c) reimburse Indemnitee
for such Expensegrovided that Indemnitee shall repay, without interest ampants actually advanced to Indemnitee that, afitiad
disposition of the Indemnifiable Claim to which thévance related, were in excess of amounts pagdyable by Indemnitee in respect of
Expenses relating to, arising out of or resultirant such Indemnifiable Claim. For purposes of abitej payments of Expenses in advance of
final disposition, the Indemnitee shall submitlie Company a sworn request for advancement of Bgsesubstantially in the form of
Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part heredifjést to Indemnitee filling in the blanks theraind selecting from among the bracketed
alternatives therein, theUndertaking”), averring that the Indemnitee has reasonablyrireel or will reasonably incur actual Expenses in
defending an Indemnifiable Claim. The Undertakiega not be secured and the Company must accephttertaking without reference to
Indemnitee’s ability to repay the Expenses. Unégdbe time of the Indemnitee’s act or omissioissiie, the Constituent Documents prohibit
such advances by specific reference to ORC Sefatiin13(E)(5)(a) or unless the only liability agedragainst the Indemnitee in the subject
action, suit or proceeding is pursuant to ORC $acti701.95, the Indemnitee will be eligible to execPart A of the Undertaking by which
the Indemnitee undertakes to: (i) repay such amibitris proved by clear and convincing evidenneicourt of competent jurisdiction that
the Indemnitee’s action or failure to act invohatact or omission undertaken with deliberate inteicause injury to the Company or
undertaken with reckless disregard for the bestasts of the Company; and (ii) reasonably coopevith the Company concerning the
action, suit, proceeding or claim. In all cases, Ittdemnitee will be eligible to execute Part Bled Undertaking by which the Indemnitee
undertakes to repay such amount if it ultimatelgidtermined that the Indemnitee is not entitledgdandemnified by the Company under this
Agreement or otherwise. In the event that the Indée® is eligible to and does execute both Pam@Rart B of the Undertaking, the
Expenses which are paid by the Company pursuargttheill be required to be repaid by the Indemmivaly if the Indemnitee is required to
do so under the terms of both Part A and Part Be@ftJndertaking. In no event will Indemnitee’s figh the payment, advancement or
reimbursement of Expenses pursuant to this Se8tlms conditioned upon any undertaking that is fagsrable to Indemnitee than, or that is
in addition to, the undertakings set forth in Extib .

4. Indemnification for Additional Expenses.Without limiting the generality or effect of therfgoing, the Company shall indemnify and
hold harmless Indemnitee against and, if requesydddemnitee, shall reimburse Indemnitee for,dvamce to Indemnitee, within five
business days of such request, any and all Exp@asg®r incurred by Indemnitee or which Indemnite¢éermines are reasonably likely to be
paid or incurred by Indemnitee in connection witly £laim made, instituted or conducted by Indenanite (a) indemnification or payment,
advancement or reimbursement of Expenses by thep@ayrunder any provision of this Agreement, or urad®y other agreement or
provision of the Constituent Documents now or hiteedn effect relating to Indemnifiable Claims,ddar (b) recovery under any directors’
and officers'liability insurance policies maintained by the Canp, regardless in each case of whether Indemuitieeately is determined t
be entitled to such indemnification, reimbursemadyance or insurance recovery, as the case mayadwgled , however , that Indemnitee
shall return, without interest, any such advancExgfenses (or portion thereof) which remains unsgaethe final disposition of the Claim to
which the advance related.




5. Partial Indemnity. If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision agtAgreement to indemnification by the Companysome or a
portion of any Indemnifiable Loss, but not for aflthe total amount thereof, the Company shall niéedess indemnify Indemnitee for the
portion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled.

6. Procedure for Notification. To obtain indemnification under this Agreementéspect of an Indemnifiable Claim or Indemnifiable
Loss, Indemnitee shall submit to the Company at@ritequest, including a brief description (basgdniinformation then available to
Indemnitee) of such Indemnifiable Claim or Inderratfe Loss. If, at the time of the receipt of suehuest, the Company has directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance in effect under whidoverage for such Indemnifiable Claim or Indenaiife Loss is potentially available, the
Company shall give prompt written notice of suctidmnifiable Claim or Indemnifiable Loss to the aggible insurers in accordance with the
procedures set forth in the applicable policiese Tompany shall provide to Indemnitee a copy ohswatice delivered to the applicable
insurers, and copies of all subsequent correspaedestween the Company and such insurers regatignigdemnifiable Claim or
Indemnifiable Loss, in each case substantially oomaitly with the delivery or receipt thereof bytBompany. The failure by Indemnitee to
timely notify the Company of any Indemnifiable @tabr Indemnifiable Loss will not relieve the Comgdrom any liability hereunder
unless, and only to the extent that, the Compadydt otherwise learn of such Indemnifiable Claimirmlemnifiable Loss and such failure
results in forfeiture by the Company of substardigfienses, rights or insurance coverage.

7. Determination of Right to Indemnification .

(a) To the extent that Indemnitee shallehbeen successful on the merits or otherwisefiende of any Indemnifiable Claim or any
portion thereof or in defense of any issue or nndtterein, including without limitation through &thissal without prejudice, Indemnitee sl
be indemnified against all Indemnifiable Losseatieg to, arising out of or resulting from such énthifiable Claim in accordance with
Section 2 and no Standard of Conduct Determingtsrdefined in Section 7(b)) will be required. e £vent that a matter as to which there
has been a dismissal without prejudice is lateivegliin the same or similar form, that matter Wil treated as a new Claim for all purpose
this Agreement.

(b) To the extent that the provisionsettion 7(a) are inapplicable to an Indemnifiabl@i@ that will have been finally disposed of,
any determination of whether Indemnitee has satisdiny applicable standard of conduct under Olidltat is a legally required condition
precedent to indemnification of Indemnitee hereurdminst Indemnifiable Losses relating to, arigingjof or resulting from such
Indemnifiable Claim (a ‘Standard of Conduct Determinatiot) will be made as follows: (i) if a Change in Contsblall not have occurred,
if a Change in Control shall have occurred but inditee shall have requested that the Standard @ Determination be made pursuant
to this clause (i), (A) by a majority vote of a qum consisting of the Disinterested Directors, ifuch Disinterested Directors so direct, t
majority vote of a committee of Disinterested Dimgs designated by a majority vote of all Disinttegl Directors, or (C) if such quorum of
Disinterested Directors is not available or if gjoniéy of such a quorum so direct, by IndependeotiGsel in a written opinion addressed to
the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered weimnitee; and (ii) if a Change in Control shall @ae¢curred and Indemnitee shall not have
requested that the Standard of Conduct Determiméigomade pursuant to clause (i), by Independeah§€ in a written opinion
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addressed to the Board, a copy of which shall ligeded to Indemnitee. Indemnitee will cooperatéhwhe person or persons making such
Standard of Conduct Determination, including prawidto such person or persons, upon reasonableedvaquest, any documentation or
information which is not privileged or otherwiseofgcted from disclosure and which is reasonablyla@e to Indemnitee and reasonably
necessary to such determination. The Company isitlmnify and hold harmless Indemnitee against dimdguested by Indemnitee, shall
reimburse Indemnitee for, or advance to Indemniighin five business days of such request, anyalhcbsts and expenses (including
attorneys’ and experts’ fees and expenses) inclnydddemnitee in so cooperating with the persopessons making such Standard of
Conduct Determination.

(c) The Company shall use its reasonbést efforts to cause any Standard of Conduct Détetion required under Section 7(b) to be
made as promptly as practicable. If (i) the pemsopersons empowered or selected under Sectiomake the Standard of Conduct
Determination shall not have made a determinatiithinv30 days after the later of (A) receipt by thempany of written notice from
Indemnitee advising the Company of the final disjpms of the applicable Indemnifiable Claim (thetel@f such receipt being the “
Notification Date”) and (B) the selection of an Independent Couritsljch determination is to be made by Indepen@eninsel, that is
permitted under the provisions of Section 7(e) tkensuch determination and (ii) Indemnitee shaleHalfilled his/her obligations set forth
in the second sentence of Section 7(b), then Indemshall be deemed to have satisfied the appicgthndard of conduqgprovided that sucl
30-day period may be extended for a reasonable tiotdo exceed an additional 30 days, if the pemopersons making such determination
in good faith requires such additional time for tieaining or evaluation or documentation and/ésrimation relating thereto.

(d) If (i) Indemnitee shall be entitleihdemnification hereunder against any Indemniédtnsses pursuant to Section 7(a), (ii) no
determination of whether Indemnitee has satisfigdapplicable standard of conduct under Ohio laalisgally required condition precedent
to indemnification of Indemnitee hereunder agaamst Indemnifiable Losses, or (iii) Indemnitee hasmdetermined or deemed pursuant to
Section 7(b) or (c) to have satisfied any applieathndard of conduct under Ohio law which is allggequired condition precedent to
indemnification of Indemnitee hereunder against lmagmnifiable Losses, then the Company shall pdpdemnitee, within five business
days after the later of (x) the Notification Dateréspect of the Indemnifiable Claim or portionrédad to which such Indemnifiable Losses are
related, out of which such Indemnifiable Lossesaror from which such Indemnifiable Losses resudted (y) the earliest date on which the
applicable criterion specified in clause (i), i) (iii) above shall have been satisfied, an ameguoial to the amount of such Indemnifiable
Losses.

(e) If a Standard of Conduct Determinaii®to be made by Independent Counsel pursugdgdton 7(b)(i), the Independent Counsel
shall be selected by the Board of Directors, ard@bmpany shall give written notice to Indemnitdeising him or her of the identity of the
Independent Counsel so selected. If a Standar@nfat Determination is to be made by Independenin€el pursuant to Section 7(b)(ii),
the Independent Counsel shall be selected by Indeerand Indemnitee shall give written noticeite Company advising it of the identity of
the Independent Counsel so selected. In either bademnitee or the Company, as applicable, mathimfive business days after receiving
written notice of selection from the




other, deliver to the other a written objectiorstah selectionprovided , however , that such objection may be asserted only on thergl tha
the Independent Counsel so selected does notystttéstriteria set forth in the definition of “Indendent Counsel” in Section 1(h), and the
objection shall set forth with particularity thecfaal basis of such assertion. Absent a propetiarely objection, the person or firm so
selected will act as Independent Counsel. If sugtiem objection is properly and timely made andstantiated, (i) the Independent Counsel
so selected may not serve as Independent Courleskland until such objection is withdrawn or artbas determined that such objection is
without merit and (ii) the non-objecting party may its option, select an alternative IndependentrSel and give written notice to the other
party advising such other party of the identitythaf alternative Independent Counsel so selecteshich case the provisions of the two
immediately preceding sentences and clause (Hisfsentence shall apply to such subsequent seleatid notice. If applicable, the
provisions of clause (ii) of the immediately preicedsentence shall apply to successive alternaglections. If no Independent Counsel that
is permitted under the foregoing provisions of théxtion 7(e) to make the Standard of Conduct Detettion shall have been selected within
30 days after the Company gives its initial nopeesuant to the first sentence of this Section @{éhdemnitee gives its initial notice
pursuant to the second sentence of this Sectignage¢he case may be, either the Company or Inileenmay petition the Federal or state
courts of Ohio for resolution of any objection whighall have been made by the Company or Indemtaitde other’s selection of
Independent Counsel and/or for the appointmendspgendent Counsel of a person or firm selectetidgourt or by such other person as
the court shall designate, and the person or fiith vespect to whom all objections are so resolwethe person or firm so appointed will act
as Independent Counsel. In all events, the Comphal pay all of the reasonable fees and experfdbg thdependent Counsel incurred in
connection with the Independent Counsel’'s detertitingursuant to Section 7(b).

8. Presumption of Entitlement.In making any Standard of Conduct Determinatioa,ghrson or persons making such determination
presume that Indemnitee has satisfied the appécsthhdard of conduct, and the Company may oversoicie presumption only by its
adducing clear and convincing evidence to the eoptiAny Standard of Conduct Determination thatdserse to Indemnitee may be
challenged by the Indemnitee in the state or Féderats in Ohio. No determination by the Compaimgl(iding by its directors or any
Independent Counsel) that Indemnitee has not Eatiahy applicable standard of conduct shall befarte to any Claim by Indemnitee for
indemnification or reimbursement or advance paynéixpenses by the Company hereunder or createsaipption that Indemnitee has
met any applicable standard of conduct.

9. No Other Presumption.For purposes of this Agreement, the terminatioargf Claim by judgment, order, settlement (whethigh ar
without court approval) or conviction, or upon aglofnolo contendere or its equivalent, will not create a presumptioattindemnitee did nc
meet any applicable standard of conduct or tharmdfication hereunder is otherwise not permitted.

10. Non-Exclusivity. The rights of Indemnitee hereunder will be in aiddito any other rights Indemnitee may have underGonstituent
Documents, or the substantive laws of the Compgnyisdiction of incorporation, any other contractotherwise (collectively, Other
Indemnity Provisions”); provided , however , that (a) to the extent that Indemnitee otherwisald have any greater right to indemnification
under any Other Indemnity Provision,

10




Indemnitee will be deemed to have such greatet hgheunder and (b) to the extent that any chamgeade to any Other Indemnity Provis
which permits any greater right to indemnificatiban that provided under this Agreement as of tite Hereof, Indemnitee will be deemed to
have such greater right hereunder. The Companynailadopt any amendment to any of the ConstitDecuments the effect of which wot

be to deny, diminish or encumber Indemnitee’s righihdemnification under this Agreement or any @timdemnity Provision.

11. Liability Insurance and Funding. For the duration of Indemnitee’s service as a tmeaf the Company, and thereafter for so long as
Indemnitee shall be subject to any pending or ptessndemnifiable Claim, the Company shall use caruially reasonable efforts (taking
into account the scope and amount of coverageadlaitelative to the cost thereof) to cause to hmtained in effect policies of directors’
and officers’ liability insurance providing covemfpr directors and/or officers of the Company fkatt least substantially comparable in
scope and amount to that provided by the Companyi®nt policies of directors’ and officed&bility insurance. The Company shall prov
Indemnitee with a copy of all directors’ and offiseliability insurance applications, binders, padis, declarations, endorsements and other
related materials, and shall provide Indemnited witeasonable opportunity to review and commernhersame. Without limiting the
generality or effect of the two immediately precegsentences, the Company shall not discontingégaificantly reduce the scope or amo
of coverage from one policy period to the nextithout the prior approval thereof by a majorityte@f the Incumbent Directors, even if less
than a quorum, or (ii) if at the time that any sd@tontinuation or significant reduction in th@ge or amount of coverage is proposed there
are no Incumbent Directors, without the prior verittconsent of Indemnitee (which consent shall Batfreasonably withheld or delayed). In
all policies of directors’ and officers’ liabilitihsurance obtained by the Company, Indemnitee bleatiamed as an insured in such a manner
as to provide Indemnitee the same rights and hisnefibject to the same limitations, as are accbraé¢he Company'’s directors and officers
most favorably insured by such policy. The Comparay, but shall not be required to, create a tnusd f grant a security interest or use other
means, including without limitation a letter of die to ensure the payment of such amounts as maebessary to satisfy its obligations to
indemnify and advance expenses pursuant to thisekgent.

12. Subrogation.In the event of payment under this Agreement, thm@any shall be subrogated to the extent of sugmeat to all of
the related rights of recovery of Indemnitee agaitiser persons or entities (other than Indemrsteatcessors), including any entity or
enterprise referred to in clause (i) of the deifimitof “Indemnifiable Claim” in Section 1(f). Indamtee shall execute all papers reasonably
required to evidence such rights (all of Indemn#eeasonable Expenses, including attorneys’ feescharges, related thereto to be
reimbursed by or, at the option of Indemnitee, adea by the Company).

13. No Duplication of PaymentsThe Company shall not be liable under this Agredrteemake any payment to Indemnitee in respect of
any Indemnifiable Losses to the extent Indemnigedtherwise actually received payment (net of Bgpse incurred in connection therewith)
under any insurance policy, the Constituent Documand Other Indemnity Provisions or otherwisel(iding from any entity or enterprise
referred to in clause (i) of the definition of “lachnifiable Claim” in Section 1(f)) in respect ofcbuindemnifiable Losses otherwise
indemnifiable hereunder.
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14. Defense of ClaimsThe Company shall be entitled to participate indbfense of any Indemnifiable Claim or to assuneeditfense
thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory ®lttdemniteeprovided that if Indemnitee believes, after consultationhwibunsel selected
Indemnitee, that (a) the use of counsel chosehdy¥bmpany to represent Indemnitee would presetit sounsel with an actual or potential
conflict, (b) the named parties in any such Inddiablie Claim (including any impleaded parties) imdé both the Company and Indemnitee
and Indemnitee shall conclude that there may beoongore legal defenses available to Indemniteeatedifferent from or in addition to
those available to the Company, or (c) any suchesgmtation by such counsel would be precludednthéeapplicable standards of
professional conduct then prevailing, then Indeemghall be entitled to retain separate counséin@umore than one law firm plus, if
applicable, local counsel in respect of any paldiclndemnifiable Claim) at the Company’s experidee Company shall not be liable to
Indemnitee under this Agreement for any amountd pasettlement of any threatened or pending Indéafte Claim effected without the
Company’s prior written consent. The Company shal] without the prior written consent of the Indetae, effect any settlement of any
threatened or pending Indemnifiable Claim to wtilol Indemnitee is, or could have been, a partyssrdeich settlement solely involves the
payment of money and includes a complete and uritonal release of the Indemnitee from all lialyildn any claims that are the subject
matter of such Indemnifiable Claim. Neither the @amy nor Indemnitee shall unreasonably withhol@dissent to any proposed settlement;
provided that Indemnitee may withhold consent to any segianthat does not provide a complete and uncomditicelease of Indemnitee.

15. Successors and Binding Agreemer() The Company shall require any successor (whelihect or indirect, by purchase, merger,
consolidation, reorganization or otherwise, andudinig any holding company as described in ORC 18@A(A)) to all or substantially all of
the business or assets of the Company, by agreemfemin and substance satisfactory to Indemnitekhds or her counsel, expressly to
assume and agree to perform this Agreement ingime snanner and to the same extent the Company Wweulelquired to perform if no such
succession had taken place. This Agreement shalinoing upon and inure to the benefit of the Comypand any successor to the Company,
including without limitation any person acquiringettly or indirectly all or substantially all ofi¢ business or assets of the Company whethe
by purchase, merger, consolidation, reorganizairostherwise, and including any holding compangescribed in ORC 1701.802(A) (and
such successor will thereafter be deemed fBerhpany” for purposes of this Agreement), but shall not oilige be assignable or delegat:
by the Company.

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the dférof and be enforceable by the Indemnitee’s geabor legal representatives, executors,
administrators, heirs, distributees, legatees diner successors.

(c) This Agreement is personal in natmd neither of the parties hereto shall, withoatdbnsent of the other, assign or delegate this
Agreement or any rights or obligations hereundeepkas expressly provided in Sections 15(a) aiio) 19/ithout limiting the generality or
effect of the foregoing, Indemnitee’s right to reeepayments hereunder shall not be assignablethehby pledge, creation of a security
interest or otherwise, other than by a transfethieyindemnitee’s will or by the laws of descent disdribution, and, in the event of any
attempted assignment or transfer contrary to taiiGn 15(c), the Company will have no liabilitygay any amount so attempted to be
assigned or transferred.
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16. NoticesFor all purposes of this Agreement, all communaai including without limitation notices, consemtqjuests or approvals,
required or permitted to be given hereunder shalhbwriting and shall be deemed to have been divign when hand delivered or dispatched
by electronic facsimile or electronic mail transsiig (with receipt thereof confirmed orally or dleically), or five business days after
having been mailed by United States registerecuified mail, return receipt requested, postaggpaid or one business day after having
been sent for next-day delivery by a nationallyoggized overnight courier service, addressed t&Cthrapany (to the attention of the
Secretary of the Company) and to Indemnitee aapipdicable address shown on the signature pagéhereo such other address as any
party may have furnished to the other in writingl @amaccordance herewith, except that notices ahgks of address will be effective only
upon receipt.

17. Governing Law.The validity, interpretation, construction and penfiance of this Agreement shall be governed bycamdtrued in
accordance with the substantive laws of the Sta@hio, without giving effect to the principles obnflict of laws of such State. The
Company and Indemnitee each hereby irrevocablyestris the jurisdiction of the state and Federaktoin Ohio for all purposes in
connection with any action or proceeding whichesisut of or relates to this Agreement and agraesthy action instituted under this
Agreement shall be brought only in the state orefa&ldcourts in Ohio.

18. Validity. If any provision of this Agreement or the applioatiof any provision hereof to any person or circtamee is held invalid,
unenforceable or otherwise illegal, the remaindahis Agreement and the application of such priovizo any other person or circumstance
shall not be affected, and the provision so heldeiinvalid, unenforceable or otherwise illegallsha reformed to the extent, and only to the
extent, necessary to make it enforceable, validgal. In the event that any court or other adjatie body shall decline to reform any
provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, ofe¥ceable or otherwise illegal as contemplatedhgyimmediately preceding sentence, the
parties thereto shall take all such action as neagdzessary or appropriate to replace the providmeld to be invalid, unenforceable or
otherwise illegal with one or more alternative psions that effectuate the purpose and intent@fifiginal provisions of this Agreement as
fully as possible without being invalid, unenforbksor otherwise illegal.

19. MiscellaneousNo provision of this Agreement may be waived, miedifor discharged unless such waiver, modificatiodischarge
is agreed to in writing signed by Indemnitee arel@mpany. No waiver by either party hereto attamg of any breach by the other party
hereto or compliance with any condition or provisaf this Agreement to be performed by such otlaetypshall be deemed a waiver of
similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions hetsame or at any prior or subsequent time. Nceaggats or representations, oral or
otherwise, expressed or implied with respect tostitgect matter hereof have been made by eithéy fheat are not set forth expressly in this
Agreement. References to Sections are to referaac®sctions of this Agreement.

20. Legal Fees and Expensel.is the intent of the Company that Indemnitee mtequired to incur legal fees and or other Egpsn
associated with the interpretation, enforcememtefense of Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreenbgriitigation or otherwise because the
cost and expense thereof would substantially defram the benefits intended to be extended tormuitee hereunder. Accordingly, without
limiting the generality or effect of any other
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provision hereof, if it should appear to Indemnitieat the Company has failed to comply with anytobbligations under this Agreement
(including its obligations under Section 3) orlie tevent that the Company or any other person takésgseatens to take any action to declare
this Agreement void or unenforceable, or institutey litigation or other action or proceeding desid to deny, or to recover from, Indemn
the benefits provided or intended to be providebhttemnitee hereunder, the Company irrevocablyaisés the Indemnitee from time to
time to retain counsel of Indemnitee’s choicehatéxpense of the Company as hereafter providediise and represent Indemnitee in
connection with any such interpretation, enforcenoerdefense, including without limitation the iaiion or defense of any litigation or other
legal action, whether by or against the Compargnyrdirector, officer, shareholder or other peraffiiated with the Company, in any
jurisdiction. Notwithstanding any existing or priattorne'-client relationship between the Company and sucimsel, the Company
irrevocably consents to Indemnitee’s entering amattorney-client relationship with such counaal in that connection the Company and
Indemnitee agree that a confidential relationshigdlexist between Indemnitee and such counsehd\itrespect to whether Indemnitee
prevails, in whole or in part, in connection withyzof the foregoing, the Company will pay and bkelydfinancially responsible for any and
all attorneys’ and related fees and expenses iadly Indemnitee in connection with any of the fmiag.

21. Certain Interpretive Matters. Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise iregu(a) “it” or “its” or words of any gender inclu
each other gender, (b) words using the singulatuwal number also include the plural or singulamiber, respectively, (c) the terms “hereof,”
“herein,” “hereby” and derivative or similar wordsfer to this entire Agreement, (d) the terms “@lgj” “Section,” “Annex” or “Exhibit” refel
to the specified Article, Section, Annex or Exhibitor to this Agreement, (e) the terms “includégitludes” and “including” will be deemed
to be followed by the words “without limitation” ¢wether or not so expressed), and (f) the word i®disjunctive but not exclusive.
Whenever this Agreement refers to a number of dayeh number will refer to calendar days unlessness days are specified and whenever
action must be taken (including the giving of netar the delivery of documents) under this Agreendeming a certain period of time or by a
particular date that ends or occurs on a non-bssiday, then such period or date will be extendei the immediately following business
day. As used herein, “business day” means any tteyr than Saturday, Sunday or a United Statesdkteliday.

22. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more eopaits, each of which will be deemed to be anmaidout all of
which together shall constitute one and the sameeagent.

[Signatures Appear On Following Page]

14




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Indemnitee has executeditae Company has caused its duly authorized reptatve to execute this
Agreement as of the date first above written.

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC.
6070 Parkland Blvd.
Mayfield Hts., OH 44124

By:
Name:
Title:

[INDEMNITEE]
[Address]

[Indemnitee]
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EXHIBIT A
UNDERTAKING
UNDERTAKING

STATE OF )
) SS
COUNTY OF )

l, , being first duly sworn, do depose and say as\l

1. This Undertaking is submitted pursuanti® Director Indemnification Agreement, dated ,2___, between Brush
Engineered Materials Inc., an Ohio corporation (t@mpany”) and the undersigned.

2. | am requesting payment of Expenses thavé reasonably incurred or will reasonably inoudéfending an Indemnifiable Claim
referred to in the aforesaid Director IndemnifioatiAgreement.

3. The Expenses for which payment is requesstedin general, all expenses related to

4. Part A

| hereby undertake to (a) repay all amounig parsuant hereto if it is proved by clear andwincing evidence in a court of competent
jurisdiction that my action or failure to act whiththe subject of the matter described hereinliracan act or omission undertaken w
deliberate intent to cause injury to the Companyratertaken with reckless disregard for the bestésts of the Company and (b) reasonably
cooperate with the Company concerning the actioit, groceeding or claim.

[INDEMNITEE NAME]
5. PartB

| hereby undertake to repay all amounts paigdymant hereto if it ultimately is determined tham not entitled to be indemnified by the
Company under the aforesaid Director Indemnificatd@reement or otherwise.




[Signature of Indemnitee

Subscribed and sworn to before me, a Notabfi®in and for said County and State, this  day of 2
[Seal]
My commission expires the day of 2

i The Indemnitee shall not be eligible to execwd R of this Undertaking if, at the time of thedemnitee’s act or omission at issue, the
Articles or the Regulations of the Company prohgbith advances by specific reference to the OhiisBé Code (the ORC”) Section
1701.13(E)(5)(a), or if the only liability assertadainst the Indemnitee is in an action, suit,roceeding on the Company’s behalf
pursuant to ORC Section 1701.95. In the eventttimatndemnitee is eligible to and does execute Pettt A and Part B hereof, the
costs, charges, and expenses which are paid iydimpany pursuant hereto shall be required to baiddyy the Indemnitee only if the
Indemnitee is required to do so under the termmoti Part A and Part t
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Exhibit 10h

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE COMPENSATION PLAN
2009 PLAN YEAR
(as adopted February, 2009)

[. INTRODUCTION

The Management Performance Compensation Plan Ptdr®) provides incentive compensation to eligibeployees based principally on
annual financial performance. Plan awards havgrafgiant portion based on Company and/or Busitssperformance (“financial
performance”), a component that recognizes indafidund combined contributions toward personal/te@jactives (“Personal/Team
Performance”), and, for some participants, a “reédtcompany peer group financial measure.

II. DEFINITIONS

Plan Year:

The fiscal year for which the Company’s Busines# gerformance, and any Plan awards are calculated.

Business Unit Performance:
The Executive Staff will designate the Businessté/8ubsidiaries that are eligible for participatiorthe Plan for the Plan Year.
Each business unit has defined financial perforreaneasures, which have in turn been approved b@dhgpensation Committee of the

Board and/or the Executive Staff. These measumexpressed as a Minimum, Target and Maximum. Rigards include a “Financial
Performance Component” based on the Business @rfitymance.

Personal/Team Performance:

An assessment is made of an individual's achievésramd his/her contributions to work/project teatagng the Plan Year. This assessment
is expressed as a percentage of base compenddimtPersonal/Team Performance” component is disfiom the “Financial Performance”
component.

Operating Profit (“OP”):

Profit or loss, before interest and taxes, andlfonestic and international operations. OperatirggitRwill include any special write-off or
accounting charge and accrued performance or iiveechmpensation.

Peer Group Return on Invested Capital (ROIC)

The publicly available return on invested capitsdioge for those peer group companies includedsiiCtbmpany’s self-declared peer group in
comparison to the Company. Due to the delays iorted information, the measurement period will it the fourth quarter of the prior y

as well as the first three quarters of the curpdent year. This “relative” company peer group ficiahmeasure is an independent measure anc
is not influenced by any other financial performaneeasure set by the Company for the plan year.
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Working Capital:

This is a monthly calculation based on Businesg/Buabsidiary worldwide accounts receivable and FiRgntory divided by annualized
worldwide sales (current month plus prior two mandimnualized). The result being working capite @&rcent of sales. At the end of the
year the average of the twelve monthly, annualgadds numbers and twelve monthly working capitahbers (A/R and inventory) a

calculated and a percent to sales is calculategbbars the averages for the twelve periods. This/evemonth average is the basis for the
incentive metric for working capital management.

Other Metrics:

From time to time, other metrics will be adoptedttare aligned with a Business Unit’s strategy muadket challenges. These metrics will be
defined and tracked by the corporate accountingudey@nt, subject to approval by the Executive Staff

Base Compensation:

The participant’s annual base salary in effect ept@&mber 30 of the Plan Year.

lll. PARTICIPATION

At the beginning of the Plan Year, the ExecutivaffSwill identify exempt, salaried employees whassponsibilities affect progress on
critical issues facing the Company. Those individslected by the Executive Staff will be notifigftheir participation in the Plan, their
performance compensation grade and performanceamwsafion opportunity, and their applicable Busindss designation.

Following the beginning of the Plan Year, the ExaeuStaff may admit new hires or individuals whre @aromoted or assigned additional :
significant responsibilities. The Executive Staffiyralso alter performance compensation grade assigts to reflect changed responsibilities
of participants during the Plan Year.

An employee who replaces or otherwise assumethiipctions or role of an employee, does not aatarally assume the plan participat
that had applied to the incumbent. Rather, padianm by the new or replacing employee must beviddally considered and approved.

Employees who are designated as participants béfmiel of the Plan year are eligible for full piaipation. Participants who are newly
employed on or after April 1 and before July 1 eligible for half of any award available for Peraifieam and Financial (Business Unit
and/or Company) performance.

Participants who transfer from the Exempt SalaRedormance Compensation Plan to the Managemefar®@nce Compensation Plan on
or after April 1 and before July 1 are eligible fall participation in the Personal/Team performacomponent and for half participation in
the Financial (Business Unit and/or Company) penforice component. Their eligibility under the Exer@plaried Performance
Compensation Plan ceases for the Plan Year.
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Changes in performance compensation grade assigeméiresult in prorated participation in awards.

The eligibility of employees hired or with changet responsibilities after June 30 will not be ddesed until a possible, subsequent Plan
Year.

Normally, employees who are participants in anyeoimnual incentive, commission or performance @msgtion plan are not eligible. T
Executive Staff may consider prorated participatioder special circumstances.

With two exceptions, participants must be emplogedhe last day of the Plan Year in order to bgilge for any performance compensation
award. For a participant who becomes eligible fad who elects a severance option under the Chierigllium Disease Policy as amended,
any award under the Plan will be prorated to thgirbeng of the month after the employee exercibesseverance option. The second
exception pertains to retirement under a Compangipa plan, in which case, any award will be predab the beginning of the month
following the employee’s retirement date. In norgweill a prorated award be earned where the panaiercent is 1/3 or less.

Eligible employees who have been on a leave ofratesim excess of 13 weeks during the plan yearhaiie their award reduced on a pate
basis to reflect their actual contribution.

IV. PERFORMANCE COMPENSATION OPPORTUNITY FOR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Direcwitl establish Minimum, Target and Maximum levéds each financial measurement.

The Executive Staff will assign participants togpaafic Business Unit/Subsidiary for the performaompensation opportunity for Financial
Performance.

Below is a summary of the performance compensatpgortunity for the Plan Year.

Grade Financial Component Personal Team
D 20% 0-14%
E 10% 0-14%

Opportunity for participants in Grades A, B and @ e individualized as determined by the CompéinsaCommittee or the Executive Sti

The “Financial Performance” component of awardss{Bess Unit, Company, sub-unit, and/or other messant), will begin once the
Minimum level has been attained for Operating Rrdfone of the other financial components will ieguan award unless the Minimum
level for Operating Profit has been met. Perforneamchich reaches or exceeds the Maximum valueeofrtbasure, will result in awards at
200 percent of Target opportunity. Award amountddgels of achievement between Minimum and Tasget between Target and Maximi
will be prorated according to the level of achieesin

Financial awards will be prorated for transfersamatn units (Business Unit and/or Company) accorthrtye length of service by months in
each unit during the Plan Year.
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V. PERFORMANCE COMPENSATION OPPORTUNITY for PERSONA L/TEAM PERFORMANCE

An Operating Profit “threshold” may be establishetijch must be achieved in order to make availadd@nus opportunity to recognize the
Personal/Team performance. If established, me#tisghreshold would result in a Personal/Team djpoity payout. This threshold can be
different than the Minimum Operating Profit levelaessary to create a Financial Performance opptytun

No awards for Personal/Team performance will be faa Threshold is established and is not r
The “total pool” for Personal/Team performance aftjgipants would typically average about 10 petadrthe base compensation of
participants, if the Operating Profit metric meetexceeds Target. Performance below Target casldltrin the total pool being reduced to a

lesser amount. The Business Unit Executive andfeeutive Staff will decide allocation of the p@whong eligible participants based on
their performance throughout the plan year relativachieving established goals and objectives.

VI. PAYMENT

Distribution of any performance compensation awarmt$er the Plan to participants will be no latamtiarch 15 of the year following the
Plan Year.

VIIl. GENERAL PROVISIONS

The Executive Staff has authority to make admiatste decisions in the interests of the Plan.

The Board of Directors, through its Compensatiom@ittee, shall have final and conclusive authdiatyinterpretation, application, and
possible modification of this Plan or establishedjéts. The Board of Directors reserves the riglmend or terminate the Plan at any time.
Subject to the preceding sentences, any determinbti the Company’s independent accountants sadihbl and conclusive as it relates to
the calculation of financial results.

This Plan is not a contract of employment.
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BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC.

Agreement Relating to Restricted Shares

WHEREAS
or a Subsidiary; and

, (the “Grantee”) is an employee of Brush Engindéviaterials Inc., an Ohio corporation (the “Corgama’)

WHEREAS, the execution of an agreemetihénform hereof (this “Agreement”) has been autteat by a resolution of the
Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Bloaf Directors of the Corporation that was dulyptéd on February 2, 2009;

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Corporas 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), the@wation hereby confirms to the
Grantee the grant, effective &ebruary 10, 2009(the “Date of Grant”), of Restricted Shares (as defined in the Plan), sutyject
the terms and conditions of the Plan and the faltigvadditional terms, conditions, limitations amgtrictions:

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS

All terms used herein with initial caglitetters that are defined in the Plan shall itheemeanings assigned to them in the Plan when
used herein with initial capital letters, shall bdiae following meaning:

ARTICLE Il
CERTAIN TERMS OF RESTRICTED SHARES

1. Issuance of Restricted Sharébe Restricted Shares covered by this Agreentait Ise issued to the Grantee on the Date of Grant.
The Common Shares subject to this grant of ResttiShares shall be fully paid and nonassessable.

2. Restrictions on Transfer of Sharéee Common Shares subject to this grant of RasttiShares may not be sold, exchanged,
assigned, transferred, pledged,




encumbered or otherwise disposed of by the Grast@ept to the Corporation, until the Restrictedr8b have become nonforfeitable as
provided in Section 3 of this Article 1l; providedhowever, that the Grantee’s rights with respect to sucm@on Shares may be transferred
by will or pursuant to the laws of descent andritistion. Any purported transfer or encumbranceiotation of the provisions of this

Section 2 of this Article 1l shall be void, and tbéher party to any such purported transactionl stwlobtain any rights to or interest in such
Common Shares. The Corporation in its sole dismmetivhen and as permitted by the Plan, may waigedhtrictions on transferability with
respect to all or a portion of the Common Sharégestito this grant of Restricted Shares.

3. Vesting of Restricted Shares

(a) All of the Restricted Shares covered by &greement shall become nonforfeitable if ther@a shall have remained in the
continuous employ of the Corporation or a Subsjdiar three years from the Date of Grant.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of SectRi{a) of this Article Il, all of the Restricted Slearcovered by this Agreement shall
immediately become nonforfeitable (i) if the Granties or becomes permanently disabled while irethploy of the Corporation or a
Subsidiary during the three-year period from théeld Grant, or (i) if a Change in Control (asidefl below in Section 3(d) of this
Article 1) occurs during the three-year periodrfrehe Date of Grant while the Grantee is employethle Corporation or a Subsidiary.

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of Sect®(@a) of this Article Il, if the Grantee retires werdh retirement plan of the Corporation or a
Subsidiary at or after normal retirement age preditbr in such retirement plan or retires at atierange with the consent of the
Committee, a portion of the Restricted Shares aaley this Agreement shall become nonforfeitablee iumber of Restricted Shares that
shall become nonforfeitable shall be determinedniojtiplying the total number of Restricted
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Shares granted hereunder by the number of monghSthantee remained in the continuous employ oCiwgoration or a Subsidiary
between the Date of Grant and the effective dagiofi retirement divided by 36. The Committee nhayyever, provide that more than
such fraction shall become nonforfeitable in itscdétion pursuant to Section 19(c) of the Plan.

(d) For purposes of this Agreement, “Chang€amtrol” means:

(i) The acquisition by any individual, entity group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3)Ld(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) (ar$®n”) of beneficial ownership (within the meanofgRule 13d-3 promulgated
under the Exchange Act) of voting securities of @ogporation where such acquisition causes sucsoRdo own (A) 20% or more of
the combined voting power of the then outstandioiing securities of the Corporation entitled toevgenerally in the election of
directors (the “Outstanding Corporation Voting S#tes”) without the approval of the Incumbent Bdas defined in (ii) below or
(B) 35% or more of the Outstanding Voting Secusitié the Corporation with the approval of the Incuemt Boardprovided, however ,
that for purposes of this subsection (i), the follng acquisitions shall not be deemed to resudt @hange of Control: (I) any acquisition
directly from the Corporation that is approved bg tnhcumbent Board (as defined in subsection@ow), (I1) any acquisition by the
Corporation or a subsidiary of the Corporation) @ny acquisition by any employee benefit planr@dated trust) sponsored or
maintained by the Corporation or any corporationtamled by the Corporation, (IV) any acquisitiop &y Person pursuant to a
transaction described in clauses (A), (B) and {@ubsection (iii) below, or (V) any acquisition,liyr other Business Combination (as
defined in (iii) below) with, a person or groupwlfiich employees of the Corporation or any subsydidithe
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Corporation control a greater than 25% intereSMBO”) but only if the Grantee is one of those eayges of the Corporation or any
subsidiary of the Corporation that are participgiimthe MBO;provided, further , that if any Person’s beneficial ownership of the
Outstanding Corporation Voting Securities reachesxaeeds 20% or 35%, as the case may be, aslhaksuransaction described in
clause (l) or (Il) above, and such Person subsetyugequires beneficial ownership of additionalimgtsecurities of the Corporation,
such subsequent acquisition shall be treated as@urisition that causes such Person to own 20%%r& more, as the case may be, of
the Outstanding Corporation Voting Securities; pravided, further , that if at least a majority of the members of ittheumbent Board
determines in good faith that a Person has acqbeedficial ownership (within the meaning of RuBsl43 promulgated under the
Exchange Act) of 20% or more of the Outstandingp@aation Voting Securities inadvertently, and siehson divests as promptly as
practicable a sufficient number of shares so theh £erson beneficially owns (within the meaningRuale 13d-3 promulgated under
the Exchange Act) less than 20% of the Outstan@imigporation Voting Securities, then no Change afit@ shall have occurred as a
result of such Person’s acquisition; or

(ii) individuals who, as of the date hereafpstitute the Board (the “Incumbent Board” (as rfiediby this clause (ii)) cease for any
reason to constitute at least a majority of therBparovided, however , that any individual becoming a director subsegt@the date
hereof whose election, or nomination for electigrtiie Corporation’s shareholders, was approved oyt of at least a majority of the
directors then comprising the Incumbent Board eithy a specific vote or by approval of the protgtement of the Corporation in
which such person is named as a hominee for diraetthout objection to such
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nomination) shall be considered as though suclvidhaal were a member of the Incumbent Board, batughing, for this purpose, any
such individual whose initial assumption of offisecurs as a result of an actual or threatenedi@hectntest with respect to the election
or removal of directors or other actual or threatkgolicitation of proxies or consents by or ondebf a Person other than the Board,;
or

(iif) the consummation of a reorganizationrgee or consolidation or sale or other dispositid@all or substantially all of the assets
of the Corporation or the acquisition of assetaradther corporation, or other transaction (“Busin€@smbination”) excluding, however,
such a Business Combination pursuant to whichi§a)individuals and entities who were the ultimagedficial owners of voting
securities of the Corporation immediately priostah Business Combination beneficially own, diseotl indirectly, more than 65% of,
respectively, the then outstanding shares of comstmek and the combined voting power of the thetstanding voting securities
entitled to vote generally in the election of dimes, as the case may be, of the entity resultiog fsuch Business Combination
(including, without limitation, an entity that agesult of such transaction owns the Corporatioalloor substantially all of the
Corporation’s assets either directly or through onmore subsidiaries), (B) no Person (excluding @mployee benefit plan (or related
trust) of the Corporation, the Corporation or seakity resulting from such Business Combinatiomddiially owns, directly or
indirectly (1) 20% or more, if such Business Condtian is approved by the Incumbent Board or (11%38r more, if such Business
Combination is not approved by the Incumbent Boafdhe combined voting power of the then outstagdiecurities entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors of the gntésulting from such Business Combination and
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(C) at least a majority of the members of the badrdirectors of the corporation resulting from lsuBusiness Combination were
members of the Incumbent Board at the time of ¥eegtion of the initial agreement, or of the actidrihe Board, providing for such
Business Combination; or

(iv) approval by the shareholders of the Coafion of a complete liquidation or dissolutiontbé Corporation except pursuant to a
Business Combination described in clauses (A)afR) (C) of subsection (iii), above.

4, Book Entry; Stock Certificate$he Common Shares subject to this grant of ResttiShares shall be uncertificated and evidenced
by book entry only until the Restricted Shares beemonforfeitable pursuant to Section 3(a) of #uiscle 11. At such time, a Certificate or
Certificates representing such shares (less amgshathheld for taxes pursuant to Section 2 ofchetlll hereof) shall be delivered to the

Grantee.

5. Forfeiture of Share3he Restricted Shares shall be forfeited, exasmitherwise provided in Section 3(b) or 3(c) abifthe
Grantee ceases to be employed by the CorporatiarSobsidiary prior to three years from the Dat&aint.

6. Dividend, Voting and Other Rights

(a) Except as otherwise provided herein, feord after the Date of Grant, the Grantee shall bdaf the rights of a shareholder with
respect to the Restricted Shares covered by thisehgent, including the right to vote such Restd@bdares and receive any dividends
may be paid thereon; providetiowever, that any additional Common Shares or other séesithat the Grantee may become entitled to
receive pursuant to a stock dividend, stock sphithbination of shares, recapitalization, mergensotidation, separation or reorganization
or any other change in the capital structure ofGbgporation shall be subject to the same restristas the Restricted Shares covered by

this Agreement.




(b) Cash dividends on the Restricted Sharesred by this Agreement shall be sequestered bgtigoration from and after the Date
of Grant until such time as any of such Restri@bdres become nonforfeitable in accordance withic®e8 of this Article 1l, whereupon
such dividends shall be paid to the Grantee in tadine extent such dividends are attributabledetfcted Shares that have become
nonforfeitable. To the extent that Restricted Skavered by this Agreement are forfeited purst@®ection 4 of this Article Il, all the
dividends sequestered with respect to such Rexdrishares shall also be forfeited. No interest Slegbayable with respect to any such
dividends.

7. Effect of Detrimental ActivityNotwithstanding anything herein to the contrdfriyhe Grantee, either during employment by the
Corporation or a subsidiary or within one year aféemination of such employment, shall engageny @etrimental Activity, (as hereinafter
defined) and the Board shall so find, the Grantedi:s

(a) Return to the Corporation all Restrictédu®s that the Grantee has not disposed of thatieoonforfeitable pursuant to this
Agreement, and

(b) With respect to any Restricted Sharestti@Grantee has disposed of that became nongsfeipursuant to this Agreement, pay to
the Corporation in cash the value of such Restti&eares on the date such Restricted Shares bewmfafeitable. To the extent that si
amounts are not paid to the Corporation, the Capmr may, to the extent permitted by law, settloff amounts so payable to it against
amounts that may be owing from time to time byGweporation or a subsidiary to the Grantee, whedlsevages, deferred compensation
or vacation pay or in the form of any other benefifor any other reason.
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8. For purposes of this Agreement, thmtéetrimental Activity” shall include:

(a) (i) Engaging in any activity in violatiaf the Section entitled “Competitive Activity; Cadéntiality; Nonsolicitation” in the
Severance Agreement between the Corporation an@rénetee, if such agreement is in effect at the Hateof, or in violation of any
corresponding provision in any other agreement eeiwthe Corporation and the Grantee in effect erd#tie hereof providing for the
payment of severance compensation; or

(i) If no such severance agreement is inatfés of the date hereof or if a severance agreetoes not contain a Section
corresponding to “Competitive Activity; Confiderittg; Nonsolicitation™:

(A) Competitive Activity During EmploymenCompeting with the Corporation anywhere within thated States during the term of
the Grantee’s employment, including, without lirtita:

(I) entering into or engaging in any businetich competes with the business of the Corporation

(I1) soliciting customers, business, patronagerders for, or selling, any products or sersitecompetition with, or for any
business that competes with, the business of tnpo€ation;

(1) diverting, enticing or otherwise takirayvay any customers, business, patronage or orélédre €orporation or attempting to
do so; or

(IV) promoting or assisting, financially othatrwise, any person, firm, association, partneystupporation or other entity engaged
in any business which competes with the businefiseo€orporation.
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(B) Following TerminationF-or a period of one year following the Granteetei@ation date:

() entering into or engaging in any businessch competes with the Corporation’s businessiwithe Restricted Territory (as
hereinafter defined);

(I1) soliciting customers, business, patronagerders for, or selling, any products or sersitecompetition with, or for any
business, wherever located, that competes withCtrporation’s business within the Restricted Tery;;

(1) diverting, enticing or otherwise takirayvay any customers, business, patronage or oréldre €orporation within the
Restricted Territory, or attempting to do so; or

(IV) promoting or assisting, financially othatrwise, any person, firm, association, partnerstupporation or other entity engaged
in any business which competes with the Corporaibuasiness within the Restricted Territory.

For the purposes of Sections 8(a)(ii)(A) and (By\ah inclusive, but without limitation thereof, tantee will be in violation
thereof if the Grantee engages in any or all ofattévities set forth therein directly as an indival on the Grantee’s own account, or
indirectly as a partner, joint venturer, employagent, salesperson, consultant, officer and/octlireof any firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity, or asoglholder of any corporation in which the Granbe¢he Grantee’s spouse, child or
parent owns, directly or indirectly, individually o the aggregate, more than five percent (5%hefoutstanding stock.
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(C)_“The Corporatiori. For the purposes of this Section 8(a)(ii) of Aeidl, the “Corporation” shall include any and allettt and
indirect subsidiaries, parents, and affiliatedredated companies of the Corporation for which@rantee worked or had responsibility
at the time of termination of the Grantee’s emplentrand at any time during the two year periodrgacsuch termination.

(D) “The Corporatiots Busines$.For the purposes of this Section 8 of Article klirsive, the Corporation’s business is defined to
be the manufacture, marketing and sale of highopeidince engineered materials serving global telemamications and computer,
magnetic and optical data storage, aerospace dedsde automotive electronics, industrial composeanid appliance markets, as fur
described in any and all manufacturing, marketing sales manuals and materials of the Corporaidheasame may be altered,
amended, supplemented or otherwise changed froentbrtime, or of any other products or servicestantially similar to or readily
substitutable for any such described products andces.

(E) "Restricted Territory. For the purposes of Section 8(a)(ii)(B) of Artitlethe Restricted Territory shall be defined ad #imited
to:

() the geographic area(s) within a one huddndle radius of any and all of the Corporatior@sdtion(s) in, to, or for which the
Grantee worked, to which the Grantee was assignbddany responsibility (either direct or superws at the time of termination
of the Grantee’s employment and at any time duttiegtwo-year period prior to such termination; and

(1) all of the specific customer accounts,atfrer within or outside of the geographic area desd in (I) above, with which the

10




Grantee had any contact or for which the Granteleang responsibility (either direct or supervisaay}he time of termination of the
Grantee’s employment and at any time during theyear period prior to such termination.

(F) Extensionlf it shall be judicially determined that the Graathas violated any of the Grantee’s obligatiordeuiection 8(a)(ii)
(B) of Article Il, then the period applicable tookeobligation that the Grantee shall have beerraéted to have violated shall
automatically be extended by a period of time equéngth to the period during which such violaii®) occurred.

(b) NonSolicitation.Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(i\dfcle I, Detrimental Activity shall also includdirectly or
indirectly at any time soliciting or inducing ottenpting to solicit or induce any employee(s), sa@presentative(s), agent(s) or consultant
(s) of the Corporation and/or of its parents, soither subsidiaries or affiliated or related conipato terminate their employment,
representation or other association with the Cafpom and/or its parent or its other subsidiargffitiated or related companies.

(c)_Further CovenantBxcept as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(ldfcle 1, Detrimental Activity shall also include

(i) directly or indirectly, at any time duriray after the Grantee’s employment with the Corporna disclosing, furnishing,
disseminating, making available or, except in therse of performing the Grantee’s duties of emplegtmusing any trade secrets or
confidential business and technical informationha&f Corporation or its customers or vendors, indlgavithout limitation as to when or
how the Grantee may have acquired such informa8aoh confidential information shall include, witlidimitation, the Corporation’s
unique selling, manufacturing and servicing methanf$ business techniques,
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training, service and business manuals, promotiodérials, training courses and other training iastfuctional materials, vendor and
product information, customer and prospective austolists, other customer and prospective custanfiermation and other business
information. The Grantee specifically acknowledties all such confidential information, whetherwedd to writing, maintained on a
form of electronic media, or maintained in the Gea's mind or memory and whether compiled by thepGtion, and/or the Grantee,
derives independent economic value from not bedaglity known to or ascertainable by proper meanstbgrs who can obtain
economic value from its disclosure or use, thas@eable efforts have been made by the Corporatiomaintain the secrecy of such
information, that such information is the sole pup of the Corporation and that any retention asel of such information by the
Grantee during the Grantee’'s employment with thep@ation (except in the course of performing tharee’s duties and obligations
to the Corporation) or after the termination of Gkantee’s employment shall constitute a misappatipn of the Corporation’s trade
secrets.

(ii) Upon termination of the Grantee’s emplamwith the Corporation, for any reason, the Graistfailure to return to the
Corporation, in good condition, all property of tBerporation, including without limitation, the ginals and all copies of any materials
which contain, reflect, summarize, describe, aratyzrefer or relate to any items of informaticstdd in Section 8(c)(i) of Article Il of
this Agreement.

(d) Discoveries and Inventiorisxcept as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(i\dicle Il, Detrimental Activity shall also includine
failure or refusal of the Grantee to assign toGleporation, its successors, assigns or nomindexf,the Grantee’s rights to any
discoveries, inventions and improvements, whetagézrgable or
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not, made, conceived or suggested, either solglyirtty with others, by the Grantee while in therforation’s employ, whether in the
course of the Grantee’s employment with the ugb®fCorporatiors time, material or facilities or that is in anyymaithin or related to th
existing or contemplated scope of the Corporatitn'siness. Any discovery, invention or improvenretating to any subject matter with
which the Corporation was concerned during the @eia employment and made, conceived or suggegtételiGrantee, either solely or
jointly with others, within one year following teination of the Grantee’s employment under this &gnent or any successor agreements
shall be irrebuttably presumed to have been so nadeeived or suggested in the course of suchamnt with the use of the
Corporation’s time, materials or facilities. Up@aquest by the Corporation with respect to any slistoveries, inventions or
improvements, the Grantee will execute and delivg¢he Corporation, at any time during or after @rantees employment, all appropric
documents for use in applying for, obtaining andntaning such domestic and foreign patents athoration may desire, and all
proper assignments therefor, when so requestéae @&xpense of the Corporation, but without furibreadditional consideration.

(e) Work Made For Hirdexcept as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(iAdfcle 1l, Detrimental Activity shall also includeiolation of
the Corporation’s rights in any or all work papeegorts, documentation, drawings, photographsatiegs, tapes and masters therefore,
prototypes and other materials (hereinafter, “itgmscluding without limitation, any and all suétems generated and maintained on any
form of electronic media, generated by Granteengduttie Grantee’s employment with the Corporatidme Grantee acknowledges that, to
the extent permitted by law, all such items shaltbnsidered a “work made for hire” and that owhigref any and all copyrights in any
and all such items shall belong to the Corporafidre item will recognize the
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Corporation as the copyright owner, will contaihpabper copyright notices, e.g., “(creation ddt@yrporation’s Name], All Rights
Reserved,” and will be in condition to be registeoe otherwise placed in compliance with registnatdr other statutory requirements
throughout the world.

(f) Termination for Caus&xcept as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(dfcle 1, Detrimental Activity shall also includactivity
that results in termination for Cause. For the pags of this Section, “Cause” shall mean thatGrentee shall have:

(i) been convicted of a criminal violation oiving fraud, embezzlement, theft or violation efiéral antitrust statutes or federal
securities laws in connection with his duties othie course of his employment with the Corporatioany affiliate of the Corporation;

(i) committed intentional wrongful damagepmperty of the Corporation or any affiliate of tGerporation; or

(iif) committed intentional wrongful discloseipf secret processes or confidential informatibthe Corporation or any affiliate of tl
Corporation; and any such act shall have been dstraditly and materially harmful to the Corporation.

(g)_Other Injurious Conduddetrimental Activity shall also include any othe@mcluct or act determined to be injurious, detrirabat
prejudicial to any significant interest of the Coration or any subsidiary unless the Grantee dntgdod faith and in a manner he or she
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed td#st interests of the Corporation.

(h) Reasonableneshe Grantee acknowledges that the Grantee’s oldigmtinder this Section 8 of Article Il are readudlean the
context of the nature of the Corporation’s busiress$ the competitive injuries likely to be sustaify the
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Corporation if the Grantee were to violate suchgattions. The Grantee further acknowledges thatAlgreement is made in consideration
of, and is adequately supported by the agreemeheaCorporation to perform its obligations undes tAgreement and by other
consideration, which the Grantee acknowledges itatest good, valuable and sufficient consideration.

ARTICLE Il
GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Compliance with LawThe Corporation shall make reasonable effortotaply with all applicable federal and state sd@sgilaws;
provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agremt, the Corporation shall not be obligated taéssny Common
Shares pursuant to this Agreement if the issudma@of would result in a violation of any such law.

2. Withholding TaxeslIf the Corporation or any Subsidiary shall beuieed to withhold any federal, state, local or fgretax in
connection with any issuance or vesting of Commloar&s or other securities pursuant to this Agre¢ntlee Grantee shall pay the tax or
make provisions that are satisfactory to the Caion or such Subsidiary for the payment therebt Grantee may elect to satisfy all or any
part of any such withholding obligation by surreridg to the Corporation or such Subsidiary a portéthe Common Shares that are issued
or transferred to the Grantee or that become nosfieeable by the Grantee hereunder, and the ConShares so surrendered by the Grantee
shall be credited against any such withholdinggatsion at the Market Value per Share of such Com8iwares on the date of such surrender.

3. Continuous Employmerfor purposes of this Agreement, the continuouglepment of the Grantee with the Corporation or a
Subsidiary shall not be deemed to have been imtadh) and the Grantee shall not be deemed to feased to be
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an employee of the Corporation or a Subsidianysdagon of the transfer of his employment amongporation and its Subsidiaries or a
leave of absence approved by the Board.

4. No Employment Contract; Right to Temate EmploymentThe grant of the Restricted Shares to the Grdataevoluntary,
discretionary award being made on a one-time lzagist does not constitute a commitment to makefatwe awards. The grant of the
Restricted Shares and any payments made hereuilteotbe considered salary or other compensdtiopurposes of any severance pay or
similar allowance, except as otherwise requirethlay Nothing in this Agreement will give the Graatany right to continue employment
with the Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the ¢aag be, or interfere in any way with the rightteé Corporation or a Subsidiary to
terminate the employment of the Grantee at any.time

5. Relation to Other Benefitéiny economic or other benefit to the Grantee unlis Agreement or the Plan shall not be takea int
account in determining any benefits to which tharéee may be entitled under any profit-sharingretent or other benefit or compensation
plan maintained by the Corporation or a Subsidéang shall not affect the amount of any life insemnoverage available to any beneficiary
under any life insurance plan covering employegb@iCorporation or a Subsidiary.

6. Information Information about the Grantee and the Grante&'8qgipation in the Plan may be collected, recorded held, used and
disclosed for any purpose related to the administraf the Plan. The Grantee understands that pratessing of this information may need
to be carried out by the Corporation and its Subsis and by third party administrators whethahspersons are located within the
Grantee’s country or elsewhere, including the UhBéates of America. The Grantee consents to theepsing of information relating to the
Grantee and the Grantee’s participation in the Flamy one or more of the ways referred to above.
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7. AmendmentsAny amendment to the Plan shall be deemed tolzreendment to this Agreement to the extent tleathendment
applicable hereto; providechowever, that no amendment shall adversely affect thetgsighthe Grantee with under this Agreement without
the Grantee’s consent.

8. SeverabilityIn the event that one or more of the provisiohthis Agreement shall be invalidated for any reebg a court of
competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidhghall be deemed to be separable from the otleisions hereof, and the remaining
provisions hereof shall continue to be valid antyfenforceable.

9. Governing LawThis agreement is made under, and shall be emmustn accordance with, the internal substantives laf the State «
Ohio.

The undersigned Grantee hereby accepts thelamanted pursuant to this Agreement on the temasconditions set forth herein.

Dated:

Grantee
Executed in the name of and on behalf of tbgGration at Cleveland, Ohio as of this 27th dalebruary, 2009.

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC

By
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Exhibit 10ag

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC.
Appreciation Rights Agreement
WHEREAS [GRANTEE NAME] (the “Grantee”) is an employee of Brush Enginedviedierials Inc. (the “Corporation”) or a Subsidiary.

WHEREAS, the execution of an agreement inféhe hereof has been authorized by a resolutich@fCompensation Committee (the
“Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Boajdif the Corporation that was duly adopted on Fetyr@, 2009.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Corporation hereby conéitmthe Grantee the grant, effectiveFabruary 10, 2009(the “Date of Grant”),
pursuant to the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (theriB|af Free-standing Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) subjexthe terms and
conditions of the Plan and the terms and conditadescribed below.

1. Definitions
As used in this Agreement:
(A) “Base Price” mearss which was the Market Value per Share on the Dateraht.
(B) “Detrimental Activity” shall have thmeaning set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.
(C) “Spread” means the excess of the avklue per Share on the date when an SAR isisgdrover the Base Price.
(D) Capitalized terms used herein withdefinition shall have the meanings assigned tmtimethe Plan.
2. Grant of SARs

The Corporation hereby grants to the @mthe number of SARSs set forth above. The SARsaight to receive Common Shares il
amount equal to 100% of the Spread at the timexefoise.

3. Vesting of SARs

(A) The SARs granted hereby shall becemxarcisable after the Grantee shall have remamétki continuous employ of the
Corporation or any Subsidiary for three years ftbm Date of Grant, unless the Grantee ceasesda benployee of the Corporation or any
Subsidiary as described in Section 5(C) of thise®gnent.




(B) Notwithstanding the preceding pargijrahe SARs granted hereby shall become immediatadrcisable in full if (i) the Grantee
should die while in the employ of the Corporatiagraay subsidiary; (ii) the Grantee should beconrenpaently disabled while in the employ
of the Corporation; or (iii) if a Change in Contadcurs.

(C) For purposes of this Agreement, “QGieim Control” means:

(i) The acquisition by any individual, entidy group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3)Ld(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) (ar$®n”) of beneficial ownership (within the meanofgRule 13d-3 promulgated
under the Exchange Act) of voting securities of @mgporation where such acquisition causes sucsoRdo own (X) 20% or more of
the combined voting power of the then outstandioiing securities of the Corporation entitled toevgenerally in the election of
directors (the “Outstanding Corporation Voting S#tes”) without the approval of the Incumbent Bdas defined in (ii) below or
(Y) 35% or more of the Outstanding Voting Secusitid the Corporation with the approval of the Intb@mt Board; provided, however,
that for purposes of this subsection (i), the felleg acquisitions shall not be deemed to resudt @hange of Control: (A) any
acquisition directly from the Corporation that gpaoved by the Incumbent Board (as defined in sttimse (i), below), (B) any
acquisition by the Corporation or a subsidiarytaf Corporation, (C) any acquisition by any employerefit plan (or related trust)
sponsored or maintained by the Corporation or amgaration controlled by the Corporation, (D) amygaisition by any Person pursu
to a transaction described in clauses (A), (B) @idof subsection (iii) below, or (E) any acquisitiby, or other Business Combination
(as defined in (iii) below) with, a person or gronfpivhich employees of the Corporation or any sdibsy of the Corporation control a
greater than 25% interest (a “MBO”) but only if thgecutive is one of those employees of the Cotjmwrar any subsidiary of the
Corporation that are participating in the MBO; gded, further, that if any Person’s beneficial ovahgp of the Outstanding
Corporation Voting Securities reaches or exceed@s @035%, as the case may be, as a result of satrtion described in clause (A) or
(B) above, and such Person subsequently acquiregibi@al ownership of additional voting securitigsthe Corporation, such
subsequent acquisition shall be treated as ansitignithat causes such Person to own 20% or 358tooe, as the case may be, of the
Outstanding Corporation Voting Securities; and ed, further, that if at least a majority of thembers of the Incumbent Board
determines in good faith that a Person has acqbieedficial ownership (within the meaning of RuB#43 promulgated under the
Exchange Act) of 20% or more of the OutstandingpOaation Voting Securities inadvertently, and siehson divests as promptly as
practicable a sufficient number of shares so theh £erson beneficially owns (within the meaningRuale 13d-3 promulgated under
the Exchange Act) less than 20% of the




Outstanding Corporation Voting Securities, therQt@nge of Control shall have occurred as a re$slich Person’s acquisition; or

(ii) individuals who, as of the date hereafpstitute the Board (the “Incumbent Board”) (as ified by this clause (ii)) cease for any
reason to constitute at least a majority of therBparovided, however, that any individual becomindirector subsequent to the date
hereof whose election, or nomination for electigrthe Corporation’s shareholders, was approved\mtea of at least a majority of the
directors then comprising the Incumbent Board éeitty a specific vote or by approval of the protgtement of the Corporation in
which such person is named as a nhominee for diregtthout objection to such nomination) shall lmmsidered as though such
individual were a member of the Incumbent Board,éxeluding, for this purpose, any such individwélose initial assumption of offit
occurs as a result of an actual or threatenedi@tecontest with respect to the election or remafalirectors or other actual or
threatened solicitation of proxies or consents bgrobehalf of a Person other than the Board; or

(iif) the consummation of a reorganization rgee or consolidation or sale or other dispositib@mll or substantially all of the assets
of the Corporation or the acquisition of assetaraither corporation, or other transaction (“Bussn@embination”) excluding, however,
such a Business Combination pursuant to whichi§a)individuals and entities who were the ultimagadficial owners of voting
securities of the Corporation immediately priostah Business Combination beneficially own, diseotl indirectly, more than 65% of,
respectively, the then outstanding shares of constmrk and the combined voting power of the thastanding voting securities
entitled to vote generally in the election of diggs, as the case may be, of the entity resultiogn fsuch Business Combination
(including, without limitation, an entity that agesult of such transaction owns the Corporatioalloor substantially all of the
Corporation’s assets either directly or through onmore subsidiaries), (B) no Person (excluding @mployee benefit plan (or related
trust) of the Corporation, the Corporation or seatity resulting from such Business Combinatiomddiially owns, directly or
indirectly (X) 20% or more, if such Business Condtian is approved by the Incumbent Board or (Y) 3@3%more, if such Business
Combination is not approved by the Incumbent Boafdhe combined voting power of the then outstagdiecurities entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors of the gntésulting from such Business Combination andaidgast a majority of the members
the board of directors of the corporation resulfiogn such Business Combination were members ofrttiembent Board at the time of
the execution of the initial agreement, or of tbéam of the Board, providing for such Business ®omation; or
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(iv) approval by the shareholders of the Ceaion of a complete liquidation or dissolutiontb& Corporation except pursuant to a
Business Combination described in clauses (A)afR) (C) of subsection (iii), above.

4. Exercise of SARs

(A) To the extent exercisable as provitge8ection 3 of this agreement, SARs may be egedcin whole or in part by giving notice to
the Corporation specifying the number of SARs t@kercised.

(B) The Corporation will issue to the Giee the number of Common Shares that equals thieeMRrice per Share divided into the
Spread on the date of exercise rounded down togheest whole share.

5. Termination of SARs

The SARs granted hereby shall terminate uperearliest to occur of the following:

(A) 190 days after the Grantee ceaseg tan employee of the Corporation or a Subsidianiesshe ceases to be such employee by
reason of death or in a manner described in clgR)s€C) or (F) below;

(B) One year after the Grantee ceasbs n employee of the Corporation or a Subsidfaiei Grantee is disabled within the meaning
of Section 105(d)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code;

(C) Three years after the Grantee cetaslbe an employee of the Corporation or a Subsidfahe Grantee is at the time of such
termination (i) at least age 65 or (ii) at least & and has completed at least 10 years of canttnemployment with the Corporation or a
Subsidiary;

(D) One year after the death of the Granif the Grantee dies while an employee of theo@uation or a subsidiary or within the period
specified in (A) or (B) above which is applicabtethe Grantee;

(E) Ten years from the Date of Grant; and
(F) Immediately if the Grantee engagearip Detrimental Activity (as hereinafter defined).
6. Effect of Detrimental Activity

If the Grantee, either during employmienthe Corporation or a subsidiary or within onaryafter termination of such employment,
shall engage in any Detrimental Activity, and th@aBl shall so find:

(A) All SARs held by the Grantee, whetbemnot exercisable, shall be forfeited to the @oagion.
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(B) Return to the Corporation all Comn®imares that the Grantee has not disposed of thatpuechased pursuant to this Agreement,
and

(C) With respect to any Common SharesttieGrantee received upon exercise of the SARdtve been disposed of pay to the
Corporation in cash the amount equal to the Spapaticable to such Common Shares on the date ofisgeof such SARs.

To the extent that such amounts are not paid t€trporation, the Corporation may, to the exteminigeed by law, set off the amounts so
payable to it against any amounts that may be oWorg time to time by the Corporation or a Subgigit the Grantee, whether as wages,
deferred compensation or vacation pay or in thenfof any other benefit or for any other reason.

7. Definition of Detrimental Activity

For purposes of this Agreement, the tddetrimental Activity” shall include:

(A) Engaging in any activity in violatiaf the Section entitled “Competitive Activity; Clichentiality; Nonsolicitation”in the Severanc
Agreement between the Corporation and the Optiahsech agreement is in effect on the date hem@ofy violation of any corresponding
provision in any other agreement between the Catfmr and the Optionee in effect on the date hguemfiding for the payment of severar
compensation; or

(i) If no such severance agreement is in éffed a severance agreement does not containt@secorresponding to “Competitive
Activity; Confidentiality; Nonsolicitation” as ofte date hereof:

(a) Competitive Activity During EmploymieiCompeting with the Corporation anywhere within thated States during the term of the
Optionee’s employment, including, without limitatio

(1) entering into or engaging in any besis which competes with the business of the Catipor;

(2) soliciting customers, business, padage or orders for, or selling, any products ovises in competition with, or for
any business that competes with, the businessedEthnporation;

(3) diverting, enticing or otherwise taffiaway any customers, business, patronage orsoofiéne Corporation or
attempting to do so; or

(4) promoting or assisting, financiallyatherwise, any person, firm, association, pastnigy; corporation or other entity
engaged in any business which competes with th@édssof the Corporation.

(b)_Following Terminatiorior a period of one year following the Optione@sination date:
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(1) entering into or engaging in any besis which competes with the Corporation’s businggsn the Restricted
Territory (as hereinafter defined);

(2) soliciting customers, business, paage or orders for, or selling, any products ovises in competition with, or for
any business, wherever located, that competes thi#ghCorporation’s business within the Restrictedritory;

(3) diverting, enticing or otherwise taffiaway any customers, business, patronage orsoofléhe Corporation within tf
Restricted Territory, or attempting to do so; or

(4) promoting or assisting, financiallyatherwise, any person, firm, association, pastnigy; corporation or other entity
engaged in any business which competes with thpdtation’s business within the Restricted Territory

For the purposes of Sections 7(A)(ii)(a) and (e inclusive, but without limitation thereof, tptionee will be in violation
thereof if the Optionee engages in any or all efdhtivities set forth therein directly as an indiaal on the Optionee’s own
account, or indirectly as a partner, joint ventuesnployee, agent, salesperson, consultant, officefor director of any firm,
association, partnership, corporation or otheitygndr as a stockholder of any corporation in whiod Optionee or the
Optionee’s spouse, child or parent owns, direatlindirectly, individually or in the aggregate, nedhan five percent (5%) of
the outstanding stock.

(c) The Corporatiori. For the purposes of this Section 7(A)(ii), the “Garation” shall include any and all direct and nedt
subsidiaries, parents, and affiliated, or relatethjganies of the Corporation for which the Optiomeeked or had responsibility at the time of
termination of the Optionee’s employment and at#myg during the two year period prior to such tieration.

(d)_The Corporatiors Busines$.For the purposes of this Section 7 inclusive, thepGration’s business is defined to be the

manufacture, marketing and sale of high performammgneered materials serving global telecommuioicatand computer, magnetic and
optical data storage, aerospace and defense, atiderstectronics, industrial components and appkamarkets, as further described in any
and all manufacturing, marketing and sales mararadsmaterials of the Corporation as the same majtbeed, amended, supplemented or
otherwise changed from time to time, or of any offreducts or services substantially similar tgeadily substitutable for any such descri
products and services.

(e) Restricted Territory. For the purposes of Section 7(A)(ii)(b), the Restd Territory shall be defined as and limited to:

6




(1) the geographic area(s) within a onedned mile radius of any and all Corporation lao#s) in, to, or for which the
Optionee worked, to which the Optionee was assigmdthd any responsibility (either direct or sujsowy) at the time of
termination of the Optionee’s employment and at g during the two-year period prior to such teration; and

(2) all of the specific customer accoumtiether within or outside of the geographic atescribed in (1) above, with
which the Optionee had any contact or for which@ptionee had any responsibility (either direcsapervisory) at the time of
termination of the Optionee’s employment and at@mg during the two-year period prior to such tevation.

(B)_Extensionf it shall be judicially determined that the Optie has violated any of the Optionee’s obligatiomder Section
7(A)(ii)(b), then the period applicable to eachigation that the Optionee shall have been detemniodave violated shall
automatically be extended by a period of time equéngth to the period during which such violaii®) occurred.

(B) NonSolicitation. Except as otherwise provided in Satif(A)(i), Detrimental Activity shall also includsirectly or indirectly at an
time soliciting or inducing or attempting to sotior induce any employee(s), sales representajj\agent(s) or consultant(s) of the
Corporation and/or of its parents, or its othersidilaries or affiliated or related companies tortieate their employment, representation or
other association with the Corporation and/or &sept or its other subsidiary or affiliated or tethcompanies.

(C)_Further Covenantexcept as otherwise provided in Section 7(A)(i)frideental Activity shall also include:

(ii) directly or indirectly, at any time dugror after the Optionee’s employment with the Coation, disclosing, furnishing,
disseminating, making available or, except in therse of performing the Optionee’s duties of emplent, using any trade secrets or
confidential business and technical informationhaf Corporation or its customers or vendors, indlgavithout limitation as to when or
how the Optionee may have acquired such informagoich confidential information shall include, vtit limitation, the Corporation’s
unique selling, manufacturing and servicing methauls business techniques, training, service anithé&ss manuals, promotional
materials, training courses and other trainingiasttuctional materials, vendor and product infatiorg customer and prospective
customer lists, other customer and prospectiveoousst information and other business informatiore Tptionee specifically
acknowledges that all such confidential informatiwhether reduced to writing, maintained on anyrfaf electronic media, or
maintained in the Optionee’s mind or memory andttwiecompiled by the Corporation, and/or the Om&rderives independent
economic value from not being readily known to scextainable by proper means by others who carnobtanomic value from its
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disclosure or use, that reasonable efforts have biele by the Corporation to maintain the secrésych information, that such
information is the sole property of the Corporatémd that any retention and use of such informdiipthe Optionee during the
Optionee’s employment with the Corporation (exdaghe course of performing the Optionee’s dutied abligations to the
Corporation) or after the termination of the Op#ets employment shall constitute a misappropriatibtne Corporation’s trade secrets.

(iif) Upon termination of the Optionee’s emytoent with the Corporation, for any reason, thei@yae’s failure to return to the
Corporation, in good condition, all property of tBerporation, including without limitation, the ginals and all copies of any materials
which contain, reflect, summarize, describe, aratyzrefer or relate to any items of informatiastdd in Section 4(C)(i) of this
Agreement.

(D)_Discoveries and Inventiorisxcept as otherwise provided in Section 7(A)(i)tribeental Activity shall also include the failure o
refusal of the Optionee to assign to the Corponaits successors, assigns or nominees, all ddfgtonee’s rights to any discoveries,
inventions and improvements, whether patentablegrmade, conceived or suggested, either solglyimtty with others, by the Optionee
while in the Corporation’s employ, whether in tfraicse of the Optionee’s employment with the usthefCorporation’s time, material or
facilities or that is in any way within or relatémthe existing or contemplated scope of the Cafpan’s business. Any discovery, inventior
improvement relating to any subject matter withehhthe Corporation was concerned during the Opéisnemployment and made, concei
or suggested by the Optionee, either solely otlyimith others, within one year following termiman of the Optionee’s employment under
this Agreement or any successor agreements shatiebattably presumed to have been so made, ceedt@r suggested in the course of s
employment with the use of the Corporation’s timaterials or facilities. Upon request by the Cogpioin with respect to any such
discoveries, inventions or improvements, the Oéwill execute and deliver to the Corporatiorgrat time during or after the Optionee’s
employment, all appropriate documents for use plyapg for, obtaining and maintaining such domeatia foreign patents as the Corpora
may desire, and all proper assignments therefoenveo requested, at the expense of the Corporatibnyithout further or additional
consideration.

(E) Work Made For Hiré&xcept as otherwise provided in Section 7(A)(i)tribeental Activity shall also include violation tiie
Corporation’s rights in any or all work papers,ogp, documentation, drawings, photographs, negatitapes and masters therefor,
prototypes and other materials (hereinafter, “it§macluding without limitation, any and all sudtems generated and maintained on any
form of electronic media, generated by Optioneénduthe Optionee’s employment with the Corporatibhe Optionee acknowledges that, to
the extent permitted by law, all such items shaltbnsidered a “work made for hire” and that owhigref any and all copyrights in any and
all such items shall belong to the Corporation. it& will recognize the Corporation as the coplgtigwner, will contain all proper
copyright notices, e.g., "(creation date) [CorparafName], All Rights Reservedadhd will be in condition to be registered or othisewplace!
in compliance with registration or other statutogguirements throughout the world.
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(F)_Termination for Causéxcept as otherwise provided in Section 7(A)(i)trideental Activity shall also include activity thegsults i
termination for Cause. For the purposes of thigiGec‘Cause” shall mean that, the Optionee shaeh

(iv) been convicted of a criminal violatiorvimiving fraud, embezzlement, theft or violationfedleral antitrust statutes or federal
securities laws in connection with his duties ottia course of his employment with the Corporatioany affiliate of the Corporation;

(v) committed intentional wrongful damage togperty of the Corporation or any affiliate of tBerporation; or

(vi) committed intentional wrongful disclosusésecret processes or confidential informatiothef Corporation or any affiliate of tl
Corporation;

and any such act shall have been demonstrably abetially harmful to the Corporation.

(G)_Other Injurious Condu@®etrimental Activity shall also include any othemduct or act determined to be injurious, detrirakat
prejudicial to any significant interest of the Coration or any subsidiary unless the Optionee actg@dod faith and in a manner he or she
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed td#st interests of the Corporation.

(H)_Reasonablene3$ie Optionee acknowledges that the Optiosedligations under this Section 4 are reasonabtlesi context of th
nature of the Corporation’s business and the cathmeinjuries likely to be sustained by the Corgibon if the Optionee were to violate such
obligations. The Optionee further acknowledges thiatAgreement is made in consideration of, arebisquately supported by the agreement
of the Corporation to perform its obligations unthés Agreement and by other consideration, whith@ptionee acknowledges constitutes
good, valuable and sufficient consideration.

8. Transferability

No SAR granted hereunder may be traredidoy the Grantee other than by will or the lawdedcent and distribution and may be
exercised during a Grantee’s lifetime only by thaii@ee or, in the event of the Grantee legal incitygeby the Grantee’s guardian or legal
representative acting in a fiduciary capacity ohdieof the Grantee under state law and court sigien.

9. Compliance with Law

The SARs granted hereby shall not beasaile if such exercise would involve a violatafrany applicable federal or state securities
law, and the Corporation hereby agrees to makenadde efforts to comply with any applicable steurities law. If the Ohio Securities /
shall be applicable to this option, it shall notex@rcisable unless under said Act at the timexefase the shares of Common Stock or other
securities purchasable hereunder are




exempt, are the subject matter of an exempt tréinsaare registered by description or by qualifima, or at such time are the subject matter
of a transaction which has been registered by geor.

10. Adjustments

In the event of any change in the aggeegamber of outstanding Common Shares by reasa) ainy stock dividend, stock split,
combination of shares, recapitalization or otheange in the capital structure of the Corporatior(pd any merger, consolidation, spin-off,
spin-out, split-off, split-up, reorganization, gattor complete liquidation of the Corporation dher distribution of assets, issuance of rights
or warrants to purchase securities of the Corpmmatr (c) any other corporate transaction or ehertng an effect similar to any of the
foregoing, then the Committee shall adjust the nemabd SARs covered by this Agreement and the Baise ih such manner as may be
appropriate to prevent the dilution or enlargenadrihe rights of the Grantee that would otherwissuit from such event.

11. Withholding Taxes

To the extent that the Corporation isuregf to withhold federal, state, local or foreigmes in connection with the exercise of the
SARs, and the amounts available to the Corpordtipeuch withholding are insufficient, it shall becondition to such exercise that the
Grantee make arrangements satisfactory to the @atipo for payment of the balance of such taxesired to be withheld. The Grantee may
elect that all or any part of such withholding regment be satisfied by retention by the Corporatiba portion of the Common Shares to be
delivered to the Grantee. If such election is méue shares so retained shall be credited againktwithholding requirement at the Market
Value per Share on the date of such exercise. kveaot shall the Market Value per Share of the Com®hares to be withheld and/or
delivered pursuant to this Section to satisfy ajgflie withholding taxes in connection with the Hegrexceed the minimum amount of taxes
required to be withheld.

12. Continuous Employment

For purposes of this Agreement, the cartus employment of the Grantee with the Corpanatioa Subsidiary shall not be deemed to
have been interrupted, and the Grantee shall ndebmed to have ceased to be an employee of tip@@tion or a Subsidiary, by reason of
the transfer of his employment among the Corponadiad its Subsidiaries or a leave of absence apgrby the Board.

13. No Employment Contract; Right to TermeénEmployment

The grant of the SARs under this Agreent@the Grantee is a voluntary, discretionary aN@ing made on a one-time basis and it
does not constitute a commitment to make any fuaurards. The grant of the SARs and any payment® meadtunder will not be considered
salary or other compensation for purposes of angra@ce pay or similar allowance, except as ottenequired by law. Nothing in this
Agreement will give the Grantee any right to conéremployment with the Corporation or any Subsydias the case may be, or interfere in
any way with the right of the Corporation or a Sdlzsy to terminate the employment of the Granteany time.
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14. Relation to Other Benefits

Any economic or other benefit to the Gesnunder this Agreement or the Plan shall notkert into account in determining any
benefits to which the Grantee may be entitled uaggrprofit-sharing, retirement or other beneficompensation plan maintained by the
Corporation or a Subsidiary and shall not affeetdimount of any life insurance coverage availabknty beneficiary under any life insurance
plan covering employees of the Corporation or as@lidry.

15. Information

Information about the Grantee and then@&®s participation in the Plan may be collected, rdedrand held, used and disclosed for
purpose related to the administration of the Pldne Grantee understands that such processingsofhfiormation may need to be carried out
by the Corporation and its Subsidiaries and bydtparty administrators whether such persons amgddowithin the Grantee’s country or
elsewhere, including the United States of Ameridae Grantee consents to the processing of infoomaélating to the Grantee and the
Grantee’s participation in the Plan in any one orerof the ways referred to above.

16. Amendments

Any amendment to the Plan shall be degimé@ an amendment to this agreement to the etitanthe amendment is applicable her
provided, however, that no amendment shall adversely affect thesighthe Grantee with respect to the SARs witlibatGrantees consen

17. _Severability

In the event that one or more of the jmiowns of this agreement shall be invalidated for Beason by a court of competent jurisdiction,
any provision so invalidated shall be deemed tedpmrable from the other provisions hereof, andeh®ining provisions hereof shall
continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

18. _Governing Law
This agreement is made under, and shatbinstrued in accordance with the internal sulis@ataws of the State of Ohio.
The undersigned hereby acknowledges receiph @xecuted original of this Appreciation Righgréement and accepts the Appreciation
Rights granted thereunder on the terms and condiset forth herein and in the Plan.

Date:

[GRANTEE NAME]
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Executed in the name and on behalf oftbmoration at Cleveland, Ohio as of the 27th afalyebruary 2009.
BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC.

By:
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Exhibit 10bb

AMENDMENT NO. 4
TO
BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC.
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN FOR NONEMPLOYEE DIRECTOR S
(AS AMENDED AS OF MAY 16, 2000)

Recitals

WHEREAS, Brush Engineered Materials Inc. (f@empany”) has adopted the Brush Engineered Mdseki@. Deferred Compensation
Plan for Nonemployee Directors (As Amended as oy &, 2000) and as further amended by AmendmentiNamendment No. 2 and
Amendment No. 3 (the “Plan).

WHEREAS, the Company now desires to amend thefatdmer (“Amendment No. 47); and
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company &jagroved this Amendment No. 4.

Amendment
NOW, THEREFORE, the Plan is hereby amendethisyAmendment No. 4, effective as of April 1, 2088 follows:
1. Section 4.3(b) of the Plan is amended &d 1&s follows:

“(b) A Director who is 55 years of age or older mhgrge his or her election with respect to amourgsipusly credited to his or r
Deferred Compensation Account, except that effectipril 1, 2009, a director may no longer electlhange his or her election into or
out of Common Shares.”

2. Except as amended by this Amendment NihedPlan shall remain in full force and effect.



Exhibit 10bf

FIRST AMENDMENT
TO
BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE DEFERRED COMPENSATIO N PLAN I

The Brush Engineered Materials lsmended and Restated Executive Deferred Compend@lfan Il (the “Plan”), adopted on
July 29, 2008, is hereby amended in the followiegpects effective January 1, 2008.

1. Section 2.2 of the Plan is amended and reststdallows:

2.2 Annual Excess Compensatimeans for a Plan Year a Participant’s Base Satargdrvices performed during the Plan Year,
performance compensation payable in the Plan Yedenthe Brush Engineered Materials Inc. and Sidrsés Management
Performance Compensation Plan, and incentive cosaiem payable in cash, cash equivalents, equidyeguity-based amounts in the
Plan Year under the Brush Engineered Materialsdnd. Subsidiaries Long-Term Incentive Plan, whetiarot such compensation is
reportable on Form W-2 for the Plan Year, but dolthe extent that such compensation exceedsrttieithposed on compensation
taken into account under the Brush Engineered Néd¢dnc. Savings and Investment Plan by reasd@oofe Section 401(a)(17) as
determined by the Plan Administrator.

WITNESS WHEREOF, Brush Engineekéaterials Inc. has caused this Amendment to bewtgddy its duly authorized officer
this 2nd day of February, 2009.

BRUSH ENGINEERED MATERIALS INC

By: /s/ Michael C. Hasycha
Name Michael C. Hasycha
Title: Vice President, Treasurer and Secre



Subsidiaries of Registrant

EXHIBIT 21

The Company has the following subsidiarielspfalvhich are wholly owned and included in the solidated financial statements.

Name of Subsidiary

BEM Services, Inc

Brush Wellman Inc

Brush Ceramic Products Ir

Brush International, Inc

Brush Resources In

Brush Wellman Gmbt

Brush Wellman (Japan), Lt

Brush Wellman Limitec

Brush Wellman (Singapore) Pte L
CERAC, incorporate

OMC Scientific Holdings Limitec

OMC Scientific Czech s.r.(

Technical Materials, Inc

Techn-Met, Inc.

Thin Film Technology, Inc

Williams Acquisition, LLC

Williams Advanced Materials Int
Williams Advanced Materials Far East Pte L
Williams Advanced Materials (Netherlands) B
Williams Advanced Materials Japan It
Williams Advanced Materials (Suzhou) Li

Williams Advanced Materials Technologies Taiwan Ciol.

Zentrix Technologies Inc

State or Country
of Incorporation

Ohio

Ohio
Arizona
Ohio

Utah
Germany
Japar
England
Singapore
Wisconsin
Ireland
Czech Republi
Ohio
Connecticu
California
New York
New York
Singapore
Netherland:
Japar
China
Taiwan
Arizona



EXHIBIT 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by referencthé following Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement Number :-88994 on Form -8 dated May 24, 200:
(2) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetiNumber 33-74296 on Form -8 dated November 30, 20C
(3) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 5 to Registration StaetNumber -64080 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200!
(4) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaethiNumber 33-63355 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(5) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetiNumber 3-28605 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(6) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetiNumber 33-63353 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(7) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetiNumber 33-63357 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(8) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaethiNumber 33-52141 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200(
(9) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 1 to Registration StaetNumber -90724 on Form -8 dated May 17, 200!
(10) Registration Statement Number -63353 on Form -8 dated September 14, 19¢
(11) Registration Statement Number -63355 on Form -8 dated September 14, 19!
(12) Registration Statement Number -63357 on Form -8 dated September 14, 19!
(13) Registration Statement Number -52141 on Form -8 dated May 5, 199¢
(14) Registration Statement Number-28605 on Form -8 dated May 5, 198¢
(15) Registration Statement Numbe-90724 on Form -8 dated April 27, 198¢
(16) Pos-Effective Amendment Number 3 to Registration StatetiNumber -64080 on Form -8 dated April 22, 198:
(17) Registration Statement Number :-114147 on Form -3 dated July 1, 200«
(18) Registration Statement Number -127130 on Form -8 dated August 3, 200
(19) Registration Statement Number -133428 on Form -8 dated April 20, 200¢€
(20) Registration Statement Number -133429 on Form -8 dated April 20, 2006; ar
(21) Registration Statement Number -145149 on Form -8 dated August 6, 20(

of our report dated February 25, 2009, with respetite consolidated financial statements of Bifasgineered Materials Inc. and subsidia
and our report dated February 25, 2009, with radpehe effectiveness of internal control ovesficial reporting of Brush Engineered
Materials Inc. and subsidiaries, both includedhis Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Brush Engineeredtéfials Inc. and subsidiaries for the
year ended December 31, 20

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
February 25, 2009



EXHIBIT 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each bé&tundersigned directors and officers of BRUSH ENEERED MATERIALS
INC., an Ohio corporation (the “Corporation”), hieyeconstitutes and appoints Richard J. Hipple, IdhGrampa, Michael C. Hasychak and
Michael J. Solecki, and each of them, their trug lamvful attorney or attorneys-in-fact, with fulbwer of substitution and revocation, for
them and in their names, place and stead, to sigheir behalf as a director or officer, or both tlhe case may be, of the Corporation, an
Annual Report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) ef$lecurities Exchange Act of 1934 on Form 10-Kilerfiscal year ended December 31,
2008, and to sign any and all amendments to suclué&lrReport, and to file the same, with all exlsiltitereto, and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and ExggaCommission granting unto said attorney or aégs-in-fact, and each of them, full
power and authority to do and perform each andyeetrand thing requisite and necessary to be ttoaed about the premises, as fully to all
intents and purposes as they might or could deisgn, hereby ratifying and confirming all thatdsaitorney or attorneys-in-fact or any of
them or their substitute or substitutes, may lalyfdb or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hetieget their hands as of the 27rd day of Febr2a§9.

/s/ Richard J. Hipple /s/ William P. Madar

Richard J. Hipple, Chairman, Preside William P. Madar, Directo
Chief Executive Officer and Directi
(Principal Executive Officer

/s/ John D. Gramp /s! William G. Pryot

John D. Grampa, Senior Vice Presid William G. Pryor, Directol
Finance and Chief Financial Offic

(Principal Financial Officer

/sl Albert C. Bersticke

Albert C. Bersticker, Directc

/sl Joseph P. Keithle

Joseph P. Keithley, Direct

/s/ Vinod M. Khilnani

Vinod M. Khilnani, Director

/s/ William B. Lawrence

William B. Lawrence, Directo

/s/ N. Mohan Redd

N. Mohan Reddy, Directc

/s/ William R. Robertsol

William R. Robertson, Directc

/s/ John Sherwin, J

John Sherwin, Jr, Directt

/sl Craig S. Shule

Craig S. Shular, Directc



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Richard J. Hipple, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on F&O¥K of Brush Engineered Materials Inc. (the “réxgiat”);

2) Based on my knowledge, this report doescontain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statets, and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and piwres, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over finahoeéporting, or caused such internal control diremcial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeatepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change inrggistrant’s internal control over financial repiogt that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intex
control over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officardal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiatuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materia@¢aknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatatves management or other employees who havendisaqt role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Richard J. Hipple

Richard J. Hipple

Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: February 27, 2009



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, John D. Grampa, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on F&O¥K of Brush Engineered Materials Inc. (the “réxgiat”);

2) Based on my knowledge, this report doescontain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statets, and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and piwres, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over finahoeéporting, or caused such internal control diremcial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeatepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change inrggistrant’s internal control over financial repiogt that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intex
control over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officardal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiatuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materiadaknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatatves management or other employees who havendisaqt role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl John D. Grampa

John D. Grampa

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: February 27, 2009



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adgpiesiiant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002, in connection with the filing of
the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Brush Enginedviaderials Inc. (the “Company’fpr the year ended December 31, 2008, as filed th
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he
“Report”), each of the undersigned officers of @@mpany certifies, that, to such officer’'s knowledg

1. The Report fully complies with the requirems of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiestaxge Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780
(d)), and

2. The information contained in the Reportlfgpresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exgaéasghe Report.

/sl Richard J. Hipple

Richard J. Hipple

Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

/sl John D. Grampa

John D. Grampa

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: February 27, 20(



